Interaction of Detergents and Disinfectants upon Surface Adhered Populations of *Escherichia coli* and *Listeria monocytogenes*

Richard Charles Hayes M.Sc.

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements of the University of Wolverhampton for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

This research programme was carried out in collaboration with CCFRA

June 2008

This work or any part thereof has not previously been presented in any form to the University or to any other body whether for the purposes of assessment, publication or for any other purpose (unless otherwise indicated). Save for any express acknowledgments, references and/or bibliographies cited in the work, I confirm that the intellectual content of the work is the result of my own efforts and of no other person.

The right of Richard Charles Hayes to be identified as author of this work is asserted in accordance with ss.77 and 78 of the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988. At this date copyright is owned by the author.

Signature.....

Acknowledgements

I have received a great deal of support and help from a great many people; I feel I ought to mention the following few:

To Hazel, Dave and Roy for offering me the opportunity to study for a Ph.D. in an exciting field with lots of new experiences. As well as for all of the help and support they have given me over the past few years.

The microbiology staff at The University of Wolverhampton, especially Malcolm Inman for the vast amount of help and support he provided for the microscopy work.

To John Holah and Karen Hall from Campden and Chorleywood Food Research Association for their support and assistance with the O157 research.

And last but by no means least, my family and friends who have at all times been supportive and understanding, especially my wonderful wife, Charlotte.

THANK YOU

Abstract

The primary aim of this investigation was to identify and assess the interactions (synergies and antagonisms) that exist between 20 minute detergent and 5 minute disinfectant treatments upon three factory isolated strains of surface adhered (1-hour attached) and surface adapted (24-hour biofilm) populations of *Escherichia coli* and *Listeria monocytogenes*, plus a comparison with vero-toxin producing strains of *E. coli*, when used as part of a cleaning and disinfection regime. The detergents chosen for assessment were two non-ionic (91/4 - Alcohol Ethoxylate and KCL5 - Polyethoxylated Alcohol), two anionic (LX28 - Sodium Lauryl Sulphate and Nec28 - Sodium Laurylether Sulphate) and two novel bismuth thiols (BisEDT - 1:1 Bismuth nitrate 1,2-ethanedithiol and BisTOL - 2:1 Bismuth nitrate 3,4-dimercaptotoluene), developed at Winthrop University Hospital, New York. The disinfectants chosen for assessment were a quaternary ammonium compound (BAC - Benzyl alkonium Chloride) and a chlorine releasing agent (NaDCC - Sodium Dichloroisocyanurate).

The investigation showed that there were no specific cleaning and disinfection regimes that will adequately target both *E. coli* and *L. monocytogenes* strains. It was also concluded that to maximise the removal and disinfection of persistent strains of a given microorganism, it may be necessary to design a regime to specifically target not just the species, but the strain involved and where possible requires mechanical cleaning. The novel bismuth thiols were seen to be promising detergents to aid in the removal of *E. coli* strains and warrant further attention for future studies. Finally, an investigation to identify possible mechanisms of resistance to disinfectant treatments following detergent treatment, showed that different detergents can induce expression of the stress response proteins, HSP60 and HSP70, at differing levels of expression after the same contact time and against different states of adherent populations, i.e. 1-hour attached or 24-hour biofilm populations.

i

Contents

Title page	
Acknowledgements	
Abstract	i
Contents	ii
List of figures	viii
List of plates	xiv
List of tables	XV
Abbreviations	xvi
1.0 Introduction	1
1.1 Food Production and Legislation	1
1.2 Microbial Contamination Risks within the Food Industry	2
1.2.1 Possible Routes of Contamination	
1.2.2 Contact Surfaces and Persistent Biofilms	3
1.2.3 Escherichia coli and Entero-Haemorrhagic Strains	8
1.2.4 Listeria monocytogenes	11
1.3 Minimising the Microbial Contamination of Food Production Lines	13
1.3.1 Detergents used by the Food Industry	14
1.3.2 Bismuth Thiol Detergents	16
1.3.3 Disinfectants in the Food Industry	17
1.4 Assessment of Cleaning and Disinfection	20
1.5 Aims and Objectives	22
1.5.1 Aims	22
1.5.2 Objectives	
2.0 Materials and Methods	

2.1 Strains	23
2.2 Growth Media, Stocks and Solutions	24
2.3 Detergents and Disinfectants	25
3.2.1 Detergents	25
3.2.2 Disinfectants	27
2.4 Detergent Activity on Suspended Cells	27
2.5 Attachment of Bacterial Cells to Stainless Steel Coupons	28
2.6 Biofilm Formation of Bacterial Cells on Stainless Steel Coupons	29
2.7 Detergent and Disinfectant Treatments on Attached and Biofilm Populations	30
2.8 Staining of Adherent Populations	31
2.8.1 Acridine Orange	31
2.8.2 Calcofluor White	32
2.9 Direct Microscopic Analysis	33
2.9.1 Microscope Settings for Stained Coupons	33
2.9.2 1 Hour Attached Populations	35
2.9.3 24 Hour Biofilm Populations	35
2.10 Detergent Induced Expression of Stress Response Proteins;	36
HSP60 and HSP70.	
2.11 Statistical Analysis	37
3.0 Preliminary Experimentation	39
3.1 Introduction	39
3.2 Bismuth thiol Detergents	39
3.2.1 Short Contact Time Effects of Bismuth Thiols	39
3.2.2 Minimum Inhibitory Concentrations of Bismuth Thiols	41
3.2.3 Inducible Tolerance Against Bismuth Thiols	42

3.3 Non-ionic and Anionic Detergents	44
3.3.1 Short Contact Time Effects of Detergents on L. monocytogenes Strains	44
3.3.2 24 and 48 Hour Contact Time Effects of Detergents on	45
L. monocytogenes Strains	
3.4 Bioluminescence as a Measure of Stress upon Populations of Cells	47
3.5 Attachment and Biofilm Formation	48
3.6 Discussion	50
4.0 Effects of Treatments on Listeria monocytogenes	55
4.1 Introduction	55
4.2 Effect of Detergents on the Viability of Suspensions of L. monocytogenes	56
4.3 One Hour Attached Populations – Total Viable Counts	57
4.3.1 Effect of Detergent Only Treatments	57
4.3.2 Effect of Disinfectant Only Treatments	58
4.3.3 Effect of Detergent Followed by Disinfectant Treatments	59
4.3.4 Summary of Treatments for One Hour Attached Populations	63
4.4 One Hour Attached Populations – Direct Microscopic Counts	65
4.4.1 Effect of Detergent Only Treatments	67
4.4.2 Effect of Disinfectant Only Treatments	68
4.4.3 Effect of Detergent Followed by Disinfectant Treatments	68
4.4.4 Summary of Treatments for One Hour Attached Populations	71
4.5 24 Hour Biofilm Populations – Total Viable Counts	73
4.5.1 Effect of Detergent Only Treatments	73
4.5.2 Effect of Disinfectant Only Treatments	74
4.5.3 Effect of Detergent Followed by Disinfectant Treatments	75
4.5.4 Summary of Treatments for 24 Hour Biofilm Populations	79

4.6 24 Hour Biofilm – Direct EPS Quantification	81
4.6.1 Strain 166 - EPS Intensity after Treatments	84
4.6.2 Strain 359 - EPS Intensity after Treatments	85
4.6.3 Strain 367 - EPS Intensity after Treatments	87
4.7 Comparison of Total Viable Counts for Biofilms against Attached	88
Populations	
4.7.1 Effectiveness of Detergent Only Treatments	88
4.7.2 Effectiveness of Disinfectant Only Treatments	90
4.7.3 Effectiveness of Detergent Followed by Disinfectant Treatments	90
4.8 Discussion	93
5.0 Effects of Treatments on Escherichia coli	101
5.1 Introduction	101
5.2 Effect of Detergents on the Viability of Suspensions of E. coli	102
5.3 One Hour Attached Populations – Total Viable Counts	103
5.3.1 Effect of Detergent Only Treatments	103
5.3.2 Effect of Disinfectant Only Treatments	104
5.3.3 Effect of Detergent Followed by Disinfectant Treatments	105
5.3.4 Summary of Treatments for One Hour Attached Populations	109
5.4 One Hour Attached Populations – Direct Microscopic Counts	111
5.4.1 Effect of Detergent Only Treatments	113
5.4.2 Effect of Disinfectant Only Treatments	113
5.4.3 Effect of Detergent Followed by Disinfectant Treatments	114
5.4.4 Summary of Treatments for One Hour Attached Populations	116
5.5 24 Hour Biofilm Populations – Total Viable Counts	118
5.5.1 Effect of Detergent Only Treatments	118

5.5.2 Effect of Disinfectant Only Treatments	119	
5.5.3 Effect of Detergent Followed by Disinfectant Treatments	120	
5.5.4 Summary of Treatments for 24 Hour Biofilm Populations		
5.6 24 Hour Biofilm – Direct EPS Quantification		
5.6.1 Strain 400 - EPS Intensity after Treatments		
5.6.2 Strain 453 - EPS Intensity after Treatments	128	
5.6.3 Strain 467 - EPS Intensity after Treatments	130	
5.7 Comparison of Total Viable Counts for Biofilms against Attached	132	
Populations		
5.7.1 Effectiveness of Detergent Only Treatments	132	
5.7.2 Effectiveness of Disinfectant Only Treatments		
5.7.3 Effectiveness of Detergent Followed by Disinfectant Treatments		
5.8 Attachment and adhesive strength of O157 and other E. coli strains		
5.9 E. coli O157:H7 pSB311, 1 hour attached and 24 hour biofilm populations		
5.9.1 Effect of Detergent Only Treatments	140	
5.9.2 Effect of Disinfectant Only Treatments		
5.9.3 Effect of Detergent Followed by Disinfectant Treatments		
5.10 Detergent Induced Expression of Stress Response Proteins; HSP60 and	147	
HSP70		
5.11 Discussion	150	
5.11.1 Factory Isolates of E. coli	150	
5.11.2 E. coli O157 Strains	154	
5.11.3 Induction of HSP60 and HSP70 by Detergents	156	
6.0 General Discussion	159	
6.1 Bismuth thiols	159	

6.2 Non-ionic	160
6.3 Anionic	162
6.4 Conclusions	165
6.5 Further Work	166
References	169

<u>List of Figures</u>

3.1: Short contact time biocidal effect of bismuth thiol detergents over 5 and 20 minutes at concentrations of 10µg ml ⁻¹ and 20µg ml ⁻¹	44
3.2: Minimum inhibitory concentrations of bismuth thiol detergents measured over 24 and 48 hours after treatment after an inoculation with $100\mu l$ of overnight culture.	41
3.3: Increased tolerance to bismuth thiol detergents for <i>E. coli</i> strain 453 for BisTOL and strain 467 for BisEDT after 7 passages from the previously highest turbid concentration of bismuth thiol	43
3.4: Short contact time biocidal effect of non-ionic and anionic detergents over 5 and 20 minutes contact time at concentrations of 0.1% v/v and 0.2% v/v respectively	44
3.5: RLU against sampling time after pipetting of 1ml into a Biotrace cuvette of an approximated concentration of suspended <i>E. coli</i> O157:H7 pSB311 to demonstrate the changes in RLU as a measure of population size due to variations in RLU measurements for the same population density over time.	47
4.1: Mean loss of viability after 5 and 20 minute contact times with detergent treatments for approximately $1 \times 10^7 L$. <i>monocytogenes</i> suspended in WoSH at 20°C, shown as log TVC difference to a negative, water only control.	57
4.2: Mean loss of viability after 20 minute contact time with detergent treatments in WoSH for attached <i>L. monocytogenes</i> at 20°C, shown as log TVC difference to a negative, water only control.	58
4.3: Mean loss of viability after 5 minute contact time with disinfectant treatments in WoSH for attached <i>L. monocytogenes</i> at 20°C, shown as log TVC difference to a negative, water only control.	59
4.4: Mean loss of viability after 20 minute detergent treatment followed by 5 minute BAC treatment in WoSH for attached <i>L. monocytogenes</i> at 20°C, shown as expected (fig. $4.2 + \text{fig. 4.3}$) and observed log TVC difference to a negative, water only control.	61
4.5: Mean loss of viability after 20 minute detergent treatment followed by 5 minute NaDCC treatment in WoSH for attached <i>L. monocytogenes</i> at 20°C, shown as expected (fig. $4.2 + \text{fig. 4.3}$) and observed log TVC difference to negative, water only control.	63
4.6: Summary of the effectiveness on attached <i>L. monocytogenes</i> of the combined detergent/disinfectant treatments compiled by comparing the difference in viability to the sum of the single detergent and disinfectant treatments, shown as difference in log TVC.	64

4.7: Mean total count after 20 minute contact time with detergent treatments in 67 WoSH for attached *L. monocytogenes* at 20°C, shown as log total count difference to a negative, water only control.

4.8: Mean total count after 5 minute contact time with disinfectant in WoSH treatments for attached *L. monocytogenes* at 20°C, shown as log total count difference to a negative, water only control.

4.9: Mean total count after 20 minute detergent treatment followed by 5 minute 70 BAC treatment in WoSH for attached *L. monocytogenes* at 20°C, shown as expected (fig. 4.7 + fig. 4.8) and observed log total count difference to a negative, water only control.

4.10: Mean total count after 20 minute detergent treatment followed by 5 71 minute NaDCC treatment in WoSH for attached *L. monocytogenes* at 20°C, shown as expected (fig. 4.7 + fig. 4.8) and observed log total count difference to a negative, water only control.

4.11: Summary of the effectiveness on attached *L. monocytogenes* of the combined detergent/disinfectant treatments compiled by comparing the difference in viability to the sum of the single detergent and disinfectant treatments, shown as difference in log total count.

4.12: Mean loss of viability after 20 minute contact time with detergent 74 treatments in WoSH for biofilm *L. monocytogenes* at 20°C, shown as log TVC difference to a negative, water only control.

4.13: Mean loss of viability after 5 minute contact time with disinfectant 75 treatments in WoSH for biofilm *L. monocytogenes* at 20°C, shown as log TVC difference to a negative, water only control.

4.14: Mean loss of viability after 20 minute detergent treatment followed by 5 minute BAC treatment in WoSH for biofilm *L. monocytogenes* at 20°C, shown as expected (fig. 4.12 + fig. 4.13) and observed log TVC difference to a negative, water only control.

4.15: Mean loss of viability after 20 minute detergent treatment followed by 5 79 minute NaDCC treatment in WoSH for biofilm *L. monocytogenes* at 20°C, shown as expected (fig. 4.12 + fig. 4.13) and observed log TVC difference to negative, water only control.

4.16: Summary of the effectiveness on biofilm *L. monocytogenes* of the combined detergent/disinfectant treatments compiled by comparing the difference in viability to the sum of the single detergent and disinfectant treatments, shown as difference in log TVC.

4.17: Effect on the density of extra cellular polysaccharide for biofilm 85 L. monocytogenes strain 166, for all detergent and disinfectant regimes in WoSH at 20°C, measured as image intensity. The control baseline is an untreated 24 hour biofilm population with no treatments other than gentle washing to remove suspended cells, presented as the lower 5% confidence limits. 4.18: Effect on the density of extra cellular polysaccharide for biofilm 86 L. monocytogenes strain 359, for all detergent and disinfectant regimes in WoSH at 20°C, measured as image intensity. The control baseline is an untreated 24 hour biofilm population with no treatments other than gentle washing to remove suspended cells, presented as the lower 5% confidence limits. 4.19: Effect on the density of extra cellular polysaccharide for biofilm 89 L. monocytogenes strain 367, for all detergent and disinfectant regimes in WoSH at 20°C, measured as image intensity. The control baseline is an untreated 24 hour biofilm population with no treatments other than gentle washing to remove suspended cells, presented as the lower 5% confidence limits. 89 4.20: Difference in the effectiveness of detergent treatments against biofilms compared to attached L. monocytogenes, shown as difference in log reductions of TVC. 4.21: Difference in the effectiveness of disinfectant treatments against biofilms 90 compared to attached L. monocytogenes, shown as difference in log reduction of TVC. 4.22: Synergistic/antagonistic effects of combined detergent/disinfectant 92 treatments for biofilm compared to attached L. monocytogenes, shown as difference in log TVC synergy also showing the change in synergistic / antagonistic effects of attached compared to biofilm populations. Blue bars show the increase in synergy for biofilms compared to attached while red bars show a decrease, for example strain 166, BisEDT, NaDCC attached synergy of zero increases to biofilm synergy of almost 1.5 log. 5.1: Mean loss of viability after 5 and 20 minute contact times with detergent 103 treatments for approximately $1 \times 10^7 E$. *coli* suspended in WoSH at 20°C, shown as log TVC difference to a negative, water only control. 5.2: loss of viability after 20 minute contact time with detergent treatments in 104 WoSH for attached E. coli at 20°C, shown as log TVC difference to a negative, water only control. 5.3: Mean loss of viability after 5 minute contact time with disinfectant 105 treatments in WoSH for attached E. coli at 20°C, shown as log TVC difference to a negative, water only control. 5.4: Mean change in viability after 20 minute detergent treatment followed by 107 5 minute BAC treatment in WoSH for attached E. coli at 20°C, shown as expected (fig. 5.2 + fig. 5.3) and observed log TVC difference to a negative, water only control.

Х

5.5: Mean change in viability after 20 minute detergent treatment followed by 5 minute NaDCC treatment in WoSH for attached *E. coli* at 20°C, shown as expected (fig. 5.2 +fig. 5.3) and observed log TVC difference to negative, water only control.

5.6: Summary of the effectiveness on attached *E. coli* of the combined detergent 110 / disinfectant treatments compiled by comparing the difference in viability to the sum of the single detergent and disinfectant treatments, shown as difference in log TVC.

5.7: Mean total count after 20 minute contact time with detergent treatments in 113 WoSH for attached *E. coli* at 20°C, shown as log total count difference to a negative, water only control.

5.8: Mean total count after 5 minute contact time with disinfectant treatments in 114 WoSH for attached *E. coli* at 20°C, shown as log total count difference to a negative, water only control.

5.9: Mean total count after 20 minute detergent treatment followed by 5 minute 115 BAC treatment in WoSH for attached *E. coli* at 20°C, shown as expected (fig. 5.7 + fig. 5.8) and observed log total count difference to a negative, water only control.

5.10: Mean total count after 20 minute detergent treatment followed by 5 minute 116 NaDCC treatment in WoSH for attached *E. coli* at 20°C, shown as expected (fig. 5.7 + fig. 5.8) and observed log total count difference to a negative, water only control.

5.11: Summary of the effectiveness on attached *E. coli* of the combined detergent 117 / disinfectant treatments compiled by comparing the difference in viability to the sum of the single detergent and disinfectant treatments, shown as difference in log total count.

5.12: Mean loss of viability after 20 minute contact time with detergent 118 treatments in WoSH for biofilm *E. coli* at 20°C, shown as log TVC difference to a negative, water only control.

5.13: Mean loss of viability after 5 minute contact time with disinfectant 120 treatments in WoSH for biofilm *E. coli* at 20°C, shown as log TVC difference to a negative, water only control.

5.14: Mean loss of viability after 20 minute detergent treatment followed by 5 122 minute BAC treatment in WoSH for biofilm *E. coli* at 20°C, shown as expected (fig. 5.12 + fig. 5.13) and observed log TVC difference to a negative, water only control.

5.15: Mean loss of viability after 20 minute detergent treatment followed by 5 123 minute NaDCC treatment in WoSH for biofilm *E. coli* at 20°C, shown as expected (fig. 5.12 +fig. 5.13) and observed log TVC difference to negative, water only control.

5.16: Summary of the effectiveness on biofilm *E. coli* of the combined detergent 125 / disinfectant treatments compiled by comparing the difference in viability to the sum of the single detergent and disinfectant treatments, shown as difference in log TVC.

5.17: Effect on the density of extra cellular polysaccharide for biofilm *E. coli*128 strain 400, for all detergent and disinfectant regimes in WoSH at 20°C, measured as image intensity. The control baseline is an untreated 24 hour biofilm population with no treatments other than gentle washing to remove suspended cells, presented as the lower 5% confidence limits.

5.18: Effect on the density of extra cellular polysaccharide for biofilm *E. coli*130 strain 453, for all detergent and disinfectant regimes in WoSH at 20°C, measured as image intensity. The control baseline is an untreated 24 hour biofilm population with no treatments other than gentle washing to remove suspended cells, presented as the lower 5% confidence limits.

5.19: Effect on the density of extra cellular polysaccharide for biofilm *E. coli*132 strain 467, for all detergent and disinfectant regimes in WoSH at 20°C, measured as image intensity. A The control baseline is an untreated 24 hour biofilm population with no treatments other than gentle washing to remove suspended cells, presented as the lower 5% confidence limits.

- 5.20: Difference in the effectiveness of detergent treatments against biofilms 133 compared to attached *E. coli*, shown as difference in log reductions of TVC.
- 5.21: Difference in the effectiveness of disinfectant treatments against biofilms 134 compared to attached *E. coli*, shown as difference in log reduction of TVC.

5.22: Synergistic/antagonistic effects of combined detergent/disinfectant 136 treatments for biofilm compared to attached *E. coli*, shown as difference in log TVC synergy also showing the change in synergistic/antagonistic effects of attached compared to biofilm populations. Blue bars show the increase in synergy for biofilms compared to attached while red bars show a decrease, for example strain 400, BisEDT, NaDCC attached antagonism of -1.4 log increases to biofilm synergy of almost 0.7 log.

5.23: Total viable counts for 1 hour attached populations of six strains of O157, 139 five reference strains of *E. coli* and three factory isolated strains of *E. coli* before and after 20 minutes negative control 'detergent' treatment using a WoSH control followed by 5 minutes negative control 'disinfectant' using a WoSH control treatment.

5.24: Mean loss of viability after 20 minute contact time with detergent 141 treatments in WoSH for attached and biofilm *E. coli* O157 pSB311 at 20°C, shown as log TVC difference to a negative, water only control.

5.25: Mean loss of viability after 5 minute contact time with disinfectant 142 treatments in WoSH for attached and biofilm *E. coli* O157 pSB311 at 20°C, shown as log TVC difference to a negative, water only control.

5.26: Mean loss of viability after 20 minute detergent treatment followed by 5 144 minute BAC treatment in WoSH for attached and biofilm *E. coli* O157 pSB311 at 20°C, shown as expected (fig. 5.24 + fig. 5.25) and observed log TVC difference to a negative, water only control.

5.27: Mean loss of viability after 20 minute detergent treatment followed by 5 146 minute NaDCC treatment for attached and biofilm *E. coli* O157 pSB311, shown as expected (fig. 5.24 + fig. 5.25) and observed log TVC difference to a negative, water only control.

List of Plates

3.1: 3D topographical epifluorescent rendered image of a 1-hour attached population of <i>E. coli</i> strain 453 at x 1000 magnification, stained with acridine orange and calcofluor white on stainless steel to differentiate between cells (orange) and EPS (blue) respectively.	49
3.2: 3D topographical epifluorescent rendered image of a 24-hour biofilm population of <i>E. coli</i> strain 453 at x 1000 magnification, stained with acridine orange and calcofluor white on stainless steel to differentiate between cells (orange) and EPS (blue) respectively.	49
4.1: Typical 1 hour attachment in TSB for <i>L. monocytogenes</i> strains at 20°C on type 316 with 2B finish stainless steel coupons, stained with acridine orange at x 1000 magnification.	66
4.2: Typical 24 hour biofilm in 10% TSB for <i>L. monocytogenes</i> strains at 20°C on type 316 with 2B finish stainless steel coupons stained with calcofluor white at x 1000 magnification.	83
5.1: Typical 1 hour attachment in TSB for <i>E. coli</i> strains at 20°C on type 316 with 2B finish stainless steel coupons, stained with acridine orange at x 1000 magnification.	112
5.2: Typical 24 hour biofilm in 10% TSB for <i>E. coli</i> strains at 20°C on type 316 with 2B finish stainless steel coupons stained with calcofluor white at x 1000 magnification.	127
5.3: The effects of 20 minute detergent contact at 20°C and population state (suspended, attached and biofilm) on the expression of the stress response protein HSP60. HSP60 expression is shown as a percentage of the positive control.	148
5.4: The effects of 20 minute detergent contact at 20°C and population state (suspended, attached and biofilm) on the expression of the stress response protein HSP70. HSP70 expression is shown as a percentage of the positive	149

control.

List of tables

2.1: E. coli and L. monocytogenes strain information.	23
3.1: Long term effects against <i>L. monocytogenes</i> strains 166, 359 and 367of the non-ionic detergents 91/4 and KCL5 and the anionic detergents LX28 and Nec28 at in use, and 10 x in use concentrations in TSB, after 24 and 48 hours.	46
4.1: Synergies and antagonisms after 20 minute detergent treatment followed by 5 minute BAC treatment in WoSH for attached <i>L. monocytogenes</i> at 20°C.	61

Differences to the expected additive results are presented as log TVC with significant synergies (P <0.05), (P <0.01) and antagonisms (P <0.05), (P <0.01). 4.2: Synergies and antagonisms after 20 minute detergent treatment followed by 63 5 minute NaDCC treatment in WoSH for attached *L. monocytogenes* at 20°C

5 minute NaDCC treatment in WoSH for attached *L. monocytogenes* at 20°C. Differences to the expected additive results are presented as log TVC with significant synergies (P <0.05), (P <0.01) and antagonisms (P <0.05), (P <0.01).

4.3: Synergies and antagonisms after 20 minute detergent treatment followed by 77 5 minute BAC treatment in WoSH for biofilm *L. monocytogenes* at 20°C. Differences to the expected additive results are presented as log TVC with significant synergies (P < 0.05), (P < 0.01) and antagonisms (P < 0.05), (P < 0.01).

4.4: Synergies and antagonisms after 20 minute detergent treatment followed by 79 5 minute NaDCC treatment in WoSH for biofilm *L. monocytogenes* at 20°C. Differences to the expected additive results are presented as log TVC with significant synergies (P < 0.05), (P < 0.01) and antagonisms (P < 0.05), (P < 0.01).

5.1: Synergies and antagonisms after 20 minute detergent treatment followed by 107 5 minute BAC treatment in WoSH for attached *E. coli* at 20°C. Differences to the expected additive results are presented as log TVC with significant synergies (P < 0.05), (P < 0.01) and antagonisms (P < 0.05), (P < 0.01).

5.2: Synergies and antagonisms after 20 minute detergent treatment followed by 109 5 minute NaDCC treatment in WoSH for attached *E. coli* at 20°C. Differences to the expected additive results are presented as log TVC with significant synergies (P < 0.05), (P < 0.01) and antagonisms (P < 0.05), (P < 0.01).

5.3: Synergies and antagonisms after 20 minute detergent treatment followed by 122 5 minute BAC treatment in WoSH for biofilm *E. coli* at 20°C. Differences to the expected additive results are presented as log TVC with significant synergies (P < 0.05), (P < 0.01) and antagonisms (P < 0.05), (P < 0.01).

5.4: Synergies and antagonisms after 20 minute detergent treatment followed by 124 5 minute NaDCC treatment in WoSH for biofilm *E. coli* at 20°C. Differences to the expected additive results are presented as log TVC with significant synergies (P < 0.05), (P < 0.01) and antagonisms (P < 0.05), (P < 0.01).

Abbreviations

The following non-standard abbreviations have been used:

91/4	Alcohol Ethoxylate
BAC	Benzalkonium Chloride
BisEDT	1:1 Bismuth nitrate 1,2-ethanedithiol
BisTOL	2:1 Bismuth nitrate 3,4-dimercaptotoluene
CCFRA	Campden and Chorleywood Food Research Association
KCL5	Polyethoxylated Alcohol
LX28	Sodium Lauryl Sulphate
NaDCC	Sodium Dichloroisocyanurate
Nec28	Sodium Laurylether Sulphate
WoSH	Water of Standard Hardness

1.0 Introduction

1.1 Food Production and Legislation

The food industry is put under considerable pressure to produce large quantities of end product as economically as possible while maintaining very high standards of hygiene. The extensive buying power of multinational supermarket chains combined with the increasing demand by consumers for high quality, low cost foods has forced the food industry to cut production costs without compromising quality. Without stringent legislation, as set down by the UK Government and enforced by the Foods Standard Agency in the UK as well as European wide EC legislature, enforcing strict food safety and hygiene, the cost cutting seen within the industry would have almost certainly led to an increased risk of contamination by microorganisms (Anon, 2006).

During 1999, the legislative Food Standards Act in the UK, empowered the Foods Standards Agency with the ability to control and regulate the food industry by acting upon the consumers interests at any point within the production and supply chain (Anon, 1999). Additional regulations and legislation within Europe came into force on the 1st January 2006 with the Food Hygiene Regulations and extend the 'farm to fork' approach to food safety throughout the supply chain. The legislation makes it a legal requirement for all food businesses (except primary producers) to put in place, implement and maintain a permanent procedure or procedures based on Hazard Analysis Critical Control Point (HACCP) principles (Anon, 2006). By providing a regulatory framework for producers, consumers are better protected against sources of contamination, including microbial, and acts as a guarantee to ensure the quality of food produce is maintained at a high standard.

1.2 Microbial Contamination Risks within the Food Industry

As changes in food production and storage methods have evolved over the last few decades so new challenges have become evident for the food industry to face. The control and elimination of food borne pathogens is the area most relevant to this study, although it should be noted that the control of spoilage microrganisms is concurrent with that of pathogens.

Within the US, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention have previously identified 14 new pathogens, or pathogens that are newly recognised as predominantly associated with food products, since 1980, of which all but one are bacterial in origin (Tauxe, 1997; Batz, 2005). Of note are entero haemorrhagic *E. coli* and *L. monocytogenes*, both of which have been identified in increasing numbers of clinical cases since 1980. Within the UK, the Health Protection Agency estimates that 20% of the population acquire an infectious intestinal disease each year, with an estimated 1 in 2500 reported cases now being associated with a vero toxin producing entero haemorrhagic strain of *E. coli* (HPA, 2007a), ranging from mild diarrhoea through to severe inflammation of the gut. The incidence of *L. monocytogenes* infections in England and Wales has also been rising over the past 20 years from 25 – 48 cases reported per year in the 1990s to over 60 cases per year since 2003, almost certainly caused by the increase in consumption of more varied dairy and processed meat products (Gillespie *et al.*, 2006; HPA, 2007b).

Entero-haemorrhagic *E. coli* and *L. monocytogenes* are not as common a cause of food borne illness as for example *Campylobacter* spp. and *Salmonella* spp. which are now estimated, based upon laboratory diagnosis, to cause over 46000 and 15000 cases respectively per year in England and Wales (HPA, 2007a). Another common cause of food borne infection within the UK, as reported by the HPA, (2007a) is viral,

including Norovirus and Rotovirus, with over 20000 cases per year. However the severity of the diseases caused by VTEC *E. coli* and *L. monocytogenes* was one of the reasons for inclusion in this study.

1.2.1 Possible Routes of Contamination

There are five primary routes through which food products can become contaminated during processing: raw materials, people, vermin, the air and contact surfaces (Holah & Kearney, 1992; Chmielewski & Frank, 2003). Raw materials entering a factory are prevented from coming into contact with later stages of the production line to avoid contamination. This is achieved by separating the production line into distinct areas to reduce carriage of microorganisms between sections and via limiting movement of the workforce through the production line by only allowing movement from finished product sections towards the raw material entry point (Huggett, 2001).

Enforcing a strict hygiene code of practice for use prior to entering a production line and continuing within the production area, as well as by providing clean coveralls, footwear, hair/beard nets and hats, minimises the risk of contamination from the workforce (Huggett, 2001). Good building maintenance as well as internal and external pest control measures is essential to reduce the risk of vermin originated contamination. Air filtration, to remove particles that might harbour microorganisms, is utilised to minimise this possible route of contamination (Holah & Kearney, 1992). Regular cleaning and disinfection of environmental surfaces is used to remove possible sources of contamination (Poulsen, 1999).

1.2.2 Contact Surfaces and Persistent Biofilms

Possibly the greatest concern and challenge that the food industry faces, with regards to causes of food spoilage and contamination of products with pathogenic

microorganisms, is that posed by the formation and persistence of microbial biofilms within a food processing environment (Poulsen, 1999; Holah *et al.*, 2004). Adherent, persistent populations provide a continual source of microbial contamination via sloughing of cells, this can be a particular problem where a biofilm has formed in a niche with high air or liquid throughput, for example *L. monocytogenes* biofilm populations found within blast (Miettinen *et al.*, 2001; Holah *et al.*, 2004) or brine (Gailey *et al.*, 2003) chillers were identified as major sources of contamination.

As reviewed by Prakash et al., (2003), an initial reversible attachment occurs rapidly as bacterial cells are surface captured via weak forces of attraction, such as van der Waals forces, electrostatic surface charges and hydrophobic interactions between the bacteria and surface, upon contact. Other than the attachment substrate, few factors influence this stage of adherence, interestingly, it has even been shown that killed microbial cells do not lose this initial adhesive capacity and so can aid living cells with the initial formation of a biofilm (Piette and Idziak, 1992). Zottola (1994) described how bacterial cells readily adhere to most materials and surfaces commonly found within food production lines, particularly strongly to stainless steel food preparation surfaces compared to most plastics. Generally, biofilms in food processing plants that are likely to come into direct contact with products occur on food handling surfaces, food storage areas and food processing surfaces such as equipment or conveyor belts, persistent biofilms are also likely to occur on environmental surfaces such as the wall / floor interface and in and around drains (Kumar and Anand 1998; Wong, 1998). It has also been shown that complex biofilm formation is more likely to occur where nutrient availability is limited but coincides with either static or flowing liquids, which further reinforces the reason for biofilms to

form and persist at the localities detailed above in food processing plants (Hunt *et al.*, 2004).

The transition from reversible to irreversible attachment proceeds via the excretion of extracellular polymeric substances (EPS) and the interaction of pili and fimbrial adhesins with the surface (Dunne, 2002). More recently, Palmer et al., (2007) reviewed all of the critical factors affecting initial attachment which was summarised as: surface conditioning, mass transport, surface charge, hydrophobicity, surface roughness and surface micro-topography. Following attachment, a lag phase with regards to cellular multiplication has been noted by Rice et al. (2000) by studying a luminescent strain of Pseudomonas aeruginosa, during which adaptation from a planktonic state to a sessile state occurs. Biofilm development continues via cell differentiation and the formation of complex matrix architectures, with water channels, pedestal-like structures and pores to trap nutrients. As biofilm maturation progresses, identifiable microcolony structures form and sporadic dispersion of planktonic cells occurs via sloughing (Busscher et al., 1995; Kumar and Anand, 1998; Dunne, 2002). During biofilm formation, the cell differentiation that can occur largely depends upon locality within the matrix, Young (2006) provided a comprehensive review of cell size and shape and how this can change during biofilm maturation.

Microbial EPS are biopolymers, originally defined by Geesey (1982) as "extracellular polymeric substances of biological origin that participate in the formation of microbial aggregates". Both planktonic and adherent populations of bacterial cells synthesise EPS which acts primarily as a protective coating but can also aid with the absorption of nutrients, initialise attachment to surfaces and bind cells into complex biofilm matrices (Mayer *et al.*, 1999; Czaczyk & Myszka, 2007). The

primary components of EPS are polysaccharides, nucleic acids, proteins and lipids (Nielsen *et al.*, 1997; Dignac *et al.*, 1998). EPS content can vary by between 50% and 90% of the total organic carbon present within a biofilm (Donlan, 2002), with the presence of uronic acids or ketal-linked pyruvates conferring an anionic charge to the matrix (Sutherland, 2001) which could potentially interfere with charged cationic disinfectants. It has also been shown that typical biofilms formed by Gram-negative bacteria comprise a greater proportion of proteins within the EPS matrix than seen for Gram-positive bacteria, this is thought to be due to the larger number of protein transport pathways available to Gram-negative bacterial cells (Gerlach & Hensel, 2007). Compared to the fairly simple capsule or slime layer surrounding planktonic cells, the complex structure of EPS in a biofilm acts as a more robust protective barrier against general chemical damage via quenching, chemical mopping and steric hindrance or by simply reducing or preventing diffusion through the matrix which lowers the effective concentration of the chemical in contact with cells (Guiot *et al.*, 2002; Vickery *et al.*, 2004).

The later stages of biofilms pose a greater risk of persistent contamination to products as cells slough away from the matrix. Cleaning and disinfection of fully formed biofilms is known to be difficult due to the strength of attachment (Eginton *et al.*, 1995; Gibson *et al.*, 1999; Chmielewski and Frank, 2003) and general increases in resistance to environmental stressors for the biofilm as a whole and for individual cells (de Macario and de Macario, 2000; Holah *et al.*, 2002), for example raised and lowered temperatures (Perrot *et al.*, 1998 and 2001; Chmielewski and Frank, 2004), damaging chemicals, including detergents and disinfectants (Donlan and Costerton, 2002; Augustin *et al.*, 2004) and changes in pH caused by organic and inorganic acids and alkalis (McNeill and Hamilton, 2004). Many of the changes exhibited by cells

within a biofilm are thought to be due to the increased maintenance of intracellular homeostasis, combined with reduced growth rates and reduced chemical diffusion rates which result in observed enhanced physiological tolerances. An interesting observation by Beyenal and Lewandowski (2002) showed that the internal structure of biofilm micro-channels is largely determined by the environment within which the biofilm forms with regards to velocity and nutrient availability to maximise the diffusivity of available nutrients throughout the biofilm. The increased physiological tolerances of biofilms to multiple, diverse stressors have also been reported to relate specifically to increased tolerance to detergents and biocides used by the food industry (Armon et al., 1998; Gibson et al., 1999; Aarnisalo et al., 2000), additionally sub lethal concentrations of biocides have actually been shown to enhance biofilm formation (Grant and Bott, 2005) which has serious implications for biofilm control. There are many examples of increased tolerances specific to biocides used by the food industry within the literature although some are more pertinent to this study. Although triclosan was not investigated in this study, it is widely used in sanitation products and impregnated into surfaces, a study by Tabak et al. (2007) showed that cells within a biofilm only demonstrated a 1-log reduction in viable count at the same concentration that caused an 8-log reduction in exponentially growing cells of Salmonella typhimurium, while planktonic cells derived from a biofilm retained some resistance, with a 3.6-log reduction in viable count observed. The efficacy of benzyl alkonium chloride (BAC) upon L. monocytogenes strains as biofilm and planktonic cells was investigated by Romanova et al. (2007), where biofilm populations were identified to be up to 1000 times more resistant to treatment than planktonic populations, with the conclusion that concentrations of BAC greater than 10 mg/ml, with a contact time of 30 minutes are required to kill almost all the live cells within a

biofilm, which is a far greater contact time than the 5 minutes suggested for use within the food industry.

Physiologically, populations of cells within a biofilm exhibit very different characteristics to planktonic populations, typically exhibiting reduced growth rates with both up- and down-regulation of many genes (Jain *et al.*, 2007). Some studies have even suggested revolutionary ideas concerning the complex systems of cooperation, communication and synchronisation that occur between cells within biofilms relating to social evolutionary theory and how this can apply via quorum sensing to the observation of rapid adaptation to stressors experienced elsewhere within the matrix (Nikolaev & Plakunov, 2007; West *et al.*, 2007).

At the moment of surface adhesion, metabolic pathway regulation changes from that seen in planktonic cells, with multiple secretary pathways, including those involved with EPS production, up regulated while cell division is down regulated (Palmer *et al.*, 2007). As biofilm formation progresses the observed changes in sensitivity to stressors as described above has been attributed to a number of factors, although specifically with regards to physiological changes, it has been reported that especially at sub-optimal temperatures or during exposure to sub-lethal stressors, like those experienced in a chilled food processing environment, both the strength of adhesion and resistance to general stressors is greatly increased (La Paglia & Hartzell, 1997; Rachid *et al.*, 2000). However the precise nature of resistance to such a diverse range of stressors has been summarised by Nikolaev & Plakunov, (2007) as a complex phenomenon which cannot be easily explained by any single or set of mechanisms. They even describe that within a biofilm some "persistor cells" exist which possess extraordinary resistances; these were initially identified by Moyed &

Bertrand (1983) who showed "persistors" are responsible for regenerating biofilms following biocide treatment.

1.2.3 Escherichia coli and Entero Haemorrhagic Strains

The ingestion of pathogens poses a significant risk to those people who consume them, especially where the potential infectious dose is very low; within the food industry specific pathogenic bacteria are more commonly associated with certain types of products and therefore the detection and elimination of these organisms is the highest priority. The presence of *E. coli* for example, is indicative of faecal contamination and is a risk factor suggesting the presence of entero haemorrhagic strains. Also studies by Ryu *et al.*, (2004), and Wilks *et al.*, (2005), have shown VTEC *E. coli* strains can readily form biofilm populations in food processing environments at a range of temperatures, nutrient availability and surface types.

Contamination of foods by vero toxin producing *E. coli* has caused a number of severe outbreaks of entero haemorrhagic disease in recent years; one of the most notorious outbreaks in the United Kingdom was that in November 1996, Lanarkshire - Scotland, when 20 people died and 496 were made seriously ill, all of the deaths were among adults aged from 69 to 93 years (Pennington, 1998). However, not just the elderly are at risk from entero haemorrhagic *E. coli*. In the USA, an outbreak primarily in teenagers was reported during the winter of 1992/1993 following consumption of contaminated hamburgers (Bell *et al.*, 1994). During this outbreak a total of 501 cases were reported, with 151 patients requiring hospitalisation and 3 deaths. More recently, in Wales during 2005, an outbreak of *E. coli* O157 was reported primarily amongst school children, where a total of 44 different schools and 157 individuals were infected, with 31 requiring hospitalisation and 1 reported death. The source of contamination for the 2005 outbreak was identified as sliced, cooked

meats distributed to the schools (HPA, 2005). Although food borne transmission routes are most frequently associated with outbreaks of vero toxin producing *E. coli*, in 2004, a single infected individual transmitted the pathogen via a swimming pool in Manchester to 8 other individuals (Verma *et al.*, 2007).

Infection with vero toxin producing *E. coli* commonly results in life threatening complications. Typically up to 15% of infected individuals develop complications such as haemolytic uraemic syndrome and thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura with mortality rates of up to 30% (Todd and Dundas, 2001). It should be noted that infection with *Campylobacter* spp. and *Shigella* spp. can also lead to the same complications of haemolytic uraemic syndrome and thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura, although the rate of complications is considerably lower than that seen for vero toxin producing *E. coli*, estimated to be less than 1% of cases (Cowden, 1992).

The infectious dose for *E. coli* O157 and other entero haemorrhagic strains of *E. coli*, although not specifically quantified, has been estimated to be as few as 10 cells, although not necessarily linked to specific food matrixes as is found with low infective doses of other pathogens (Phillips, 1999; Caprioli *et al.*, 2005). The reported infectious dose is much lower than the infectious doses reported for many other common food borne pathogens, for example the infective dose of *Salmonella* spp. is usually greater than 10^5 cells in most foods, although can be as few as 100 cells in chocolate, where the food matrix increases the effective concentration of quorum signalling molecules surrounding the cells, which leads to expression of virulence determinants at low cell densities (Choi *et al.*, 2007). *Campylobacter jejuni* has a fairly low estimated infective dose of just 500 cells, while non vero toxin producing *E. coli* are unlikely to cause disease below 10^5 cells (Kothary and Babu, 2001).

It has been shown that vero toxin producing E. coli can persist on stainless steel surfaces as a biofilm in laboratory studies, as used by the food industry, for over 28 days at both refrigeration and room temperatures (Wilks et al., 2005). Within food manufacturing facilities the persistence of E. coli O157 and other toxigenic strains of E. coli could potentially lead to serious illness, long term complications such as organ failure and even the deaths of consumers. A study by Ueda and Kuwabara (2007) demonstrated that various detergents used within the food industry are unable to remove fully formed biofilm populations of *E. coli* O157 further enforcing the importance of effective sanitisation. Similarly it was shown that as well as detergents failing to remove adherent cells of E. coli, the EPS produced during biofilm formation provides protection against removal and against biocides which was increased following detergent application (Ryu and Beuchat, 2004). Regular, effective sanitisation of production lines is used to prevent this situation from occurring. Identifying detergents and disinfectants that positively interact, further enhancing the removal and killing of non toxigenic E. coli will help reduce the risk posed to the food industry by vero toxin producing E. coli strains.

1.2.4 Listeria monocytogenes

Listeria monocytogenes is of great concern to the food industry, most notably due to the risk of foetal damage and miscarriage during pregnancy after consuming contaminated foods (Rocourt, 1996). Prior to the widespread adoption of refrigerators during the late 1940s and early 1950s and due to changes in eating habits, for example wider availability of ready to eat, high risk foods with minimal or no cooking, cases of listeriosis related diseases were rarely seen or possibly rarely looked for (McLauchlin, 2006). As refrigeration as a means of preserving foods became more widespread, listeriosis caused predominantly by *L. monocytogenes* emerged as a new

disease within the developed world. The observed emergence is linked to the ability of *Listeria* spp. to proliferate at low temperatures, with certain food groups, for example unpasteurised dairy produce, posing the greatest risk (Gandhi and Chikindas, 2007). The incidence of listeriosis in the developed world is estimated to be 5 cases per million people per year, but with a very high mortality rate of 20-25% (Hitchins and Whiting, 2001).

Normally found as a soil borne bacterium, *L. monocytogenes* possesses the ability to invasively infect intestinal cells where motility changes from flagella borne to actin polymerisation, enabling secondary cellular infection to occur by passing directly through cellular membranes (Gouin *et al.*, 2005). Clinically, besides the invasive form of listeriosis, most commonly associated with immunocompromised patients and during pregnancy, where cells pass across the placental barrier, the disease may present as febrile gastroenteritis or as a cutaneous infection (Swaminathan and Gerner-Smidt, 2007). Although uncommon, *Listeria* spp. outbreaks have been reported, for example in 1997, 1566 students and staff at two primary schools in the USA exhibited febrile gastroenteritis after eating contaminated corn with 292 being hospitalised (Aureli *et al.*, 2000). Unusually for listeriosis, the infected individuals were considered to be immunocompetent, whereas normally infection is associated with patients with predisposed conditions, such as the immunocompromised, neonates and pregnant women (Swaminathan and Gerner-Smidt, 2007).

A study by Holah *et al.*, (2004) investigated the persistence and distribution of *Listeria* spp. within food processing environments. Ribotyping, the antibody based bacterial 'fingerprinting' specific to 16s and 23s ribosomal DNA, was used to differentiate members of the same species and to enable, in many cases, the source,

for example of persistent biofilms or raw materials, of contamination to be identified. An important recorded observation was that the majority of isolated *Listeria* spp., including L. monocytogenes, were environmentally niche oriented, therefore derived from persistent biofilms, rather than originating on raw material or other external sources of possible contamination. Listeria spp. are also capable of multiplication at legally required refrigeration temperatures, 2 - 4°C, as commonly found within food processing environments and used for storage of chilled foods. Møretrø and Landsrud (2004) discuss the implication of *Listeria* spp. biofilm populations, and challenges posed for the food industry, including the high frequency with which biofilm populations are identified as sources of contamination in food production lines and the difficulties encountered with removal and disinfection of biofilm populations. A study by Rodriguez et al. (2008) showed that L. monocytogenes strains on the smoothest stainless steel surfaces used by the food industry, those that have been electropolished, are able to colonise and form biofilms as readily as on rougher mechanically finished steel surfaces. It has also been shown that some strains of L. monocytogenes are able to form highly resistant biofilm populations that can cause a 1000 fold increase in resistance to biocide treatments, including BAC (Romanova et al., 2007). These observations highlight the necessity to optimise cleaning and disinfection regimes to reduce the occurrence of environmentally persistent strains that can lead to contamination of food products and therefore human disease.

1.3 Minimising the Microbial Contamination of Food Production Lines

Control of biofilms is currently achieved via strict cleaning and disinfection regimes, for example in the UK, the Food Standards Agency's 'Safer Food Better Business' (SFBB) system is used to implement a five stage advanced food safety management regime which includes rigorous cleaning and disinfection of surfaces.

Elortondo *et al.*, (1999) examined many of the cleaning and disinfection methods employed by the food industry to limit contamination, specifically caused by microbial biofilms. A comparison of the mode of application of detergents, for example in water or as a foam, concluded that the prevention of biofilm formation is a vital strategy for limiting biofilm related contamination due to the inherent difficulty encountered with the removal and disinfection of persistent populations. The development of optimised or alternative cleaning and disinfection regimes against adherent microorganisms could offer the food industry more reliable methods of safely producing foods with regards to microbial contamination. Specifically the food industry requires treatments to be odour and taint free, non-toxic and as effective as possible against a wide ranged of soils and microorganisms that might be encountered within a food processing environment.

1.3.1 Detergents used by the Food Industry

Detergents are primarily used to remove grease and soiling from contact surfaces, floors and walls prior to disinfection, although some detergents are also effective biocides, assisting with the disinfection process. The removal of soiling from surfaces is required to prevent the inactivation of subsequent disinfectant treatments and to remove a source of microbial contamination and nutrients, thereby further enhancing sanitisation. Detergents are usually amphipathic chemicals containing a hydrophilic head group, and a hydrophobic hydrocarbon tail group. This property enables the 'head' of the molecule to be soluble in water while the 'tail' is soluble in organic solvents, for example oils. The interfacial tension between oil and water is reduced after application via absorption at the oil/water interface of the detergent; this enables the removal of hydrophobic soils from surfaces prior to disinfection.

Detergents commonly used by the food industry can be divided into three groups, non-ionic, anionic and cationic, referring to the charge present on the hydrophilic section of the molecule. Cationic detergents generally have poor detergency action and are more commonly used as biocidal disinfectants, for example quaternary ammonium compounds (QACs), fabric softeners or specialist emulsifiers rather than detergents. QACs characteristically cause damage to the outer membrane while promoting their own uptake an entry into cells (Russell, 2002).

Anionic surfactants dissociate in water to give a large negatively charged anion and smaller cation. The anionic portion of the surfactant has a strong detergent mode of action while a weak biocidal action is exhibited by the cation, although at typical 'in use' concentrations the activity is negligible and restricted to Gram-positive bacteria (Pasanen *et al.*, 1997). The use of a charged detergent has potential implications with regards to compatibility with certain disinfectants which may be neutralised by residual detergent if cationic. The anionic detergents, within regular use by the food industry, sodium laurylether sulphate (Nec28) and sodium lauryl sulphate (LX28) were selected for use within this study. Nec28 is a low toxicity, inexpensive and very effective foaming agent found in many products, including soaps, shampoos and toothpastes. LX28 is also a low toxicity surfactant and found in a wide range of products, including bubble bath, shaving foams and some dissolvable aspirin.

Non-ionic surfactants are comprised of uncharged polar groups that form hydrogen bonds with water. The hydrophilic group is usually an ethoxylated chain with no specific biocidal properties, although polysorbates, such as Tween-80, can increase the permeability of the outer envelope of Gram-negative bacteria by acting as an ionophore (Thoman, 1999). The non-ionic detergents, within regular use by the

food industry, alcohol ethoxylate (91/4) and polyethoxylated alcohol (KCL5) were selected for use within this study. 91/4 is readily biodegradable under aerobic and anaerobic conditions and commonly found in a wide range of cleaners and personal care products. KCL5, as with other polyethoxylated surfactants, typically has a greater activity than an etholylated surfactant; it is found within a similar range of products as 91/4 but has reduced biodegradability.

1.3.2 Bismuth Thiol Detergents

A group of novel detergents known as bismuth thiols are currently being investigated for use within clinical situations, the use of these detergents may also lead to improved removal and killing of microorganisms within the food industry. Indeed previous work by Domenico *et al.*, (1997, 1999) has suggested that bismuth thiols both aid the removal of biofilms and possess a potent inhibitory effect upon biofilm formation and development due to disrupting the production of EPS, an important component in bacterial attachment and resistance to disinfectants (Kumar and Anand, 1998). Domenico's results that demonstrated the effectiveness of bismuth thiols at removing and inhibiting biofilm populations was the primary consideration for their inclusion within this study.

Bismuth thiol detergents are comprised of a bismuth compound and a thiol moiety, specifically designed to target both EPS *in situ* and inhibit EPS production. To maximise effectiveness, bismuth thiols are likely to require the addition of a conventional detergent for removal of soil from surfaces. Bismuths, like arsenicals, are metabolic poisons with well characterised effects of disrupting ATP production (Dill and McGown, 1994). Thiols are molecules that contain a functional sulfhydryl group and are still frequently referred to as mercaptans. Toxicity studies by Domenico *et al.*, (2000) have shown that many bismuth thiol compounds exhibit a
higher LD50 against mice than antimicrobials commonly used by the food industry, such as benzyl alkonium chloride (BAC) and sodium dichloroisocyanurate (NaDCC). Some more recently formulated bismuth thiols combine very low toxicity with no detectable odour or taint, all of which are essential characteristics if a detergent or disinfectant is to be used by the food industry. The bismuth thiols, 1:1 Bismuth nitrate 1,3-propanedithiol (BisEDT) and 2:1 Bismuth nitrate 3,4-dimercaptotoluene (BisTOL) were selected for use within this study by conforming to low toxicity, lack of odour or taint and having been extensively tested against clinically important microbes (Domenico *et al.*, 2000, 2001).

1.3.3 Disinfectants in the Food Industry

Although a wide range of disinfectants exist, only relatively few are considered suitable to use on food production lines where toxicity, odour and taint must be negligible. For information with regards to disinfectants that are not suitable for use within the food industry, a comprehensive review detailing classes of disinfectant (from heavy metals to organics) and mode of action (including oxidising, denaturing and permeablising of cellular membranes) has been written by Fraise (1999). Two types of disinfectant routinely used by the food industry are chlorine releasing agents and quaternary ammonium compounds (QACs), a type of cationic detergent. In general Gram-negative bacteria are seen to be more resistant to biocides than Grampositive bacteria due to differing penetration of biocides caused by the structural difference with outer membrane and cell wall (Maillard, 2002).

Chlorine releasing agents include hypochlorites and *N*-chloro compounds such as NaDCC; this class of disinfectants are rapidly biocidal and exhibit a broad range of antimicrobial action that is attributed to interference with key metabolic processes via the release of hypochlorous acid, resulting in protein denaturation (McDonnell and

Russell, 1999). Poor activity is seen at low concentrations and under dirty conditions where inactivation occurs; therefore it is important that they are used on clean surfaces (Fraise, 1999). The general mechanisms associated with chlorine releasing agents are oxidative primarily resulting in the oxidation of thiol groups to disulfides, sulfoxides, or disulfoxides and the inhibition of DNA synthesis (McDonnell and Russell, 1999). Chlorine releasing agents are also able to destroy bacterial spores, although activity has been shown to depend upon pH and the concentration of available chlorine (Russell, 1982).

QACs are membrane active biocides where the antimicrobial activity is attributed to inactivation of cell metabolic pathways and the denaturation of proteins, although is has also been reported that QACs alter the hydrophobicity of Gramnegative bacteria (Fitzgerald *et al.*, 1992). QACs are also membrane active agents, which are thought to damage the cell wall and outer membrane of Gram-negative bacteria which leads to increased biocide uptake and increased activity against primary target sites at the cytoplasmic membrane and within the cytoplasm (Gilbert *et al.*, 1990). The activity of QACs is limited to vegetative bacterial cells with little or no activity against spores and is ineffectual against some bacterial groups such as *Pseudomonas* spp. (Langsrud *et al.*, 2003). An early study by Salton (1968), suggested exposure to cationic disinfectants follows the follow sequence: (i) adsorption and penetration of the agent into the cell wall; (ii) reaction with the cytoplasmic membrane (lipid or protein) followed by membrane disorganization; (iii) leakage of intracellular low-molecular-weight material; (iv) degradation of proteins and nucleic acids; and (v) wall lysis caused by autolytic enzymes.

Prior to the application of disinfectants, excess soiling is removed from a surface to eliminate inactivation caused by many organic molecules. Concentrations of

disinfectant used by the food industry are determined by concentration coefficient; typically disinfectants with a low coefficient are preferred to reduce the risk of tainting and disinfectant residues. Other important considerations for the application of disinfectants include the contact time, temperature and pH of the solution which can all affect the efficacy of the disinfectant. The disinfectants that are commonly found within the food industry, sodium dichloroisocyanurate (NaDCC), a chlorine releasing agent and benzyl alkonium chloride (BAC), a QAC, were selected for use within this study. NaDCC is a stable source of chlorine and is widely used as a disinfectant, including in small doses in water purification tablets. BAC is a nitrogenous surface-acting agent and as well as being used as a biocide is frequently used as a microbial corrosion inhibitor, it is found in a wide range of products, including eye and mouth washes.

As with other antimicrobial agents, for example antibiotics, acquired resistance to disinfectants has been reported. A study by Bore *et al.*, (2007) has shown that *E. coli* K-12 can readily be induced to tolerate up to 8 times the initial concentration of BAC required for MIC. However other studies have shown that some species do not readily adapt to disinfectants, Aarnisalo *et al.*, (2007) showed that 10 species of *L. monocytogenes* when challenged with 8 commercially available disinfectants at most adapted to a 2-fold increase in disinfectant concentration, concluding that with regards to *Listeria* spp. the adaptive response is a minor concern. Additionally, resistances are more likely to develop where partial inactivation of disinfectants by organic particles lowers the effective active concentration to sub lethal levels; this has been demonstrated to occur against *E. coli*, *P. aeruginosa* and *Staphylococcus aureus* when treated with BAC in the presence of dried food elements (Kuda *et al.*, 2008).

1.4 Assessment of Cleaning and Disinfection

Research has been conducted to try and assess the effectiveness of current cleaning and disinfection regimes upon biofilm removal and destruction using artificial (Wirtanen *et al.*, 1995) and *in situ* (Gibson *et al.*, 1999) studies. Both studies demonstrated that detergent action typically removed at most 1 log order of microorganisms from surfaces, even though previous studies had suggested over 3 log order is removed following detergent treatment (Dunsmore *et al.*, 1981). While environmental factors have been identified that induce a protective response to biocide exposure, for example pre-exposure to HCl at a pH of 5.0 for 4 hours was shown to decrease the sensitivity of 3 strains of *E. coli* O157:H7 to subsequent exposure to high temperatures, 10% NaCl, 15% ethanol and 0.85% bile salt (Cheng *et al.*, 2002); there has been limited investigation of the synergistic opportunities that might exist between detergent and subsequent disinfectant application.

Total viable count (TVC) swabbing can be used to quantify the removal/killing effect of detergents and disinfectants. However, the use of this method is limited in that it will only enable the remaining, viable attached population to be quantified. Other methods are required to study the cells *in situ* and to determine if treatments are removing and/or killing attached microbes. Two additional methods used within this study are that of direct microscopic analysis of treated, attached and biofilm populations and also the use of bioluminescence as a metabolic indicator during and after treatment.

Direct microscopic measurements and observations are frequently used to investigate effects upon adherent populations that would otherwise be missed by viable counting. Some examples where this technique has been successfully used include a study by Stoodley *et al.*, (2001), where time lapse microscopy was used to

record the detachment of cell clusters from mature biofilms and a study by Skillman *et al.*, (1999), where a mixed population biofilm was examined to determine the proportion and placement of a green fluorescent protein transformed species. A dual staining methodology was developed for use within this study that can be applied to differentiate bacterial and EPS components of biofilm populations using acridine orange and calcofluor white respectively.

Bacteria can be genetically modified to produce light by the addition of a luciferase operon. There are two alternative luciferase gene complexes that are commonly used, the first *lux*AB only encodes the luciferase protein complex and requires the addition of an aldehyde substrate for light production, whereas the complete luciferase operon encodes for both the protein complex and an enzyme required producing the aldehyde substrate (Meighen, 1994).

This study investigated a transformed vero toxin negative, bioluminescent strain of *E. coli* O157:H7 that carried the complete luciferase operon on the plasmid pSB311. Light production requires the presence of a metabolically active cell with freely available ATP, and any influence on free ATP such as non-lethal chemical exposure or stress response may be quantifiable as a reduction in bioluminescence. Possible mechanisms could include the induction of stress response proteins or a sub lethal injury to the cells, both of which should result in reduced bioluminescence as ATP is diverted away from use by the luciferase molecules to counteract the effects of stressors.

1.5 Aims and Objectives

1.5.1 Aims

To quantify, assess and understand the interactions between detergent and disinfectant treatments that are relevant to the food industry, upon 1-hour attached and 24-hour biofilm populations of different strains of *E. coli* and *L. monocytogenes*, leading to the identification of synergies between treatments.

1.5.2 Objectives

- 1) Development of a reproducible 1-hour surface attachment and 24-hour biofilm model on stainless steel coupons for *E. coli* and *L. monocytogenes* strains.
- Assessment and refinement of methodology for enumerating and visualising attached and biofilm populations of *E. coli* and *L. monocytogenes* using techniques such as TVC, microscopy and bioluminescence.
- Identifying the effects that well classified non-ionic and anionic detergents and disinfectants have upon suspended, 1-hour attached and 24-hour biofilm populations.
- Assessing effects of novel bismuth thiol based detergents upon suspended, 1hour attached and 24-hour biofilm populations.
- Investigate potential synergistic effects of detergent and disinfectant treatment regimes on the detachment and loss of viability of 1-hour attached and 24-hour biofilm populations.
- 6) A comparison of initial attachment and removal of entero haemorrhagic strains of *E. coli* with non-pathogenic strains.
- Initial investigation into mechanisms involved with resistance to disinfectants after detergent treatments.

2.0 Materials and Methods

2.1 Strains

All strains of *E. coli* and *L. monocytogenes* were maintained in freeze dried ampoules. For recovery, 1ml of TSB was added to resuspend the cells and then spread plated onto TSA and incubated overnight at 37°C. The recovered cells were stored at 4°C for up to 2 weeks before being discarded. The following *E. coli* and *L. monocytogenes* strains were provided by Campden and Chorleywood Food Research Association or from the University of Wolverhampton collection.

<i>E. coli</i> Strains	Information			
400	Ribogroup: RIBO1 102-248-S-4. Product isolate from			
	Beef Stew & Dumplings.			
453	Ribogroup: RIBO1 102-248-S-7. Environmental isolate			
	from drain in wash down – high / low cook barrier area.			
467	Ribogroup: RIBO1 102-575-S-7. Environmental isolate			
	from drain.			
CRA 4497 O157:H7	Environmental isolate from Abattoir Survey, Sheffield			
	PHL.			
CRA 12628 O157:H-	Product isolate from CPHL, VT 1 & 2.			
CRA 13379 O157:H7	Environmental isolate from bovine faeces.			
ATCC 43888 O157 WT	VT 1 & 2 negative strain.			
O157 WT with pSB311	Transformed ATCC 43888 O157 WT by K. Middleton			
	with plasmid pSB311 containing complete lux operon.			
K12 W1485				
NCIB 9484				
0128				
HB101 NCIB 11865				
NCIB 12079				

L. monocytogenes Strains	Information			
166	Ribogroup: RIBO1 102-195-S-1. Environmental isolate			
	from H/R bund wall.			
359	Ribogroup: RIBO1 102-241-S-7. Product isolate from			
	Chicken & White Wine.			
367	Ribogroup: RIBO1 102-409-S-3. Environmental isolate			
	from drain by H/R cookline.			

Table 2.1: *E coli* and *L. monocytogenes* strain information.

2.2 Growth Media, Stocks and Solutions

Tryptone Soya Agar (TSA) was used as the standard solid growth medium. 37g TSA was added to 1000ml water, sterilisation was carried out at 121°C for 15 minutes. The solution was gently mixed without causing aeration and cooled to 45-50°C prior to pouring 15-20ml into sterile Petri dishes in a laminar airflow cabinet. Agar plates were stored at room temperature with a shelf life of 1 month and were checked for colony growth prior to use.

Tryptone Soya Broth (TSB) was used as the standard liquid growth medium. 30g TSB was added to 1000ml water, sterilisation was carried out at 121°C for 15 minutes. TSB was stored at room temperature with an unopened shelf life of 1 month, unused solution was discarded following experimentation. 1/10 strength, 3g I⁻¹, TSB was prepared to use for biofilm formation.

Tetracycline was used for the maintenance of *E. coli* O157:H7 pSB311. Stock solutions were prepared by dissolving 50 mg tetracycline in 10 ml water. Filter sterilisation was carried out with a maximum effective pore size of 0.45 μ m. Stock solutions were wrapped in foil and stored at -20°C. A working concentration of 10 μ g ml⁻¹ was used; media containing tetracyclione was stored at 4°C for a maximum period of 1 week.

Thymine was used for maintenance of *E. coli* O157:H7 pSB311. Stock solutions were prepared by heating 2g thymine in 500 ml water at 50°C. Filter sterilisation was carried out with a maximum effective pore size of 0.45 μ m. Stock solutions were stored at 37°C for up to 1 month to prevent precipitation. A working concentration of 200 μ g ml⁻¹ was used; media containing thymine was stored at 4°C for a maximum period of 1 week.

Ringer's solution was used as the standard diluent for swabbing, recovery and serial dilution during the study. 1 x Ringer's tablet was added to 500ml water, sterilisation was carried out at 121°C for 15 minutes. Ringer's solution was stored at room temperature with an unopened shelf life of 1 month; unused solution was discarded following experimentation.

2.3 Detergents and Disinfectants

Water of Standard Hardness (WoSH) was used as the diluent for detergent and disinfectant solutions and was prepared as per the Suspension Disinfectant Test - BS EN 1276 : 1997. Two biochemical stock solutions were prepared.

Solution A: 19.84g anhydrous MgCl₂ and 46.24g anhydrous CaCl₂ were diluted to 1000ml with water. Filter sterilisation was carried out with a maximum effective pore size of 0.45 μ m. Storage was achieved at 4°C with a shelf life of 1 month.

Solution B: 35.02g NaHCO₃ was diluted to 1000 ml with water. Filter sterilisation was carried out with a maximum effective pore size of 0.45 μ m. Storage was achieved at 4°C with a shelf life of 1 month.

In use WoSH was prepared by diluting 6ml of solution A and 8ml of solution B to a total volume of 1000ml with water; pH was adjusted to 7.0 ± 0.2 . Filter sterilisation was carried out with a maximum effective pore size of 0.45 µm. WoSH was stored at 4°C with a shelf life of 1 month.

2.3.1 Detergents

91/4 - Alcohol Ethoxylate was provided by Holchem Laboratories Ltd., Rossendale, UK. 91/4 is a non-ionic detergent and used at the recommended in use concentration of 0.1% (v/v). Liquid stock was diluted in WoSH and pH was adjusted to 7.70 prior to use. Shelf life of in use 91/4 was limited to 6 hours. BisEDT - 1:1 Bismuth nitrate 1,2-ethanedithiol was provided by Winthrop-University Hospital, New York, USA. BisEDT is a bismuth thiol detergent and used at the recommended in use concentration of 10 μ g ml⁻¹. Sonication was used for 30 seconds followed by vortexing was used to dissolve 10 mg BisEDT in a solution of 9.9 ml propylene glycol with 100 μ l concentrated HCl to produce a stock solution. Stock solutions were stored at room temperature for 1 month. In use concentrations of 10 μ g ml⁻¹ were prepared by diluting in WoSH. A shelf life of 6 hours was used.

BisTOL - 2:1 Bismuth nitrate 3,4-dimercaptotoluene was provided by Winthrop-University Hospital, New York, USA. BisTOL is a bismuth thiol detergent and used at the recommended in use concentration of 10 μ g ml⁻¹. Sonication was used for 30 seconds followed by vortexing was used to dissolve 10 mg BisTOL in a solution of 9.9 ml propylene glycol with 100 μ l concentrated HCl to produce a stock solution. Stock solutions were stored at room temperature for 1 month. In use concentrations of 10 μ g ml⁻¹ were prepared by diluting in WoSH. A shelf life of 6 hours was used.

KCL5 - Polyethoxylated Alcohol was provided by Holchem Laboratories Ltd., Rossendale, UK. KCL5 is a non-ionic detergent and used at the recommended in use concentration of 0.1% (v/v). Liquid stock was diluted in WoSH and pH was adjusted to 7.40 prior to use. Shelf life of in use KCL5 was limited to 6 hours.

LX28 - Sodium Lauryl Sulphate was provided by Holchem Laboratories Ltd., Rossendale, UK. LX28 is an anionic detergent and used at the recommended in use concentration of 0.2% (v/v). Liquid stock was diluted in WoSH and pH was adjusted to 8.65 prior to use. Shelf life of in use LX28 was limited to 6 hours.

Nec28 - Sodium Laurylether Sulphate was provided by Holchem Laboratories Ltd., Rossendale, UK. Nec28 is an anionic detergent and used at the recommended in

use concentration of 0.2% (v/v). Liquid stock was diluted in WoSH and pH was adjusted to 7.75 prior to use. Shelf life of in use Nec28 was limited to 6 hours.

2.3.2 Disinfectants

BAC - Benzyl Alkonium Chloride was provided by Holchem Laboratories Ltd., Rossendale, UK. BAC is a quaternary ammonium compound; a concentration of 0.01% (w/v) was identified to achieve approximately a 4 log kill against *E. coli* and *L. monocytogenes* in suspension. Stock powder was diluted in WoSH and mixed via vortexing prior to use. Shelf life of in use BAC was limited to 6 hours.

NaDCC - Sodium Dichloroisocyanurate was provided by Holchem Laboratories Ltd., Rossendale, UK. NaDCC is a chlorine releasing agent; concentrations of 0.0005% (w/v) for *E. coli* and 0.0008% (w/v) for *L. monocytogenes* were identified to achieve approximately a 4 log kill in suspension. Stock powder was diluted in WoSH and mixed via vortexing prior to use. Shelf life of in use BAC was limited to 6 hours.

2.4 Detergent Activity on Suspended Cells

Detergent activity upon suspended populations of *E. coli* and *L. monocytogenes* was investigated using the following procedure. This method was used for short duration contact of 5 and 20 minutes and also for extended contact to determine MIC and MBC of detergents.

10 ml of a liquid medium, either WoSH for 5 and 20 minute contact time or TSB for MIC/MBC over 24/48 hours, with required concentration of detergent was inoculated with 100µl of overnight culture. The inoculated media were incubated at $20^{\circ}C \pm 0.5^{\circ}C$.

For all contact times, 100µl of inoculum was removed, serial dilutions carried out and TVC measured using spread plating. For long contact times, presence or absence of turbidity at 24 and 48 hours was also recorded by eye.

Three controls were used. The first was 10 ml medium incubated at 20°C \pm 0.5°C and measured as for the procedure. The second control was 10 ml medium plus the required detergent concentration incubated at 20°C \pm 0.5°C and measured as for the procedure. The third control was 10 ml medium with 100 µl of O/N culture, incubated at 20°C \pm 0.5°C and measured as for the procedure.

2.5 Attachment of Bacterial Cells to Stainless Steel Coupons

Stainless steel coupons for attachment of bacterial cells and biofilm formation (coupons) were provided by Johnson Security Ltd., Gloucester, UK. Coupons were provided measuring 8mm x 8mm x 1.4mm. The grade of steel was type 316 with a 2B finish. Coupons were cleaned in a solution of fairy liquid and rinsed thoroughly before sterilisation was carried out at 121°C for 15 minutes. Unused coupons were discarded following experimentation.

The following methodology was used to obtain reproducible, 1 hour attached populations of both *E. coli* and *L. monocytogenes*. This method was also used prior to biofilm formation. Total viable counts following attachment varied on a day to day basis, the log TVC for *E. coli* strains 400, 453, 467 was 6.56 ± 0.13 and for *L. monocytogenes* strains 166, 359, 367 was 6.76 ± 0.08 .

50ml of overnight culture was pelleted via centrifugation at 2000 x G for 30 minutes. The supernatant was removed and the pellet was resuspended in 50ml Ringer's solution, washing was achieved via centrifugation at 2000 x G for 30 minutes. The supernatant was removed and the pellet resuspended in 25ml TSB.

25 coupons were placed in a sterile Petri dish and the cell suspension added. Attachment was achieved after incubating at 20°C for 1 hour. Coupons were gently washed in Ringer's solution to ensure all planktonic cells were removed prior to

experimentation. Attached cells were stored in a covered Petri dish for a maximum of 1 hour before being discarded.

Suspensions of cells in alternative media and at different starting densities were studied to determine the optimum conditions for reproducible attachment. Alternative media tested included different strengths of TSB, overnight supernatant and Ringer's solution.

Three controls were used. The first was a clean coupon. The second control was a clean coupon, rinsed in Ringer's solution. The third control was a clean coupon incubated in sterile attachment medium at 20°C for 1 hour then rinsed in Ringer's solution.

2.6 Biofilm Formation of Bacterial Cells on Stainless Steel Coupons

A reproducible 24 hour biofilm model for *E. coli* and *L. monocytogenes* was achieved using the following methodology. Prior to the steps detailed below, the procedure detailed above for obtaining 1 hour attached populations had been completed. Total viable counts following biofilm formation varied on a day to day basis, the log TVC for *E. coli* strains 400, 453, 467 was 7.23 ± 0.12 and for *L. monocytogenes* strains 166, 359, 367 was 7.51 ± 0.17 .

25 coupons with 1 hour attached populations of cells were immersed in 25ml $1/10^{th}$ strength (3g l⁻¹) TSB. The attached populations were incubated at 20°C for 24 hours to allow biofilm formation. Coupons were gently washed in Ringer's solution to ensure all planktonic cells were removed prior to experimentation. Biofilms were stored in a covered Petri dish for a maximum of 1 hour before being discarded.

Attached cells in alternative media were studied to determine the optimum conditions for reproducible biofilm formation. Alternative media tested included different strengths of TSB, overnight supernatant and Ringer's solution.

Three controls were used. The first was a clean coupon. The second control was a clean coupon, rinsed in Ringer's solution. The third control was a clean coupon incubated in sterile biofilm medium at 20°C for 24 hours then rinsed in Ringer's solution.

2.7 Detergent and Disinfectant Treatments on Attached and Biofilm Populations

The effects of detergent and disinfectant treatments upon attached and biofilm populations of *E. coli* and *L. monocytogenes* were investigated using the following procedure. This method was used to identify individual detergent and disinfectant effects as well as combined detergent followed by disinfectant treatments. The method was designed with controls that can be used to eliminate the variations caused by conducting experiments on different days via regression analysis.

Each experiment to test 3 detergents and 2 disinfectants in triplicate required the preparation of 78 stainless steel coupons with either 1 hour attached or 24 hour biofilm population depending upon the study being conducted. Of the 78 coupons, 72 were used to test the treatment combinations, including controls, 3 were TVC swabbed to determine initial adherent population density and 3 were stained to determine initial total count for 1 hour attached populations or EPS density for 24 hour biofilm populations.

Six washed coupons with adherent populations of cells were placed in a sterile Petri dish. 25ml of a solution of detergent in WoSH was added and incubated at 20°C ± 0.5 °C for 20 minutes. The coupons were removed using tweezers and gently washed in 25ml WoSH, this was repeated 3 times to ensure removal of detergent.

The coupons were then placed into new sterile Petri dish and 25ml of a solution of disinfectant was added and incubated at $20^{\circ}C \pm 0.5^{\circ}C$ for 5 minutes. The coupons

were removed using tweezers and gently washed in 25ml WoSH, this was repeated 3 times to ensure removal of disinfectant.

Of the six coupons used for each treatment, the upper surface of three of the coupons was vigorously swabbed using a sterile swab stick in Ringer's solution and vortexed in 10ml Ringer's solution to resuspend cells. 3 x 100µl of swabbed, resuspended cells was removed, serial dilutions carried out and TVC measured using spread plating. The remaining 3 coupons were air dried and stained for microscopic analysis as detailed below with acridine orange or calcofluor white.

Three control groups were used. The first was WoSH only, whereby the detergent and disinfectant steps were replaced with 25 ml WoSH. The second control group was detergent only, whereby the detergent steps were replaced with 25 ml WoSH. The third control group was disinfectant only, whereby the disinfectant steps were replaced with 25 ml WoSH.

2.8 Staining of Adherent Populations

2.8.1 Acridine Orange

Acridine orange was used to stain populations of bacteria adhered to stainless steel. Once stained, enumeration of attached populations was achieved via fluorescent microscopy. A total of 30mg acridine orange powder was added to 10ml water, vortexing was used to dissolve the powder. Solutions were wrapped in foil and stored at room temperature with a shelf life of 1 week.

Acridine orange was used to stain populations of *E. coli* and *L. monocytogenes* adhered to stainless steel coupons. The stain binds to DNA within the cells and is viewed using direct epifluorescent microscopy. Combined with calcofluor white, a dual staining method can be used to differentiate between cells and EPS.

Coupons of 1 hour attached and 24 hour biofilm populations of *E. coli* and *L. monocytogenes* were air dried before staining. Immersion in 3mg ml⁻¹ acridine orange solution with a contact time of 10 minutes was carried out. Stained coupons were removed from the acridine orange solution and gently washed in Ringer's solution until all excess stain was removed. Coupons were then air dried before being attached, using nail varnish, to microscope slides for viewing under a fluorescent microscope at x 1000 magnification.

Acridine orange stained cells fade rapidly during UV exposure. For dual staining with calcofluor white it is important to complete the calcofluor staining procedure prior to staining with acridine orange.

Three controls were used. The first was a clean coupon, stained with acridine orange. The second control was a clean coupon, rinsed in Ringer's solution and stained with acridine orange. The third control was a clean coupon incubated in sterile attachment medium and stained with acridine orange.

2.8.2 Calcofluor White

Calcofluor white was used to stain the extracellular polysaccharide excreted by adherent populations of bacteria. This enabled measurements of changes to the EPS matrix of biofilm populations following treatment via fluorescent microscopy. A total of 10mg calcofluor white was added to 10ml water, gentle heating was used to dissolve the powder. Solutions were stored at room temperature and used within 24 hours.

Calcofluor white was used to stain populations of *E. coli* and *L. monocytogenes* adhered to stainless steel coupons. The stain binds to the EPS matrix surrounding the cells and is viewed using direct epifluorescent microscopy. Combined with acridine orange, a dual staining method can be used to differentiate between cells and EPS.

Coupons of 1 hour attached and 24 hour biofilm populations of *E. coli* and *L. monocytogenes* were air dried and then immersed in 1mg ml⁻¹ calcofluor white solution for 60 seconds. Stained coupons were removed from the calcofluor white solution and gently washed in Ringer's solution until all excess stain was removed. Coupons were then air dried before being attached, using nail varnish, to microscope slides for viewing under a fluorescent microscope at x 1000 magnification.

Calcofluor white stained cells fade rapidly during UV exposure. For dual staining with acridine orange it is important to complete the calcofluor staining procedure prior to staining with acridine orange.

Three controls were used. The first was a clean coupon, stained with calcofluor white. The second control was a clean coupon, rinsed in Ringer's solution and stained with calcofluor white. The third control was a clean coupon incubated in sterile attachment medium and stained with calcofluor white.

2.9 Direct Microscopic Analysis

2.9.1 Microscope Settings for Stained Coupons

Direct epifluorescent microscopy of stained, surface adhered populations was conducted at x1000 magnification using the following settings, equipment and software.

A Spot RT Color camera from Diagnostic Instruments Inc., Michigan, USA was mounted upon a Nikon 'Eclipse' ME600 fluorescent microscope from Nikon Corp., Tokoyo, Japan. Images were gathered using Spot Capture[®] Version 4.0.2 from Diagnostic Instruments Inc., Michigan, USA and analysed using Image Pro Plus[®] Version 4.5.1 from Media Cybernetics Inc., Maryland, USA.

Image Pro Plus [®] Software Settir	ισς·			
Calibration > Spatial				
Name:	100x			
Unit:	um			
Pixels/Unit:				
X:	13.71450950			
Y:	13 71450950			
Aspect Ratio:	1			
Origin (Pixels):				
X:	0			
Y:	0			
Angle Offset:	0			
Count / Size:				
All Classes Selected:	Automatic Bright			
Measure Objects:	Yes			
Apply Filter Ranges:	Yes			
Accumulate Count:	No			
Options:				
4-Connect:	Yes			
8-Connect:	No			
Smoothing:	0			
Pre-Filter:	No			
Fill Holes:	No			
Convex Hull:	No			
Clean Borders:	None			
Data Collector:				
Automatic Collection:	Yes			
Data List:	Pooled area (values) data exported to Excel in clump worksheet.			
Statistics:	Sum, area (values) for direct count Excel worksheet.			
Layout:	Count/Size, Area (Values).			
Export:				
Data List:	Yes			
Statistics:	No			
With column headers:	Yes			
With row headers:	Yes			
To:	Excel (DDE)			
Spot Capture [®] Software Settings	3:			
Filter Colour:	RGB			
Binning:	None			
Area:	Full Chip			
Gamma:	1.95			
Exposure Times:				
Red:	240			
Green:	240			
Blue:	10			
Gain:	8			
Filter:	B-2A			

2.9.2 1 Hour Attached Populations

Total counts were obtained via direct microscopic analysis for each treatment combination used against attached *E. coli* and *L. monocytogenes*. Direct total counts of treated populations were recorded using Spot Capture[®] software and ImagePro Plus[®] analysis software. Each coupon was imaged in 6 predefined locations, measured in mm from the top left corner of the coupon to the centre of the current image with the following x, y coordinates: 2×2.5 , 4×2.5 , 6×2.5 , 2×5.5 , 4×5.5 and 6×5.5 . Images were analysed to identify the total area covered by cells, the data was then transformed into cells cm⁻² by calculating the average size of 10 groups of 5 - 20 individually identifiable cells within each image. This was required because different treatments resulted in different apparent cell sizes after staining.

2.9.3 24 Hour Biofilm Populations

Direct total counts for biofilms of *E. coli* and *L. monocytogenes* were not obtainable due to the dense layering of cells and EPS on the coupons. Instead the density of EPS was assessed via staining with calcofluor white, to assess disruption of the polymeric matrix after detergent and/or disinfectant treatments.

Image intensity of treated populations was recorded to determine density of EPS using Spot Capture[®] software and ImagePro Plus[®] analysis software. Additional, untreated controls were measured as a baseline to determine the effects of each treatment, including the WoSH controls. Each coupon was imaged in 6 predefined locations, measured in mm from the top left corner of the coupon to the centre of the current image with the following x, y coordinates: 2×2.5 , 4×2.5 , 6×2.5 , 2×5.5 , 4×5.5 and 6×5.5 . EPS density was measured using arbitrary brightness values from 1 (black) to 200 (white) for each pixel, 4.1×10^6 per image, allowing a single mean intensity, inferred as EPS density, per image to be calculated.

2.10 Detergent Induced Expression of Stress Response Proteins; HSP60 and HSP70

The expression of the stress response proteins, HSP60 and HSP70, in *E. coli* strain 453 after treatment with water of standard hardness, Nec28 or 91/4 was assessed. Three population types were tested, suspended, 1 hour attached and 24 hour biofilm to determine if the different states had an impact on detergent mediated stress response protein expression. Induction of stress response for the positive control was achieved by heating a population of cells at 50°C for 20 minutes.

Whole cell lysate was prepared to an approximate total protein yield of 10mg ml⁻¹. This was achieved by starting with 10ml of approximately 10⁷ cells. The cells were washed in 10 ml of PBS and spun at 400 x g for 10 minutes. The supernatant was discarded and the wash step repeated. Following the second wash step, the supernatant was completely removed and the cell pellet resuspend via vortexing in 1 ml of cold Lysis Buffer (50nM Tris-HCl, pH 8.0, 150mM NaCl, 1% NP-40).

The sample was stored on ice for 30 minutes, with occasional mixing. After 30 minutes the cell lysate was centrifuged at 10,000 x g for 15 minutes at 4°C. Following centrifugation the supernatant was collected without disturbing the pellet and transferred to a clean ependorf tube, the pellet was discarded.

 10μ l of lysate was transferred to a clean ependorf tube. 10μ l of loading buffer and 1μ l of beta mercaptoethanol was added. The solution was then heated at 70°C for 2 minutes before being placed on ice.

A standard 12% separation gel, 5% loading gel, was prepared, loaded with lysate and run to separate proteins by molecular weight. The molecular weight markers used were Bio-Rad code: 161-0318, 7.1 kDa - 208 kDa.

A standard Western Blot was conducted using Burnette's (1981) methodology. Rabbit Anti-Hsp60 Polyconal Antibody (SPA-805) and Mouse Anti-HSP70 Monoclonal Antibody (SPA-810) provided by Stressgen Bioreagents, Victoria, Canada, were used to identify the presence and quantity of HSP60 and HSP70 within each sample respectively. A scanning densitometer was used to obtain intensity values for each band.

2.11 Statistical Analysis

GenStat[®] 9th edition version 9.2.0.152 was used to analyse all data. One-way analysis of variance was used to determine statistical variations for most experiments. The data for the detergent, disinfectant interaction experiments within chapters 4 and 5 (*L. monocytogenes* and *E. coli* respectively) was analysed using a multifactorial regression analyses. This was required to normalise the data and allow for day to day variations that may otherwise have obscured detergent, disinfectant interactions upon 1 hour attached and 24 hour biofilm populations of cells.

3.0 Preliminary Experimentation

3.1 Introduction

The purpose of this chapter is to detail the relevant preliminary experimental work that had a direct bearing on results and data gathering, as described in the *Listeria monocytogenes* and *Escherichia coli* results chapters. This includes essential method development as well as describing promising methods that were rejected after evaluation. Identification, practical assessment and refinement of methodology to measure the interaction between detergents and disinfectants upon suspended, 1-hour attached and 24-hour biofilm populations of bacteria was conducted, including the development of a stable, reproducible attachment and biofilm protocol.

3.2 Bismuth thiol Detergents

The effects of novel bismuth thiol detergents on suspensions of *E. coli* strains 400, 453, 467 and O157:H7 pSB311 and *L. monocytogenes* strains 166, 359 and 367 was assessed. Experimental data was collected for short contact time biocidal effects, minimum inhibitory concentrations and inducible tolerance over time. The detergents BisTOL and BisEDT were identified for use within this study as conforming to the requirements for use within the food industry; little/no odour or taste which might taint food flavours and no toxicological effects as determined in mice studies (Domenico, 1998). Preliminary data to determine any bacteriostatic and biocidal properties of the bismuth thiols was required to develop and understand the interaction of these compounds with *E. coli* and *L. monocytogenes* strains.

3.2.1 Short Contact Time Effects of Bismuth Thiols

Short term exposure to the bismuth thiols, BisTOL and BisEDT was assessed for all *E. coli* and all *L. monocytogenes* strains to determine immediate effects the compounds have upon the different strains. The effect on suspended populations of

contact times of 5 minutes and 20 minutes, for concentrations of $10\mu g$ (in use concentration) and $20\mu g$ ml⁻¹ bismuth thiol, was investigated. Quenching was achieved via serial dilution due to conventional quenching agents being detergents.



Fig. 3.1: Short contact time biocidal effect of bismuth thiol detergents over 5 and 20 minutes at concentrations of $10\mu g$ ml⁻¹ and $20\mu g$ ml⁻¹.

The results in fig. 3.1 shows that for BisEDT after 5 and 20 minutes contact time, at both 10 and 20 μ g ml⁻¹ there was no detectable differences in viable population for any strain of *E. coli* or *L. monocytogenes*. No change in viable population was seen at a concentration of 10 μ g ml⁻¹ BisTOL, whereas with a concentration of 20 μ g ml⁻¹ over 20 minutes the viable population of all 4 strains of *E. coli* were observed to fall. Strains 0157:H7 pSB311 and 453 were shown to have a slight reduction in viability of approximately 0.5 log, whereas strains 400 and 467 had a loss of viability greater than 1.5 log and 2 log respectively.

3.2.2 Minimum Inhibitory Concentrations of Bismuth Thiols

Long term exposure to bismuth thiols was investigated to provide minimum inhibitory concentration data. This was required to determine if low level residues of bismuth thiols, for example that may accumulate in drains, has any effects upon viability and growth of *E. coli* and *L. monocytogenes* strains. The effects of long term exposure were recorded as MIC in μ g ml⁻¹ of bismuth thiol in TSB at 37°C after 24 and 48 hours. Presence or absence of turbidity was used to determine if a concentration inhibited growth after the allotted time.



Fig. 3.2: Minimum inhibitory concentrations of bismuth thiol detergents measured over 24 and 48 hours after treatment after an inoculation with 100µl of overnight culture.

Differences in MIC were observed between strains and duration of contact. In fig. 3.2 the results for *E. coli* O157:H7 pSB311 show an MIC of 7.5 μ g ml⁻¹ for BisTOL after 24 and 48 hours contact, for BisEDT an MIC of 7.5 μ g ml⁻¹ was seen after 24 hours but by 48 hours the MIC had risen to 12.5 μ g ml⁻¹. The results for *E*.

coli strain 400 show inhibition for BisTOL and BisEDT after 24 and 48 hours to be consistently at 12.5µg ml⁻¹. After 24 hours with both BisTOL and BisEDT an MIC of 7.5µg ml⁻¹ was recorded for strain 453, by 48 hours the MIC had risen to 12.5µg ml⁻¹. The MIC of BisTOL against strain 467 was seen to be consistently 12.5µg ml⁻¹, whereas for BisEDT after 24 hours the MIC was 7.5µg ml⁻¹ but by 48 hours the MIC was seen to have risen to be 22.5µg ml⁻¹.

No changes in inhibition were seen between 24 and 48 hours for all 3 strains of *L. monocytogenes* in BisTOL or BisEDT. Strain 166 was inhibited by concentrations of BisTOL of 2.5μ g ml⁻¹, while strains 359 and 367 were inhibited at 7.5μ g ml⁻¹. When treated with BisEDT, strains 166 and 359 were inhibited by 2.5μ g ml⁻¹ while strain 367 was inhibited at 7.5μ g ml⁻¹.

3.2.3 Inducible Tolerance Against Bismuth Thiols

E. coli strain 453 was chosen to identify tolerance/resistance to BisTOL and *E. coli* strain 467 was chosen to identify tolerance/resistance to BisEDT due to previous observations in fig. 3.2 which suggested inducible tolerance might be occurring. 100µl of an overnight culture of each strain was inoculated into a doubling dilution series of the respective bismuth thiol (10ml TSB with $1.25 - 40 \ \mu g \ ml^{-1}$ bismuth thiol) and incubated at 37°C for 24 hours. Turbidity was noted as present or absent and a new set of doubling dilution bismuth thiols in TSB was inoculated with 100µl from the turbid culture with the highest concentration of bismuth thiol. This was repeated for a total of 8 subsequent passages.



Fig. 3.3: Increased tolerance to bismuth thiol detergents for *E. coli* strain 453 for BisTOL and strain 467 for BisEDT after 7 passages from the previously highest turbid concentration of bismuth thiol.

Fig. 3.3 shows that increasing tolerance to bismuth thiol detergents is possible through successive passage as measured by turbidity after 24 hours at 37°C. The results for BisTOL against strain 453 show that tolerance increased from an initial MIC of $5\mu g$ ml⁻¹ for the first and second passage to an MIC of $7.5\mu g$ ml⁻¹. This showed an overall 1.5 fold increase in tolerance to BisTOL over 8 days continuous exposure.

The results for BisEDT against strain 467 shows that the initial MIC for the first passage was $2.5\mu g$ ml⁻¹, the second passage had an MIC of $7.5\mu g$ ml⁻¹. The third and fourth subsequent passages had an MIC of $12.5\mu g$ ml⁻¹, the fifth and sixth passages had an MIC of $17.5\mu g$ ml⁻¹ and the final two passages were shown to have an MIC of $22.5\mu g$ ml⁻¹. This showed an overall 9 fold increase in tolerance to BisEDT over 8 days continuous exposure.

3.3 Non-ionic and Anionic Detergents

Assessments of the non-ionic detergents 91/4 and KCL5 and the anionic detergents LX28 and Nec28 were conducted on suspended populations of *E. coli* and *L. monocytogenes* strains to determine any biocidal effects over short contact times and biocidal or biostatic effects during long duration contact times. The results for all detergents against all strains of *E. coli* did not show any biocidal effects during short duration contact and no biostatic effects during long term contact with all four detergents.

3.3.1 Short Contact Time Effects of Detergents on L. monocytogenes Strains

Recommended in-use concentrations of the non-ionic detergents 91/4 and KCL5 (0.1% v/v) and the anionic detergents LX28 and Nec28 (0.2% v/v) were assessed for biocidal effects after 5 and 20 minutes contact time against *L. monocytogenes* strains 166, 359 and 367.



Fig. 3.4: Short contact time biocidal effect of non-ionic and anionic detergents over 5 and 20 minutes contact time at concentrations of 0.1% v/v and 0.2% v/v respectively.

Treatment with the non-ionic detergents 91/4 and KCL5, fig. 3.4, did not noticeably reduce the viable count of strains 166, 359 and 367. Treatment with the

anionic detergent Nec28 of the *L. monocytogenes* strains did not appear to alter viable counts after 5 minutes contact time but did appear to reduce the viable count of strain 166 and 367 after 20 minutes contact time.

The anionic detergent LX28 was seen to reduce the viable count of all 3 strains of *L. monocytogenes* after 5 and 20 minutes contact time. The results for strain 166 show a reduced viable count by over 4.3 log after 5 minutes contact, by 20 minutes the viable counts had been reduced to zero. Strain 359 was seen to have a reduction in viable count by just over 1.1 log after 5 minutes contact and nearly 4.2 log after 20 minutes contact. The results for strain 367 in fig. 3.4 show that a loss of viability greater than 2.5 log was seen after 5 minutes contact with LX28 and by 20 minutes contact a loss of viability greater than 6.2 log was observed, resulting in almost total kill.

3.3.2 24 and 48 Hour Contact Time Effects of Detergents on L.

monocytogenes Strains

Long term exposure of *L. monocytogenes* to non-ionic and anionic detergents was assessed. 100µl of overnight culture of each strain was inoculated into 100ml TSB containing either in use or 10 x in use concentrations of detergents. The cultures were incubated at 37°C, for 24 and 48 hours. The presence or absence of turbidity and the presence or absence of viable cells was recorded to determine possible bacteriostatic and biocidal activities.

gent			24 Hours		48 Hours	
Deterg Concentrat	Concentra	Strain	Viable cells	Turbidity	Viable cells	Turbidity
1/4		166	+	-	+	-
6	0.1%	359	+	-	+	+
		367	+	-	+	-
		166	+	-	+	-
	1%	359	+	-	+	+
		367	+	-	+	-
IL5		166	+	+	+	+
K C	0.1%	359	+	+	+	+
		367	+	+	+	+
	1%	166	+	+	+	+
		359	+	+	+	+
		367	+	+	+	+
K28		166	-	-	-	-
TX	0.2%	359	-	-	-	-
		367	-	-	-	-
		166	-	-	-	-
	2%	359	-	-	-	-
		367	-	-	-	-
c28	0.2%	166	+	+	+	+
Neo		359	+	+	+	+
		367	+	+	+	+
	2%	166	+	+	+	+
		359	+	+	+	+
		367	+	+	+	+
Control		+	+	+	+	

Table 3.1: Long term effects against *L. monocytogenes* strains 166, 359 and 367 of the non-ionic detergents 91/4 and KCL5 and the anionic detergents LX28 and Nec28 at in use, and 10 x in use concentrations in TSB, after 24 and 48 hours.

The results for the non-ionic detergent 91/4 show that at both concentrations a bacteriostatic effect was observed for all strains after 24 hours. By 48 hours, bacteriostasis was still apparent against strains 166 and 367 while strain 359 was seen to be multiplying in the presence of both 0.1% and 1% 91/4. All strains, when exposed to the non-ionic detergent, KCL5, grew at concentrations of 0.1% and 1% after 24 hours.

After 24 hours, no surviving cells for any strain were recorded after exposure to the anionic detergent LX28. The second anionic detergent Nec28 was not shown to exhibit any inhibitory effects, with all strains seen to be turbid after 24 hours for both 0.2% and 2% detergent concentrations.

3.4 Bioluminescence as a Measure of Stress upon Populations of Cells

Bioluminescence, measured as relative light units (RLU), was investigated as a tool to quantify sub-lethal detergent and disinfectant effects upon metabolism and activity of attached and biofilm cells *in situ*.

Initial data for attached populations of the bioluminescent bacterium, *E. coli* O157:H7 pSB311 resulted in large variations of RLU for the same sample over time. RLU data was collected for suspended populations of cells to identify how RLU varies over time and with different starting population densities.



Fig. 3.5: RLU against sampling time after pipetting of 1ml into a Biotrace cuvette of an approximated concentration of suspended *E. coli* O157:H7 pSB311 to demonstrate the changes in RLU as a measure of population size due to variations in RLU measurements for the same population density over time.

Figure 3.5 demonstrates why bioluminescence is unsuitable as a measure of viable population size following treatment. The simple procedure of pipetting a culture of cells into a Biotrace cuvette was shown to result in RLU measurements that vary considerably on a second by second basis based on when a reading was taken. Additional experimental data provided by Betty Ogwaro (personal communication) showed that upon exposure to any environmental stressor, e.g. acid, detergents etc, RLU output ceased with a substantial lag time before RLU was once again detectable.

3.5 Attachment and Biofilm Formation

Reproducible 1-hour attachment and 24-hour biofilm formation for all *E. coli* and *L. monocytogenes* strains at room temperature was required in order to conduct detergent / disinfectant synergy trials upon adherent populations of cells. Experiments using various conditions for attachment and biofilm formation were conducted to determine an optimal, reproducible methodology that was deemed to simulate possible conditions found within food processing plants, i.e. high nutrient availability following a spillage that results in consistent adherent populations of each species and strain followed by more limiting nutrient availability during biofilm formation.



Plate 3.1: 3D topographical epifluorescent rendered image of a typical 1-hour attached population of *E. coli* strain 453 at x 1000 magnification, stained with acridine orange and calcofluor white on stainless steel to differentiate between cells (orange) and EPS (blue) respectively.



Plate 3.2: 3D topographical epifluorescent rendered image of a typical 24-hour biofilm population of *E. coli* strain 453 at x 1000 magnification, stained with acridine orange and calcofluor white on stainless steel to differentiate between cells (orange) and EPS (blue) respectively.

Plates 3.1 and 3.2 are representative of the typical appearance of 1-hour attached and 24-hour biofilm populations of cells. Generalised morphological differences between *L. monocytogenes* and *E. coli* attached and biofilm populations were not apparent other than cell size, therefore plates of the former have not been reproduced here. Dual staining with acridine orange and calcofluor white was used to differentiate between cells and extra cellular polysaccharide (EPS). Acridine orange binds strongly to DNA rendering the cells visible as orange rods while calcofluor white binds to polymeric matrices, such as the sugars that form EPS, rendering them blue. This provides easy differentiation between cellular and extracellular material present in a biofilm and enables observation of some of the complex multilayering and channels seen within biofilm populations.

3.6 Discussion

The bismuth thiol detergent, BisTOL, at a concentration of $20\mu g$ ml⁻¹ (twice the in use concentration of $10\mu g$ ml⁻¹) was shown to exhibit biocidal properties after 20 minutes contact time when used against *E. coli* strains 400 and 467 and to a lesser extent strains 453 and O157:H7 pSB311. Bismuth thiols are known to disrupt EPS production and *in situ* EPS (Domenico, 1998), although no specific data is available to describe possible biocidal activity, for example if the detergent affects cellular permeability. Identifying the mode of action involved with cell death seen against strains 400 and 467 could provide data that would enable the development of improved bismuth thiol detergents, designed to further enhance cleaning and disinfection regimes via additional killing of bacterial cells. One possible mode of action that can be linked to disruption of EPS surrounding the cells is lysis due to changing osmotic pressure as the EPS is broken down (Domenico, 1998).

Bismuth thiols were shown to possess a secondary desirable mode of action, growth inhibition, which can help reduce colonisation and multiplication of organisms within common risk areas within factories, e.g. drains. Concentrations as low as 5µg ml⁻¹ of bismuth thiol inhibited bacterial growth within TSB; the presence of organic material, as found within growth media, has been shown to reduce the effectiveness and inactivate many detergents and disinfectants (Fraise, 1999; Aarnisalo et al., 2000; Augustin et al., 2004). During prolonged treatment, inhibition of growth was initially seen at concentrations below 10µg ml⁻¹ for 24 hours for the majority of strains tested. However, by 48 hours contact time, growth was observed within previously inhibitory concentrations of bismuth thiols, this may be due to degradation of the compounds or possibly inducible tolerance. Inducible tolerance to bismuth thiols was then shown to be acquired through prolonged exposure, the results for strain 467 treated with BisEDT showed that tolerance increased by a factor of 9 after 8 day's exposure to gradually increasing concentrations. Locations within factories, e.g. drains, wall/floor joints and cracks, with greater risk of persistent biofouling are possible sites of acquired tolerance to bismuth thiols as suggested by these results. Possible mechanisms involved with inducible tolerance may include selection for increased efflux efficiency or decreased permeability to the agent as reviewed by Prakash et al. (2003), although it is also possible that over time the EPS disruption and inhibition may be overcome through adaptation. Although not tested, the stability of the tolerance could be determined by removal of the bismuth thiol challenge via subculturing the tolerant population for a number of generations and then re-exposing the population to the bismuth thiol. If different bismuth thiols exhibit differing modes of action then by combining two or more bismuth thiols within a cleaning product, the risk of acquired tolerance would be reduced. Broader spectrum biocidal activity

against a range of bacterial species should also be possible by combining multiple bismuth thiols in a single product (Domenico, 1998).

It was hoped that bioluminescent E. coli O157:H7 pSB311 could be used to obtain real time, in situ measurements of detergent and disinfectant activity. Previous studies have used bioluminescent strains of both L. monocytogenes and E. coli O157:H7 as markers to determine survival of inoculum in foods (Hudsen et al., 1997; Ramsaran et al., 1998). However, it was discovered that RLU measurements were unreliable; with rapidly increasing measurements occurring for up to 17 minutes after a suspension of cells had been simply transferred into a Biotrace cuvette. The comparison of RLU to TVC suggests that the difference seen for RLU could equate to a change in excess of 1 log TVC, with greater inaccuracies for lower population densities, therefore it was decided that the variation observed with RLU measurements was too great to be of use during this study. Betty Ogwaro (personal communication), also demonstrated that after challenge with any chemical, including detergents, disinfectant, acids, alkalis and also environmental challenges such as heating or cooling, light production was halted and did not resume within viable populations for up to 2 hours following the challenge. Within the literature, similar results where luciferase was utilised as a 'real time' marker were observed by Lehtinen et al., (2003), following exposure to differing concentrations of ethanol, whereby the first reliable reading obtained was taken 40 minutes following exposure.

The reproducible 1-hour attachment and 24-hour biofilm models shown in plates 3.1 and 3.2 were achieved after considerable refinement of attachment and biofilm formation conditions. The choice of medium for forming a complex biofilm population after initial attachment was seen to be particularly important. Media tested included supernatant, different broth types and different broth concentrations, always
at 20°C. The final choice of 1/10 strength TSB was used because it was discovered that higher concentrations resulted in considerable sloughing of cells into the medium and a much less complex biofilm being formed, while lower concentrations and supernatant did not contain adequate nutrients to allow for sufficient cell multiplication and EPS production.

Acridine orange and calcofluor white were chosen after considering other alternative staining methods such as DAPI. Acridine orange was found to consistently produce good quality stains of attached populations without the complication of extracellular material or attachment surface being stained. During analysis, although the stain degraded, the rate of degradation was slow enough to allow for multiple image cross-sections of attached populations to be sampled. Calcofluor white was also chosen because as with acridine orange, degradation was slow enough during analysis to sample multiple cross-sections. Also during preliminary experimentation, where known concentrations of starch was dried onto coupons, with or without the addition of detergents, it was shown that the image intensity recorded for calcofluor white was directly proportional to the concentration of starch present, which was analogous to the density of EPS present after biofilm formation.

4.0 Effects of Treatments on *Listeria monocytogenes*

4.1 Introduction

The identification of synergistic relationships between specific detergents and disinfectants, with regards to the removal and killing of surface adhered, 1-hour attached and 24-hour biofilm populations of *L. monocytogenes*, will lead to the development of improved cleaning and disinfecting regimes within chilled food processing environments.

All of the TVC results throughout this chapter have been standardised to use the experiments negative control as the zero value for the x-axis on the following graphs. Each graph represents experimentation conducted on multiple days, the standardised data was analysed using multifactorial regression analysis to normalise day to day variation. The inherent variability of adherent populations' meant that no specific population density is stated for each experiment. A treatment value below zero shows a reduction in viable count while a value greater than zero shows an increase in viable count compared to the negative control, the latter does not represent proliferation of the population, merely a greater proportion of viable cells remaining adhered following the treatments compared to the water only negative control treatment.

As detailed in the Materials and Methods chapter, the term 'Attached' refers to a population of *L. monocytogenes* that has been adhered to an 8mm x 8mm stainless steel coupon for 1-hour. The term 'Biofilm' refers to a one hour attached population of *L. monocytogenes* that has then established a biofilm over 24-hours, as described in the Materials and Methods chapter.

4.2 Effect of Detergents on the Viability of Suspensions of L. monocytogenes

Preliminary experimentation, as described in 3.3.1, was repeated using controlled experimental procedures to determine statistical significances using ANOVA. Biocidal effects of industrially recommended, in use, concentrations of detergents were determined on 100 μ l suspensions of *L. monocytogenes* in 9.9ml detergent in WoSH for strains 166, 359 and 367. Detergent activity was compared to a negative control (zero on the x-axis) in which detergent solutions were substituted with WoSH. Two detergent contact times were used, 20 minutes as recommended to the industry and 5 minutes to identify any rapid biocidal effects.

The results in fig. 4.1 show a significant loss of viability (P < 0.01) was identified for suspensions of *L. monocytogenes* treated with the anionic detergent LX28, after 5 and 20 minute contact times. Strain 359 was observed to be significantly less sensitive (P < 0.01) to LX28 than either strain 166 or 367. A significant (P < 0.05) loss of viability was noted for the second anionic detergent, Nec28, for all 3 strains after 20 minutes contact time, however no significant loss was seen after 5 minutes contact time. Strain 359 was observed to be less sensitive (P < 0.05) to Nec28 than either strain 166 or 367. The two bismuth thiol and the two non-ionic detergents did not demonstrate any significant effects upon the viability of suspended *L. monocytogenes* strains.



Fig. 4.1: Mean loss of viability after 5 and 20 minute contact times with detergent treatments for approximately $1 \times 10^7 L$. *monocytogenes* suspended in WoSH at 20°C, shown as log TVC difference to a negative, water only control.

4.3 One Hour Attached Populations – Total Viable Counts

4.3.1 Effect of Detergent Only Treatments

The effect of industrially recommended, in use, concentrations of detergents was determined on one hour attached populations of *L. monocytogenes* strains 166, 359 and 367. This was used to determine the degree of killing and/or removal of the adherent population following treatment. Detergent activity was compared to a negative control (zero on the x-axis) in which detergent solutions were substituted with WoSH.

The results shown in fig. 4.2 for BisEDT and BisTOL do not show any significant change in viable count to the control treatment. Both non-ionic detergents, 91/4 and KCL5, and the anionic detergent Nec28, demonstrated a general trend towards a reduction in viable count against all 3 strains of *L. monocytogenes* with a significant (P <0.05) loss of viability observed for strain 359 when treated with

KCL5 and Nec28. The detergent, LX28, significantly (P <0.01) reduced the viable count of all 3 strains of *L. monocytogenes*.



Fig. 4.2: Mean loss of viability after 20 minute contact time with detergent treatments in WoSH for attached *L. monocytogenes* at 20°C, shown as log TVC difference to a negative, water only control.

4.3.2 Effect of Disinfectant Only Treatments

The effect of disinfectants, at concentrations of 0.01% for BAC and 0.0008% for NaDCC, previously identified to give $2 - 4 \log$ kill against *L. monocytogenes* in suspension, was determined against 1-hour attached populations of strains 166, 359 and 367 to measure the biocidal effects against biofilm populations. Disinfectant activity was compared to a negative control (zero on the x-axis) in which disinfectant solutions were substituted with WoSH. The industry recommended contact time of 5 minutes was used. The results are presented in figure 4.3.

Significant differences were observed in disinfectant sensitivity between strains. Strain 367 was significantly less sensitive to BAC (P < 0.05) when compared to strains 166 or 359. No significant difference in sensitivity to BAC between strains 166 and 359 was identified. Strain 359 was seen to be significantly more sensitive (P < 0.01) to NaDCC when compared to strains 166 and 367.



Fig. 4.3: Mean loss of viability after 5 minute contact time with disinfectant treatments in WoSH for attached *L. monocytogenes* at 20°C, shown as log TVC difference to a negative, water only control.

4.3.3 Effect of Detergent Followed by Disinfectant Treatments

The effect of combined detergent (industry recommended, in use, concentrations) and disinfectants, at concentrations of 0.01% for BAC and 0.0008% for NaDCC, previously identified to give $2 - 4 \log$ kill against *L. monocytogenes* in suspension, was determined against 1-hour attached populations of strains 166, 359 and 367. Treatment activity was compared to a negative control (zero on the x-axis) in which detergent and disinfectant solutions were substituted with water of standard hardness. The industry recommended contact times of 20 minutes for detergents and 5 minutes for disinfectants was used. Observed results were compared to expected results, where the expected results were calculated by combining the changes in TVC for individual detergent (fig. 4.2) and disinfectant (fig. 4.3) treatments to determine any interactions between detergent and disinfectant treatments. The data (fig. 4.4 and table 4.1) shows that significant differences occurred between both strains and treatments when treated with the disinfectant BAC. The only observed synergy (defined as a statistically greater than expected reduction in TVC compared to an additive effect of detergent and disinfectant treatments) with BAC was seen when BisTOL was used against strain 367 (P <0.01). As can be seen with the majority of treatments, all 6 detergents generally exhibited an antagonism (defined as a statistically lower than expected reduction in TVC compared to an additive effect of detergent and disinfectant treatments) against BAC which resulted in a significantly increased rate of survival than expected for all 3 strains of *Listeria*. Treatments against strain 359 were in general seen to result in a greater degree of antagonism than seen against strain 166 and 367.

The two bismuth thiol detergents were seen to have no effect against strain 166, significant (BisEDT: P <0.01, BisTOL: P <0.05) antagonisms against strain 359 and against strain 367, BisEDT demonstrated a significant (P <0.05) antagonism while BisTOL was seen to be significantly (P <0.01) synergistic. Against strains 359 and 367 both of the non-ionic detergents, 91/4 and KCL5, showed significant antagonisms (P <0.01), while against strain 166, 91/4 treatments were not seen to significantly differ from the expected results and KCL5 treatments resulted in a weakly significant antagonism (P <0.05).



Fig. 4.4: Mean loss of viability after 20 minute detergent treatment followed by 5 minute BAC treatment in WoSH for attached *L. monocytogenes* at 20°C, shown as expected (fig. 4.2 + fig. 4.3) and observed log TVC difference to a negative, water only control.

BAC	166	359	367
BisEDT	-0.177	-0.770	-0.291
BisTOL	-0.071	-0.308	0.625
91/4	-0.167	-1.035	-1.055
KCL5	-0.423	-1.297	-0.571
LX28	-1.784	-2.584	-1.693
Nec28	-1.132	-0.924	-0.744

Table 4.1: Synergies and antagonisms after 20 minute detergent treatment followed by 5 minute BAC treatment in WoSH for attached *L. monocytogenes* at 20°C. Differences to the expected additive results are presented as log TVC with significant synergies (P < 0.05), (P < 0.01) and antagonisms (P < 0.05), (P < 0.01).

In contrast, for NaDCC treatments many synergies can be observed (fig. 4.5 and table 4.2) in which 12 significant synergies (10: P <0.01, 2: P <0.05) were observed compared to 2 significant antagonisms (1: P <0.01, 1: P <0.05). Only Nec28 and BisTOL treatments were shown to present synergies against all 3 strains.

The summary of synergies and antagonisms in table 4.2 showed there to be large differences (> 2 log) between the 3 strains of *L. monocytogenes*. Treatments against

strain 166 showed 4 significant synergies (KCL5, LX28, Nec28: P <0.01, BisTOL: P <0.05), strain 359 showed 2 significant synergies (BisTOL, Nec28: P <0.01) and 2 significant antagonisms (LX28: P <0.01, BisEDT: P < 0.05) and against strain 367 all treatments were significantly synergistic (P <0.01, BisTOL: P <0.05). In general treatments used against strain 367 were seen to be more synergistic that treatments against strains 166 and 359.

Treatment with BisEDT showed no effect against strain 166, a weak significant (P <0.05) antagonism against strain 359 and a significant (P <0.01) synergy against strain 367. The results for BisTOL showed that significant synergies (166, 357: P <0.05, 359: P< 0.01) were seen against all 3 strains.

The non-ionic detergent, 91/4 showed no significant interaction when used against strains 166 and 359 and a significant (P <0.01) synergy against strain 367. The second non-ionic detergent, KCL5, was seen to be significantly (P <0.01) synergistic against strains 166 and 367, with no interaction observed against strain 359.

Significant synergies (P <0.01) were seen for both anionic detergents, LX28 and Nec28, against all 3 strains with the exception of LX28 when used against strain 359 which was seen to result in a significant (P <0.01) antagonism with NaDCC.



Fig. 4.5: Mean loss of viability after 20 minute detergent treatment followed by 5 minute NaDCC treatment in WoSH for attached *L. monocytogenes* at 20°C, shown as expected (fig. 4.2 +fig. 4.3) and observed log TVC difference to negative, water only control.

NaDCC	166	359	367
BisEDT	-0.028	-0.335	0.480
BisTOL	0.274	0.696	0.318
91/4	-0.046	0.157	0.527
KCL5	0.416	-0.158	0.547
LX28	0.952	-0.408	0.370
Nec28	1.103	0.997	1.776

Table 4.2: Synergies and antagonisms after 20 minute detergent treatment followed by 5 minute NaDCC treatment in WoSH for attached *L. monocytogenes* at 20°C. Differences to the expected additive results are presented as log TVC with significant synergies (P < 0.05), (P < 0.01) and antagonisms (P < 0.05), (P < 0.01).

4.3.4 Summary of Treatments for One Hour Attached Populations

The data in fig. 4.6 summarises two general trends with regards to antagonism and synergy. Exposing attached cells of *L. monocytogenes* to detergents prior to treatment with the disinfectant BAC was shown to result in antagonistic effects. Exposing cells to detergents prior to treatment with the disinfectant NaDCC was shown to result in synergistic effects. Generally treatment with the bismuth thiol detergents, BisEDT and BisTOL, did not demonstrate any significant changes in disinfectant sensitivity to either BAC or NaDCC. Treatment with either of the non-ionic detergents (91/4 and KCL5) showed trends towards antagonisms with BAC and no effect with NaDCC. The anionic detergents, LX28 and Nec28, showed a general trend of antagonistic effects with BAC and synergistic effects with NaDCC.



Fig. 4.6: Summary of the effectiveness on attached *L. monocytogenes* of the combined detergent/disinfectant treatments compiled by comparing the difference in viability to the sum of the single detergent and disinfectant treatments, shown as difference in log TVC.

4.4 One Hour Attached Populations – Direct Microscopic Counts

Direct counts were obtained for each treatment combination used against attached *L. monocytogenes* strains. Direct counting was used to determine if the effects seen while measuring TVC were removal and/or killing of bacteria.

Plate 4.1 shows typical slides of each *L. monocytogenes* strain after attaching for 1 hour to stainless steel coupons and staining with acridine orange. Direct counts of treated populations were recorded using Spot® capture software and ImagePro® analysis software. Each image was analysed to identify the area covered by cells, which was then transformed into cells cm⁻² from calculations of the average size of an individual cell within the image, as described in chapter 2. The direct count for strain 367 was seen to be significantly lower (P <0.05) than that observed for strains 166 and 359.



Plate 4.1: Typical 1 hour attachment in TSB for *L. monocytogenes* strains at 20°C on type 316 with 2B finish stainless steel coupons, stained with acridine orange at x 1000 magnification.

4.4.1 Effect of Detergent Only Treatments

Direct counts were obtained for each detergent treatment used against attached *L. monocytogenes* strains. Direct microscopic counting was used to determine if the TVC effects measured were removal and/or killing of bacteria.

The results in fig. 4.7 show that 91/4 and LX28 detergent only treatments had some removal effect against attached populations of all *L. monocytogenes* strains. Significant (P < 0.01) loss in total counts was observed with the non-ionic detergent 91/4 (0.45 log – 0.61 log) and the anionic detergent LX28 (0.43 log – 0.81 log). A significant loss (P < 0.05) in total count was also seen with BisTOL against strain 367. Significant increases (P < 0.05) in total count were observed for strain 359 when treated with BisEDT, KCL5 and Nec28 and also for strain 367 when treated with BisEDT.



Fig. 4.7: Mean total count after 20 minute contact time with detergent treatments in WoSH for attached *L. monocytogenes* at 20°C, shown as log total count difference to a negative, water only control.

4.4.2 Effect of Disinfectant Only Treatments

Direct counts were obtained for each disinfectant treatment used against attached *L. monocytogenes* strains. Direct microscopic counting was used to determine if the TVC effects measured were removal and/or killing of bacteria.

The results shown in fig. 4.8 demonstrate that disinfectants do not effect removal of attached cells. The disinfectant treatment NaDCC against strain 359 was however significant (P <0.05), with an increase in total count compared to the water only control.



Fig. 4.8: Mean total count after 5 minute contact time with disinfectant in WoSH treatments for attached *L. monocytogenes* at 20°C, shown as log total count difference to a negative, water only control.

4.4.3 Effect of Detergent Followed by Disinfectant Treatments

Direct counts were obtained for each detergent, disinfectant treatment combination used against attached *L. monocytogenes* strains. Direct microscopic counting was used to determine if the TVC effects measured were removal and/or killing of bacteria.

The results presented in fig. 4.9 show that, although not significant for every treatment, in all but one case (LX28:367) each observed treatment resulted in more than the expected number of bacterial cells to remain adhered to the stainless steel surface. Nine of the treatments in fig. 4.9 showed significantly (2: P <0.01, 7: P <0.05) more cells than expected remained adhered to the surface.

With the bismuth thiol treatments, only BisTOL against 367 did not show a significant difference to the water only control. All of the other five bismuth thiol treatments were seen to have significantly (P < 0.01) more cells adhered to the surface than for the water only control.

The results for the non-ionic detergents show that observed 91/4 treatments did not significantly differ to the control for strains 359 and 367 but did show a small significant (P <0.05) loss in total count against strain 166. KCL5 was seen to have significantly (166, 367: P <0.05, 359: P <0.01) more cells adhered to the surface than the water only control treatment.

The anionic detergent LX28 was observed to effect significantly (P < 0.05) lower total counts against strains 166 and 367 but no significant change in total count against strain 359. The second anionic detergent, Nec28, had significantly (P < 0.05) more cells compared to the water only control for strains 166 and 359 and no significant change in total count against strain 367.



Fig. 4.9: Mean total count after 20 minute detergent treatment followed by 5 minute BAC treatment in WoSH for attached *L. monocytogenes* at 20°C, shown as expected (fig. 4.7 +fig. 4.8) and observed log total count difference to a negative, water only control.

The results for the disinfectant NaDCC are presented in fig. 4.10. Eight of the treatments showed no significant changes in total count to the water only control. The detergent treatment, 91/4, was the only treatment to differ significantly (P < 0.01) from the expected counts, with each treatment having fewer than expected cells adhered to the surface. Strain 359 was seen to have the only significantly (P < 0.01, BisTOL: P <0.05) increased total counts in comparison to the water only control when treated with BisEDT, BisTOL, KCL5 and Nec28.

The results for the bismuth thiol detergents showed no significant change in total count against strains 166 and 367. Against strain 359 treatment with BisEDT (P <0.01) or BisTOL (P <0.05) were seen to cause significantly more cells to remain adhered to the surface than the control.

The results for the non-ionic detergent 91/4 show that against all 3 strains of *L*. *monocytogenes* a significantly (P <0.01) reduced total count was observed. The second non-ionic detergent, KCL5, demonstrated no significant change in total count against strains 166 and 367 and a significant (P < 0.01) increase in total count compared to the control against strain 359.

For the anionic detergent LX28, significant reductions in total count were shown against strains 166 (P <0.01) and 367 (P <0.05), while against strain 359 no significant change in total count occurred. Results for the second anionic detergent, Nec28, showed a significant (P <0.01) increase in total count compared to the control for strain 359 and no significant changes in total count against strains 166 and 367.



Fig. 4.10: Mean total count after 20 minute detergent treatment followed by 5 minute NaDCC treatment in WoSH for attached *L. monocytogenes* at 20°C, shown as expected (fig. 4.7 + fig. 4.8) and observed log total count difference to a negative, water only control.

4.4.4 Summary of Treatments for One Hour Attached Populations

The data in fig. 4.11 summarises the observed antagonisms and synergies seen for direct count data. Generally, exposing attached cells of *L. monocytogenes* to any detergents prior to treatment with either disinfectant was seen to result in antagonistic effects, resulting in more cells remaining adhered to the surface than expected. The

one notable exception was treatment with 91/4 followed by NaDCC which was seen to significantly (P < 0.01) reduce the total cell count remaining on the coupon for all 3 strains.



Fig. 4.11: Summary of the effectiveness on attached L. monocytogenes of the combined

detergent/disinfectant treatments compiled by comparing the difference in total count to the sum of the single detergent and disinfectant treatments, shown as difference in log total count.

4.5 24 Hour Biofilm Populations – Total Viable Counts

4.5.1 Effect of Detergent Only Treatments

The effect of industrially recommended, in use, concentrations of detergents was determined on 24 hour biofilm populations of *L. monocytogenes* strains 166, 359 and 367. This was used to determine the degree of killing and/or removal of the adherent population following treatment. Detergent activity was compared to a negative control (zero on the x-axis) in which detergent solutions were substituted with water of standard hardness.

The results (fig. 4.12) show that both bismuth thiols (BisEDT and BisTOL) demonstrated a statistically higher than expected viable count for strain 359 (P <0.01). The non-ionic detergents (KCL5 and 91/4) did not show any statistical differences to the control. The anionic detergent LX28 demonstrated a significant (P <0.01) reduction in viable count against strains 166 and 367 but not against strain 359, whereas the anionic detergent Nec28, although not statistically significant, can be seen to slightly reduce the viable count of all 3 strains of *Listeria*. For most treatments, strain differences were shown when comparing 359 with 166 and 367, whereby strain 359 had a generally higher viable count.



Fig. 4.12: Mean loss of viability after 20 minute contact time with detergent treatments in WoSH for biofilm *L. monocytogenes* at 20°C, shown as log TVC difference to a negative, water only control.

4.5.2 Effect of Disinfectant Only Treatments

The effect of disinfectants, at concentrations of 0.01% for BAC and 0.0008% for NaDCC, previously identified to give $2 - 4 \log$ kill against *L. monocytogenes* in suspension, was determined against biofilm populations of strains 166, 359 and 367 to measure the biocidal effects against biofilm populations. Disinfectant activity was compared to a negative control (zero on the x-axis) in which disinfectant solutions were substituted with WoSH. The industry recommended contact time of 5 minutes was used.

The results (fig. 4.13) show that statistically significant differences were observed in disinfectant sensitivity between strains. Strain 166 was shown to be statistically more sensitive to BAC (P <0.05) when compared to strains 359 and 367. Strain 359 was seen to be significantly less sensitive (P <0.05) to NaDCC when compared to strains 166 and 367.



Fig. 4.13: Mean loss of viability after 5 minute contact time with disinfectant treatments in WoSH for biofilm *L. monocytogenes* at 20°C, shown as log TVC difference to a negative, water only control.

4.5.3 Effect of Detergent Followed by Disinfectant Treatments

The effect of combined detergent (industry recommended, in use, concentrations) and disinfectants, at concentrations of 0.01% for BAC and 0.0008% for NaDCC, previously identified to give $2 - 4 \log$ kill against *L. monocytogenes* in suspension, was determined against biofilm populations of strains 166, 359 and 367. Treatment activity was compared to a negative control (zero on the x-axis) in which detergent and disinfectant solutions were substituted with WoSH. The industry recommended contact times of 20 minutes for detergents and 5 minutes for disinfectants was used. Observed results were compared to expected results, where the expected results were calculated by combining the changes in TVC for individual detergent (fig. 4.12) and disinfectant (fig. 4.13) treatments to determine any interaction between detergent and disinfectant treatments.

The results in fig. 4.14 and table 4.3 show a wide range of synergies and antagonisms between treatments and strains with 8 significant (7: P < 0.01, 1: P < 0.05)

synergies and 4 significant (P <0.05) antagonisms being observed. In general treatments used against strain 367 were seen to result in synergy while those against strains 166 and 359 resulted in treatments with no effect, some synergy and some antagonism.

Both bismuth thiol detergents showed a significant (P <0.01) antagonism with BAC when used against strain 359, while against strain 367 both showed a significant (P <0.01) synergy. Against strain 166 BisTOL exhibited a significant (P <0.01) synergy while BisEDT showed no significant changes.

When using the non-ionic detergent 91/4, significant (P <0.01, 367: P <0.05) synergies with BAC were seen against all 3 strains of *L. monocytogenes*. No significant differences were observed for treatments with the second non-ionic detergent KCL5.

The anionic detergent LX28 showed a significant (P <0.01) antagonism when used against strain 166 while no significant differences were observed against strains 359 and 367. Nec28 also showed a significant (P <0.01) antagonism when used against strain 166 whereas when used against strain 359 and 367, significant (P <0.01) synergies were observed.



Fig. 4.14: Mean loss of viability after 20 minute detergent treatment followed by 5 minute BAC treatment in WoSH for biofilm *L. monocytogenes* at 20°C, shown as expected (fig. 4.12 + fig. 4.13) and observed log TVC difference to a negative, water only control.

BAC	166	359	367
BisEDT	0.102	-1.281	0.553
BisTOL	1.122	-1.035	0.510
91/4	1.238	0.744	0.346
KCL5	-0.236	0.161	0.212
LX28	-0.421	0.090	0.042
Nec28	-0.474	0.917	0.503

Table 4.3: Synergies and antagonisms after 20 minute detergent treatment followed by 5 minute BAC treatment in WoSH for biofilm *L. monocytogenes* at 20°C. Differences to the expected additive results are presented as log TVC with significant synergies (P < 0.05), (P < 0.01) and antagonisms (P < 0.05), (P < 0.01).

Very few antagonisms were observed between detergent treatments and NaDCC as shown in fig. 4.15 and table 4.4; 2 significant antagonisms compared to 13 significant synergies. With the exception of BisEDT against strain 166, treatments against strain 359 were seen to be more synergistic than when used against strains 166 and 367.

The two bismuth thiol treatments used against strain 367 were seen to exhibit significant (P <0.01) antagonistic effects. Against strain 166, treatment with BisEDT resulted in a strong, significant (P <0.01) synergy, whereas against strain 359 no significant interaction was observed. Treatment with the second bismuth thiol, BisTOL, was not seen to result in a significant interaction against strain 166 whereas against strain 359 a strong, significant (P <0.01) synergy was observed.

Of the two non-ionic detergents, 91/4 was seen to have a significant (P <0.01, 166: P <0.05) synergy with NaDCC against all 3 strains of *Listeria*. Significant synergies with NaDCC for KCL5 were seen against strains 359 (P <0.01) and 166 (P <0.05) but no effect was observed against strain 367.

Both of the anionic detergents, LX28 and Nec28, exhibited significant synergies (P <0.01) with NaDCC against all 3 strains of *L. monocytogenes*.



Fig. 4.15: Mean loss of viability after 20 minute detergent treatment followed by 5 minute NaDCC treatment in WoSH for biofilm *L. monocytogenes* at 20°C, shown as expected (fig. 4.12 + fig. 4.13) and observed log TVC difference to negative, water only control.

NaDCC	166	359	367
BisEDT	1.431	0.088	-0.421
BisTOL	0.176	1.177	-0.934
91/4	0.255	0.787	1.070
KCL5	0.281	1.286	0.023
LX28	0.432	1.171	0.506
Nec28	0.858	1.372	0.732

Table 4.4: Synergies and antagonisms after 20 minute detergent treatment followed by 5 minute NaDCC treatment in WoSH for biofilm *L. monocytogenes* at 20°C. Differences to the expected additive results are presented as log TVC with significant synergies (P < 0.05), (P < 0.01) and antagonisms (P < 0.05), (P < 0.01).

4.5.4 Summary of Treatments for 24 Hour Biofilm Populations

The summary in fig. 4.16 shows that in general, exposing biofilm populations of *L. monocytogenes* to a detergent treatment prior to using either BAC or NaDCC results in a synergistic effect. There were very few observed antagonistic effects, fig. 4.15 showed these occurred when using either bismuth thiol with BAC against strain

359 or with NaDCC against strain 367, weak antagonisms were also seen when strain 166 was treated with KCL5, LX28 and Nec28 with BAC.

The only detergent treatment to show entirely synergistic effects with both BAC and NaDCC was 91/4. With the exception of Nec28 with BAC against strain 166, all of the Nec28 detergent treatments were observed to be significantly (P < 0.01) synergistic with both disinfectants.



Fig. 4.16: Summary of the effectiveness on biofilm *L. monocytogenes* of the combined detergent/disinfectant treatments compiled by comparing the difference in viability to the sum of the single detergent and disinfectant treatments, shown as difference in log TVC.

4.6 24 Hour Biofilm – Direct EPS Quantification

Direct total counts for biofilms of *L. monocytogenes* were not obtainable due to the dense layering of cells and extra cellular polysaccharide on the coupons. Although measurable, the intensity of cellular material, stained with acridine orange, did not significantly change following treatments, whereas measurements of the intensity of EPS, stained with calcofluor white, were significantly different following treatments.

The density of EPS was assessed via calcofluor staining, to determine if detergent and/or disinfectant treatments caused disruption of the polymeric matrix. Plate 4.2 shows typical slides of each *L. monocytogenes* strain after forming biofilms on stainless steel coupons over 24 hours and stained with calcofluor white. Image intensity of treated populations was recorded to infer the density of EPS using Spot® capture software and ImagePro® analysis software as described in chapter 2. Uneven distribution of EPS was observed for all 3 strains, although this was seen to vary with strain 359 demonstrating the brightest clumping of EPS, indicative of the densest EPS. The brighter areas seen on the plates are denser regions of EPS which when dual stained with acridine orange can also be seen to be the densest regions of cellular material, the darker areas are less dense regions of cells and EPS.

Additional, untreated controls were measured as a baseline to determine the effects of each treatment, including the WoSH controls. EPS was measured using arbitrary brightness values from 1 (black) to 200 (white) for each pixel (4.1×10^6) per image allowing a single mean per image to be calculated.

Strains 166 and 367 appeared, visually, to be most similar, with a smooth layer of EPS, whereas strain 359 consistently produced denser regions of EPS that appeared much brighter than the EPS seen for strain 166 and 367. Statistically strain 359

always produced significantly (P <0.01) brighter EPS than strains 166 or 367 with a mean intensity of 158.4 ± 4.1 , indicative of a denser EPS layer, additionally strain 166 was seen to produce significantly (P <0.05) brighter EPS than strain 367 with a mean intensity of 149.3 ± 2.4 compared to a mean intensity of 129.2 ± 7.8 .

Strain 166 biofilm, n = 6,	Strain 359 biofilm, n = 6,	Strain 367 biofilm, n = 6,
mean 149.3 intensity, S.E. 2.4	mean 158.4 intensity, S.E. 4.1	mean 129.2 intensity, S.E. 7.8

Plate 4.2: Typical 24 hour biofilm in 10% TSB for *L. monocytogenes* strains at 20°C on type 316 with 2B finish stainless steel coupons stained with calcofluor white at x 1000 magnification.

4.6.1 Strain 166 - EPS Intensity after Treatments

As seen in fig. 4.17 the negative, water only control treatment (no detergent/no disinfectant) was observed to have significantly (P <0.01) lower EPS intensity compared to the untreated control (black line) which showed that WoSH alone was sufficient to solubilise some of the EPS. The two disinfectant only treatments significantly (P <0.01) reduced the EPS intensity compared to the water only control by 53.44 for BAC and 37.91 for NaDCC.

The results for the bismuth thiol treatments in fig. 4.17 show there to be no significant differences between BisEDT and the no detergent control. For BisTOL significantly (P < 0.05) higher intensities were recorded for the detergent on its own and combined with NaDCC compared to the negative control. No difference to the negative control was identified for BisTOL with BAC.

Of the two non-ionic detergents, 91/4 was shown to significantly (P <0.01) reduce the image intensity substantially when compared to the negative control with and without both disinfectants. The second non-ionic detergent, KCL5 showed no significant difference on its own to the negative control, although significant reductions in image intensity were observed when combined with BAC (P <0.05) and NaDCC (P <0.01).

Both of the anionic detergent treatments caused a significant ([LX28, LX28:NaDCC, Nec28:NaDCC]: P <0.01, [LX28:BAC, Nec28, Nec28:BAC]: P <0.05) reduction in image intensity compared to the negative control with and without both disinfectants.



Fig. 4.17: Effect on the density of extra cellular polysaccharide for biofilm *L. monocytogenes* strain 166, for all detergent and disinfectant regimes in WoSH at 20°C, measured as image intensity. The control baseline is an untreated 24 hour biofilm population with no treatments other than gentle washing to remove suspended cells, presented as the lower 5% confidence limits.

4.6.2 Strain 359 - EPS Intensity after Treatments

The negative control, water only treatment, at 39.23, in fig. 4.18 was shown to have significantly (P < 0.01) reduced EPS intensity, 119.2 points lower, compared to the untreated control (black line) which showed that WoSH alone was sufficient to solubilise some of the EPS. The disinfectant only treatments were significantly (P < 0.01) lower in intensity than the negative control, 1.78 points for BAC and 3.51 points for NaDCC.

When treated with BisEDT on its own, the image intensity was not significantly different to the untreated control and was significantly (P <0.01) more intense than the negative, water only control. When combined with BAC a small significant (P <0.05) reduction in EPS intensity compared to the negative control was observed. When combined with NaDCC there a significant (P <0.01) loss in EPS

intensity compared to BisEDT on its own, although the image intensity was still significantly (P < 0.01) higher than for the water only negative control.

BisTOL treatment on its own was not significantly different to the negative control. Combination treatments with either BAC or NaDCC resulted in a significant (P < 0.01) reduction in image intensity compared to the negative control.

Both non-ionic detergents were observed to have a significantly (P < 0.01, KCL5 and BAC: P < 0.05) lower image intensity with and without either disinfectant when compared to the negative control.

The image intensity for the anionic detergent LX28 on its own and also combined with NaDCC was significantly (P <0.01) lower than the negative control, no significant difference was seen when combined with BAC. The second anionic detergent, Nec28 was significantly (P <0.01) lower than the negative control with and without either disinfectant.



Fig. 4.18: Effect on the density of extra cellular polysaccharide for biofilm *L. monocytogenes* strain 359, for all detergent and disinfectant regimes in WoSH at 20°C, measured as image intensity. The control baseline is an untreated 24 hour biofilm population with no treatments other than gentle washing to remove suspended cells, presented as the lower 5% confidence limits.

4.6.3 Strain 367 - EPS Intensity after Treatments

The data (fig. 4.19) showed that a significant (P <0.01) reduction in image intensity (58.2 lower) was seen when comparing the negative, water only control to the untreated control (black line) showing that WoSH only treatments are able to solubilise some of the EPS. Both of the disinfectant only treatments were significantly (P <0.01) lower in image intensity than the negative control.

The detergent BisEDT showed a small significant (P <0.05) rise in image intensity compared to the negative control on its own, a significant (P <0.01) loss in image intensity when combined with BAC and no significant difference when combined with NaDCC. The second bismuth thiol, BisTOL, had a small significant (P <0.05) rise in image intensity compared to the negative control on its own and with either disinfectant, BAC or NaDCC, the image intensity was significantly (P <0.01) higher than the negative control but not significantly different to the untreated control.

The results in fig. 4.19 for the non-ionic detergents show that significant (P <0.01) reductions in image intensity were observed for 91/4 with and with out both treatments. For KCL5 the image intensity of the detergent on its own and with BAC was significantly (P <0.01) lower than the negative control, while no significant difference was observed when combined with NaDCC.



Fig. 4.19: Effect on the density of extra cellular polysaccharide for biofilm *L. monocytogenes* strain 367, for all detergent and disinfectant regimes in WoSH at 20°C, measured as image intensity. The control baseline is an untreated 24 hour biofilm population with no treatments other than gentle washing to remove suspended cells, presented as the lower 5% confidence limits.

4.7 Comparison of Total Viable Counts for Biofilms against Attached

Populations

The effectiveness of each treatment, detergent only, disinfectant only and detergent followed by disinfectant, was compared between attached and biofilm populations of *L. monocytogenes*. On the following graphs a value above zero shows the treatment to be more effective against attached than biofilm populations while a value below zero shows the treatment was more effective against biofilms than attached populations.

4.7.1 Effectiveness of Detergent Only Treatments

As seen in fig. 4.20, 2 detergent treatments significantly (P < 0.05) reduced the TVC of a biofilm population (BisEDT:166 and Nec28:367) more than the respective attached population. All 16 remaining treatments are seen to have been more
effective against attached populations than biofilms, with 12 significant (P <0.05) differences.

The results for most treatments against strains 166 and 367 are not significantly different to each other; the only exceptions are the results for BisEDT and Nec28. The non-ionic detergents were the only treatments where all 4 results are significantly (P < 0.05) more effective against attached cells than biofilms for strains 166 and 367.

Strain 359 was shown to be significantly (P <0.05) different to both strains 166 and 367 for every detergent treatment. All of the treatments used against strain 359 were significantly (P <0.01) more effective against attached populations than against biofilms. The anionic detergent LX28 showed the largest difference, whereby the loss in TVC for an attached population of strain 166 was 1.35 log more than for biofilms of strain 166.



Fig. 4.20: Difference in the effectiveness of detergent treatments against biofilms compared to attached *L. monocytogenes*, shown as difference in log reductions of TVC.

4.7.2 Effectiveness of Disinfectant Only Treatments

The differences in the loss of TVC between biofilms and attached populations can be seen in fig. 4.21. The results for the disinfectant BAC, show that for all three strains of *L. monocytogenes* the loss in TVC was significantly (P < 0.01) lower as biofilms than as attached cells, 1.28 log – 1.55 log lower. Against strains 166 and 267, the disinfectant NaDCC shows there were no significant differences between biofilms and attached populations. For strain 359 the loss in TVC caused by NaDCC against biofilms was significantly (P < 0.01) lower than that for attached populations, by 1.59 log.



Fig. 4.21: Difference in the effectiveness of disinfectant treatments against biofilms compared to attached *L. monocytogenes*, shown as difference in log reduction of TVC.

4.7.3 Effectiveness of Detergent Followed by Disinfectant Treatments

In fig. 4.22 there are seven significant (P <0.05) instances where the combined detergent/disinfectant treatments were more synergistic against attached populations than against the respective biofilms. There are twenty two significant (P <0.05) examples shown where the combined detergent/disinfectant treatments were more

synergistic against biofilms than against the respective attached populations. This suggests a trend to increasing synergy between detergents and disinfectants when used against biofilm compared to attached populations.

Fig. 4.22 shows that strain 359 was seen to be much more sensitive as an attached population than as a biofilm compared to strains 166 and 367. For most treatment combinations strains 166 and 367 were observed to have similar resistance as biofilm populations, KCL5:BAC and LX28:BAC combinations showed more resistance for strain 166 than 367 for biofilms, BisEDT:NaDCC showed biofilms of strain 166 to be more sensitive than attached populations and Nec28:BAC showed biofilms of strain 367 to did not gain more resistance as seen for strain 166.



Fig. 4.22: Synergistic/antagonistic effects of combined detergent/disinfectant treatments for biofilm compared to attached *L. monocytogenes*, shown as difference in log TVC synergy also showing the change in synergistic/antagonistic effects of attached compared to biofilm populations. Blue bars show the increase in synergy for biofilms compared to attached while red bars show a decrease, for example strain 166, BisEDT, NaDCC attached synergy of zero increases to biofilm synergy of almost 1.5 log.

4.8 Discussion

The reduction in TVC demonstrated by the anionic detergent LX28 against attached cells of *L. monocytogenes* was expected due to previous observations with suspended populations. Anionic detergents, such as LX28, are known to exhibit some biocidal properties against Gram positive bacteria, whereby the cell membrane is disrupted, although at low concentrations the effect is typically negligible (Pasanen *et al.*, 1997). The loss of viability shown for suspended cells during 20 minute contact time with LX28 varied from >4 log (strain 359) to >6 log (strains 166 and 367), whereas for one hour attached populations of *L. monocytogenes* a reduction in TVC from 1.4-1.7 log was observed and for biofilms the loss in TVC varied from 0-1.3 log. This comparison of the results for suspended, attached and biofilm cells shows that the biocidal activity of LX28 was considerably diminished against attached and biofilm populations of all three strains. A reduction in the activity of LX28 was especially seen when comparing biofilm to attached populations for strain 359 where no loss of TVC compared to the control treatment was observed as a biofilm.

The reductions in biocidal activity of LX28 could be attributed to a number of causes. The surface area of attached and biofilm populations as opposed to suspended populations exposed to a biocide will be significantly reduced (Prakash *et al.*, 2003), thus the uptake of biocide into the cells via membrane pores and channels or the damaging effect of biocides against cell membranes as a whole, will also be reduced. Further many biofilms comprise of cells within a thick coating of EPS which may decrease contact with LX28 compared to attached populations. Indeed plate 4.2 (typical biofilm appearance) showed that strain 359 exhibited the densest EPS layer, and it was also shown that LX28 had no biocidal

effect against biofilm populations of 359, yet still had a significant (P < 0.01) effect against strains 166 and 367. Therefore *L. monocytogenes* populations are likely to be less sensitive to a given concentration of LX28 when in a biofilm state than attached and less sensitive as an attached population than when suspended. It is also well known that once cells adhere to a surface there are rapid changes in metabolic activity and protein expression as adaptation to a adherent state progresses (Busscher *et al.*, 1995; Kumar and Anand, 1998; Dunne, 2002), these changes may impact the sensitivity of the strains to LX28 by either changing the uptake rate of the detergent, e.g. alteration of ion channels, by altering the active site of the detergent in the cell membrane or within the cells or via expression of stress response proteins e.g. GroEL or HSP60 (Donlan and Costerton, 2002; Augustin *et al.*, 2004; Matin and Lynch, 2005; Bianco *et al.*, 2006).

Against attached populations of cells, both of the non-ionic detergents (91/4 and KCL5) and the anionic detergents (LX28 and Nec28), were seen to show a general trend for a reduction in TVC against all 3 strains. This suggests these four detergents demonstrate some biocidal or removal activity against *L. monocytogenes* as an attached population. Research by Gross and Logan (1995) demonstrated that the non-ionic detergent Tween-20 reduced the viable count of surface attachment *Alcaligenes paradoxus* to glass beads via removal rather than killing. The reductions in TVC seen for attached populations treated with detergents when compared with total count data, indicates that a loss in viability occurred when treated with the non-ionic detergent KCL5 and the anionic detergent Nec28, whereas a removal effect was observed for the non-ionic detergent 91/4, while for the anionic detergent LX28 a mixture of removal and loss in viability was seen. Variations in the composition of the extra cellular

polysaccharide coat produced by each strain may account for observed strain differences, with strain 359 visually seen to produce a more intense EPS layer surrounding individual cells as an attached population. Specific measurements of 1 hour attached population EPS variation would be required to confirm this theory, although research by Korenevsky and Beveridge, (2007), showed that variation in capsule composition and thickness altered the adhesiveness of *Shewanella* strains. With the example of strain 359 this may be the result of increased EPS as the primary mechanism of attachment, resulting in an increase in sloughing of attached cells due to solubilisation of EPS when exposed to either KCL5 or Nec28, whereas strain 166 and 367 initial attachment may be stronger due to a greater dependency of additional surface structures such as pilli and flagella rather than EPS as the primary mechanisms of attachment as suggested by Busscher *et al.*, (1995).

Strain differences were observed throughout the attached treatment regimes. The overall trend for each of the strains was that 166 was generally least desensitised, while 359, a food product isolate, was the most desensitised to disinfectant treatments after exposure to detergents. This general pattern was observed for all of the detergent treatments. The strain differences may be explained by differences in the rapidity of stress protein expression following exposure to a detergent (Matin and Lynch, 2005; Bianco *et al.*, 2006), whereby if strain 359 produces stress proteins more rapidly and/or at a higher expression rate than strains 166 and 367, then this strain would be likely to be more resistant to subsequent disinfectant treatments in suspension or as a 1 hour attached population. Conversely if strain 166 is slower at expressing stress response proteins and/or expresses at a lower expression rate then it is likely to be comparatively more sensitive to subsequent disinfectant treatments. Another factor that might influence the expression of

stress proteins is the ease with which detergents can come into contact with adhered cells, e.g. strain 359 produced a denser coating of EPS than strains 166 and 367, therefore detergent treatments may affect cellular protein expression more rapidly against biofilm populations of strain 166 and 367 than against strain 359 due to increased permeability through less dense EPS coatings, differences in permeability of capsules to chemicals based on density and composition has been demonstrated in *Klebsiella pneumoniae* as a key factor in rapidity of stress response (Campos *et al.*, 2004).

Surprisingly, strain 359 was identified as a food product isolate rather than an environmental isolate, typically persistent factory isolated strains form the densest biofilms (Gibson *et al.*, 1999), which suggests that although product isolated, strain 359 may have been a contaminant from a persistent biofilm within the factory. A study by Holah *et al.* (2004), confirmed most *Listeria* spp. detected within factories were environmentally niche oriented, therefore given the ability of 359 to rapidly form complex, highly resistant biofilms, as typified by environmental, rather than product isolates, it can be surmised that although isolated from a product, strain 359 is likely to have contaminated the product from an environmental source within the production line.

Treatment regimes against attached populations that used the anionic detergents, LX28 and Nec28 combined with BAC, were seen to exhibit strong antagonisms. Given that BAC is cationic, it is possible that sufficient quantities of the anionic LX28 and Nec28 persisted after rinsing to cause an inactivation of the disinfectant, although there are quenching agents available, e.g. lecithin, that could be used to inactivate the detergents, it was decided not to include these to more accurately represent factory treatment regimes. Results showed that individual LX28 and Nec28 treatments

resulted in a loss of TVC, given that anionic detergents are know to bind to and disrupt Gram-positive bacterial cell membranes (Pasanen *et al.*, 1997), the likely site of inactivation of BAC would have been at the surface of the bacterial cells, where the anionic detergents were adsorbed and so not removed during rinsing and perhaps therefore not possible to quench either. This suggestion is further enhanced by the findings shown for biofilms where 2 significant (P <0.01) synergies were observed with BAC, in this case the detergents were probably prevented from coming into contact with cell surfaces because of the dense EPS layer and so were fully removed upon rinsing, therefore little or no inactivation occurred.

The total count results for detergent/disinfectant interactions, where 14 treatments resulted in an increase in total count compared to the water only control are comparable to the results shown by Eginton *et al.*, (1998), where an increase in attachment strength was observed, although not explained, following treatment with Tween-80 on stainless steel for *Staph. epidermidis*. Only treatment with the non-ionic detergent, 91/4 plus the disinfectant NaDCC was seen to significantly (P <0.01) reduce the total count for all three strains. Although a removal effect caused by 91/4 had been shown, while NaDCC did not cause a removal effect, a synergy must exist between the detergent and disinfectant treatments because the expected removal effect was significantly (P <0.05) lower than that actually observed. One possible explanation is that the loss in total count was the result of a synergy resulting in enhanced lysis of the population, rather than removal, resulting in the appearance of fewer remaining cells on the surface after acridine orange staining.

The direct counts for detergent only treatments showed two interesting effects. The first effect was that both of the bismuth thiols resulted in an increased population total count compared to the control for strain 359, again this is most likely related to

the findings by Eginton *et al.*, (1998), as mentioned in the previous paragraph. The second effect was that while a loss in TVC was observed for strains 166 and 367 following LX28 treatment, strain 359 did not demonstrate any reduction in TVC as a biofilm population. The results in plate 4.2 showed that strain 359 produced the densest EPS layer compared to strains 166 and 367 and also demonstrated more visible clumping of cells and EPS, which probably prevented LX28 from coming into contact with the cells and so infers a mode of action of reduced sensitivity to chemical treatments due to a denser EPS layer as shown previously by Donlan and Costerton (2002) for clinically important biofilms. The disinfectant only results for NaDCC also suggest that the denser EPS layer produced by strain 359 is responsible for there being no significant loss of TVC after treatment, whereas both strains 166 and 367

The summary for biofilm populations showed that compared to the summary for attached populations, there were no generalised trends of effects for all three strains. Overall, synergies were generally observed against biofilm populations, suggesting that physiological differences between 1 hour attached and 24 hour biofilm populations, e.g. the EPS layer surrounding the adherent cells, prevented desensitisation to disinfectants, perhaps by insufficient contact time with the detergent treatments to illicit expression of stress response proteins as shown against *E. coli* in chapter 5. Synergies may also result after detergent treatment due to disruption of the EPS layer, resulting in improved disinfectant contact with the population, indeed the data presented in fig. 4.17-19 (EPS intensity following treatments) suggests this to be the case for the detergents 91/4, LX28 and Nec28 which were observed to reduce the EPS intensity of all three strains typically to below a value of 10. In general, the synergies appearing in the summary coincided with reductions in EPS intensity, while

those treatments with no effect or antagonisms generally coincided with higher EPS intensities following treatments.

The comparison of treatments used against biofilms and against attached cells showed some very interesting effects. Firstly the results for the detergent only comparison showed that in general detergents affect 1 hour attached populations more strongly than 24 hour biofilm populations, physiological differences, e.g. dense EPS layer, protection by surrounding cells or surface adaptation, are likely causes of the differences. One of the most notable effects however, was that strain 359 was much less sensitive to all detergent only treatments as a biofilm, the most likely assessment of this finding can be attributed to the research conducted by Ryu and Beuchat (2005) which showed that strains of *E. coli* with increased EPS production are less sensitive to environmental stressors and have increased adhesive strength. Similar results were seen for the disinfectant NaDCC, whereby strain 359 was seen to be over 1.5 log less sensitive when a biofilm, while both strains 166 and 367 showed no statistical difference between attached and biofilm populations.

The comparison of treatment combination effects against attached and biofilm populations, showed that most treatment combinations were likely to results in a greater degree of synergy against biofilms than against one hour attached populations. This is most likely caused by some disruption of the complex EPS matrix by detergents that surround biofilm populations, indeed Prakash *et al.*, (2003) has suggested that the EPS matrix is the primary factor that increases resistance to a plethora of environmental stresses, therefore a disruption of this matrix is likely to enhance disinfectant or other biocide activity. Conversely to expectation, a comparison of the results showing the observed reduction in TVC for combined treatments against attached populations, with those showing the observed reduction in

TVC for combined treatments against biofilm populations, showed that although synergies were generally seen when biofilms were treated, the actual loss in viable count was still considerably lower than that seen against attached populations. The summation of this information is that although a disruption of the EPS occurred, the protective mechanisms associated with biofilms were still sufficient to prevent much of the loss in TVC associated with attached populations. This has implications for cleaning and disinfection regimes, whereby persistent biofilms, even when treated with a detergent and disinfectant that are known to work in synergy, are still likely to partially survive the treatments unless mechanical cleaning is used in addition to chemicals. Indeed, although synergies are more likely against a biofilm population than an attached population, the observed effects may be due to the failure of the detergent to illicit a protective effect within a biofilm population, possibly due to reduced concentrations of chemical passing through the complex structures found within biofilms. Therefore rather than a true synergy being observed, the actual effects in most cases are likely to be caused by the detergent desensitising the cells in attached populations, resulting in an antagonistic interaction with disinfectant, while against biofilm populations some EPS disruption occurs, although there is insufficient cellular contact time to illicit the same protective response observed for attached populations. This suggests that to optimise treatments against L. monocytogenes biofilm populations will require a highly optimised treatment regime, or ideally mechanical cleaning in addition to chemical, which in many situations is simply not practical. Jessen and Lammert, (2003), also highlighted the necessity for mechanical cleaning in meat processing plants after identifying biofilm populations that persisted following chemical sanitisation techniques and concluded that where possible mechanical modes of cleaning should be applied in addition to chemical methods.

5.0 Effects of Treatments on Escherichia coli

5.1 Introduction

Identifying synergistic relationships between specific detergents and disinfectants, with regards to the removal and killing of surface adhered, 1 hour attached and 24 hour biofilm populations of *E. coli*, will lead to the development of improved cleaning and disinfecting regimes within food processing environments. Primarily experiments were conducted on factory isolated strains, from product and environment, additional experimentation was undertaken to determine the effects of treatments upon vero toxin producing strains of *E. coli* to assess the similarity with the non pathogenic isolates.

All of the TVC results throughout this chapter have been standardised to use the experiments negative control as the zero value for the x-axis on the following graphs. Each graph represents experimentation conducted on multiple days, the standardised data was analysed using multifactorial regression analysis to normalise day to day variation, the inherent variability of adherent populations' means that no specific population density is stated for each experiment. A treatment value below zero shows a reduction in viable count while a value greater than zero shows an increase in viable count compared to the negative control, the latter does not represent proliferation of the population, merely a greater proportion of viable cells remaining adhered following the treatments compared to the water only negative control treatment.

As detailed in the Materials and Methods chapter, the term 'Attached' refers to a population of *E. coli* that has been allowed to adhere to an 8mm x 8mm stainless steel coupon over one hour. The term 'Biofilm' refers to a one hour attached population of *E. coli* that has then established a biofilm over 24 hours, as described in the Materials and Methods chapter.

5.2 Effect of Detergents on the Viability of Suspensions of E. coli

The effect of industrially recommended, in use, concentrations of detergents was determined on suspensions of *E. coli* strains 400, 453 and 467. Detergent activity was compared to a negative control (zero on the x-axis) in which detergent solutions were substituted with WoSH. Two detergent contact times were used, 20 minutes as recommended to the industry and 5 minutes to identify any rapid biocidal effects.

Significant loss of viability (P <0.05) was identified for suspensions of *E. coli* treated with the bismuth thiol detergent BisTOL after 20 minutes contact time and against strain 453 when treated with BisEDT, after 5 and 20 minutes contact time. Strain 400 was observed to be significantly less sensitive (P <0.05) to BisEDT than either strain 400 or 467 after both 5 and 20 minutes contact time.

A significant (P < 0.01) loss of viability was seen for the non-ionic detergent, 91/4, against strain 467, signifying a strain specific interaction, however no significant difference was seen between 5 and 20 minute contact time. No significant changes in TVC were observed for the second non-ionic detergent, KCL5, or for either anionic detergent.



approximately 1 x 10^7 *E. coli* suspended in WoSH at 20°C, shown as log TVC difference to a negative, water only control.

5.3 One Hour Attached Populations – Total Viable Counts

5.3.1 Effect of Detergent Only Treatments

The effect of industrially recommended, in use, concentrations of detergents was determined on one hour attached populations of *E. coli* strains 400, 453 and 467. This was used to determine the degree of killing and/or removal of the adherent population following treatment. Detergent activity was compared to a negative control (zero on the x-axis) in which detergent solutions were substituted with WoSH.

The results (fig. 5.2) for BisEDT show a significant reduction (P <0.01) in TVC to the control treatment for strains 400 and 467. A significant (P <0.05) loss in TVC was seen for strain 453 when treated with BisTOL. The non-ionic detergent 91/4 significantly (P <0.01) reduced the viable count of strains 400 and 467, while a significant (P <0.05) increase in viable count compared to the control was seen against strain 453 when treated with KCL5. The anionic detergent LX28 significantly (P <0.05) reduced the viable count of strain 400, while Nec28 showed a significant (P <0.05) increase in TVC against strain 400 and a significant (P <0.05) reduction in TVC against strain 453 when compared to the control.



Fig. 5.2: loss of viability after 20 minute contact time with detergent treatments in WoSH for attached *E. coli* at 20°C, shown as log TVC difference to a negative, water only control.

5.3.2 Effect of Disinfectant Only Treatments

The effect of disinfectants, at concentrations of 0.01% for BAC and 0.0005% for NaDCC, previously identified to give $2 - 4 \log$ kill against *E. coli* in suspension, was determined against one hour attached populations of strains 400, 453 and 467. Disinfectant activity was compared to a negative control (zero on the x-axis) in which disinfectant solutions were substituted with WoSH. The industry recommended contact time of 5 minutes was used. The results are presented in figure 5.3.

Strain 400 was shown to be significantly more sensitive to BAC (P < 0.05) and NaDCC (P < 0.01) compared to strains 453 and 467 to measure the biocidal effects against biofilm populations. No significant differences in sensitivity were observed

between strains 453 and 467. No significant differences were seen between BAC and NaDCC treatments, with the exception detailed above.



Fig. 5.3: Mean loss of viability after 5 minute contact time with disinfectant treatments in WoSH for attached *E. coli* at 20°C, shown as log TVC difference to a negative, water only control.

5.3.3 Effect of Detergent Followed by Disinfectant Treatments

The effect of detergent treatments (at industry recommended in use concentrations) followed by disinfectants, at concentrations of 0.01% for BAC and 0.0005% for NaDCC, previously identified to give $2 - 4 \log$ kill against *E. coli* in suspension, was determined on one hour attached populations of *E. coli* strains 400, 453 and 467. Treatment activity was compared to a negative control (zero on the x-axis) in which detergent and disinfectant solutions were substituted with water of standard hardness. The industry recommended contact times of 20 minutes for detergents and 5 minutes for disinfectants was used. Observed results were compared to expected results, where the expected results were calculated by combining the changes in TVC for individual detergent (fig. 5.2) and disinfectant (fig. 5.3)

treatments to determine any interactions between detergent and disinfectant treatments.

The results (Fig. 5.4 and table 5.1) showed that significant differences occurred with strain and with treatment when using the disinfectant BAC. Against strain 400 significant (P<0.01) synergies were observed with the detergents BisEDT, BisTOL, KCL5 and Nec28, while significant (P <0.01) antagonisms were identified with the detergents 91/4 and LX28. For strain 453 only one significant (P <0.05) synergy was shown with BisEDT, while significant antagonisms were shown with the detergents BisTOL, KCL5 (P <0.05) and Nec28 (P <0.01). No synergies were observed against strain 467, but significant (P <0.01) antagonisms were shown for 91/4, BisEDT and Nec28.

E. coli strain 400 was observed to be significantly (P < 0.01) more sensitive to treatment with BisEDT, BisTOL, KCL5 and Nec28 than either strains 453 or 467, whereas when treated with LX28, strain 400 was significantly (P < 0.05) less sensitive. Strains 453 and 467 were only significantly (P < 0.05) different when treated with 91/4 whereby strain 467 was more sensitive than 453.



treatment in WoSH for attached *E. coli* at 20°C, shown as expected (fig. 5.2 +fig. 5.3) and observed log TVC difference to a negative, water only control.

BAC	400	453	467
BisEDT	0.448	0.361	-0.646
BisTOL	0.797	-0.309	-0.192
91/4	-0.514	0.023	-0.480
KCL5	0.924	-0.317	-0.165
LX28	-1.173	0.205	-0.157
Nec28	1.368	-1.243	-0.846

Table 5.1: Synergies and antagonisms after 20 minute detergent treatment followed by 5 minute BAC treatment in WoSH for attached *E. coli* at 20°C. Differences to the expected additive results are presented as log TVC with significant synergies (P < 0.05), (P < 0.01) and antagonisms (P < 0.05), (P < 0.01).

Fig. 5.5 and table 5.2 show there to be a total of 5 significant synergies and 6 significant antagonisms with NaDCC. Significant strain differences were also observed. For strain 400, 5 of the 6 treatments resulted in significant antagonisms with NaDCC, although in general, strain 400 was shown to be more sensitive to the treatments than strains 453 and 467. Observations of 3 antagonisms and 1 synergy for strain 453 were made and a single synergy was shown for strain 467.

Significant antagonisms with NaDCC were observed with strain 400 when treated with BisEDT, 91/4, KCL5, LX28 (P <0.01) and Nec28 (P <0.05), with over 1 log higher TVC than expected with detergents BisEDT and 91/4. The results for BisTOL showed there to be no significant interactions with NaDCC.

Treatment with BisEDT, BisTOL and 91/4 were shown to produce significant (P <0.01) synergistic interactions with NaDCC for strain 453. A significant (P <0.01) antagonism with Nec28 was observed, while treatment with detergents KCL5 and LX28 did not result in a significant interaction.

The results for strain 467 show that two significant synergies were observed when treated with the anionic detergents LX28 (P <0.01) and Nec28 (P <0.05). No significant interactions with NaDCC were identified for either the bismuth thiol or non-ionic detergents.



Fig. 5.5: Mean change in viability after 20 minute detergent treatment followed by 5 minute NaDCC treatment in WoSH for attached *E. coli* at 20°C, shown as expected (fig. 5.2 +fig. 5.3) and observed log TVC difference to negative, water only control.

NaDCC	400	453	467
BisEDT	-1.416	1.629	-0.146
BisTOL	-0.039	0.917	-0.140
91/4	-1.001	0.544	0.120
KCL5	-0.430	-0.121	0.092
LX28	-0.950	0.146	0.417
Nec28	-0.313	-0.987	0.340

Table 5.2: Synergies and antagonisms after 20 minute detergent treatment followed by 5 minute NaDCC treatment in WoSH for attached *E. coli* at 20°C. Differences to the expected additive results are presented as log TVC with significant synergies (P < 0.05), (P < 0.01) and antagonisms (P < 0.05), (P < 0.01).

5.3.4 Summary of Treatments for One Hour Attached Populations

The data in fig. 5.6 shows there to be no general trends for all strains of attached *E. coli* for any combination of detergent and disinfectant, whereas *L. monocytogenes* data had shown trends between strains. A total of 10 significant synergies (8: P <0.01, 2: P <0.05) and 14 significant antagonisms (11: P <0.01, 3: P <0.05) were seen. Differences between strain responses to BAC and NaDCC were observed, for



example strain 400 was seen to be >0.8 log more sensitive to BAC following 4 detergent treatments (BisEDT, BisTOL, KCL5 and Nec28) than to NaDCC.

Fig. 5.6: Summary of the effectiveness on attached *E. coli* of the combined detergent/disinfectant treatments compiled by comparing the difference in viability to the sum of the single detergent and disinfectant treatments, shown as difference in log TVC.

5.4 One Hour Attached Populations – Direct Microscopic Counts

Direct counts were obtained for each treatment combination used against attached *E. coli* strains. Direct counting was used to determine if the effects seen while measuring TVC were removal and/or killing of bacteria.

Plate 5.1 shows typical slides of each *E. coli* strain after attaching for 1 hour to stainless steel coupons and staining with acridine orange. Direct counts of treated populations were recorded using Spot® capture software and ImagePro® analysis software. Each image was analysed to identify the area covered by cells, this data was then transformed into cells cm⁻² from calculations of the average size of an individual cell within the image as described in chapter 2. The direct count for strain 400 was shown to be significantly lower (P <0.05) than for strains 453 and 467.

Strain 400 1 hour attachment,	Strain 453 1 hour attachment,	Strain 467 1 hour attachment,
n = 6, mean 7.3 log cells cm ⁻² , S.E. 0.03	n = 6, mean 7.5 log cells cm ⁻² , S.E. 0.05	n = 6, mean 7.4 log cells cm ⁻² , S.E. 0.03

Plate 5.1: Typical 1 hour attachment in TSB for *E. coli* strains at 20°C on type 316 with 2B finish stainless steel coupons, stained with acridine orange at x 1000 magnification.

5.4.1 Effect of Detergent Only Treatments

Direct counts were obtained for each detergent treatment used against attached *E. coli* strains. Direct microscopic counting was used to determine if the TVC effects measured were removal and/or killing of bacteria.

The results in fig. 5.7 show that the detergent only treatments had little or no removal effect against attached populations of *E. coli*. As shown, significant (P <0.05) reductions in total count were seen for BisEDT against strain 453 and 91/4 against strain 467. No other significant changes in total counts observed for any detergent against any strain.



Fig. 5.7: Mean total count after 20 minute contact time with detergent treatments in WoSH for attached *E. coli* at 20°C, shown as log total count difference to a negative, water only control.

5.4.2 Effect of Disinfectant Only Treatments

Direct counts were obtained for each disinfectant treatment used against attached *E. coli* strains. Direct microscopic counting was used to determine if the TVC effects measured were removal and/or killing of bacteria. The results (fig. 5.8) show there to be no significant difference in total count for any strain/disinfectant combination.



Fig. 5.8: Mean total count after 5 minute contact time with disinfectant treatments in WoSH for attached *E. coli* at 20°C, shown as log total count difference to a negative, water only control.

5.4.3 Effect of Detergent Followed by Disinfectant Treatments

Direct counts were obtained for each detergent, disinfectant treatment combination used against attached *E. coli* strains. Direct microscopic counting was used to determine if the TVC effects measured were removal and/or killing of bacteria.

The results (fig. 5.9) show that significant changes in total count were seen between treatments and between strains. Strain 400 was not seen to have any significant change in total count following any of the treatment combinations. Strain 453 was seen to have significant (P <0.05) reductions in total count when treated with BisEDT, 91/4 and KCL5. Strain 467 was shown to have a significant reduction in total count following treatment with 91/4 and LX28.



Fig. 5.9: Mean total count after 20 minute detergent treatment followed by 5 minute BAC treatment in WoSH for attached *E. coli* at 20°C, shown as expected (fig. 5.7 + fig. 5.8) and observed log total count difference to a negative, water only control.

In fig. 5.10, no treatments were shown to significantly change the total counts for strain 400. Four NADCC treatments against strain 453 were shown to have significantly reduced (P <0.05) total counts compared to water only controls, BisEDT, BisTOL, KCL5 and LX28, of which treatment with BisTOL, KCL5 and LX28 demonstrated significant (P <0.05) synergy interactions with NaDCC. Against strain 467 significant reductions in total count were observed when treated with 91/4 and LX28.



Fig. 5.10: Mean total count after 20 minute detergent treatment followed by 5 minute NaDCC treatment in WoSH for attached *E. coli* at 20°C, shown as expected (fig. 5.7 + fig. 5.8) and observed log total count difference to a negative, water only control.

5.4.4 Summary of Treatments for One Hour Attached Populations

The data in fig. 5.11 summarises the observed antagonisms and synergies seen for direct count data. There were no significant detergent/disinfectant interactions, synergistic or antagonistic, observed against strain 400 or strain 467. Significant (P <0.05) synergistic interactions were observed for strain 453 when treated with BisTOL, KCL5 or LX28 prior to treatment with NaDCC, a general trend towards synergy, although not significant, was seen for many of the other treatment combinations against strain 453.



Fig. 5.11: Summary of the effectiveness on attached *E. coli* of the combined detergent/disinfectant treatments compiled by comparing the difference in total count to the sum of the single detergent and disinfectant treatments, shown as difference in log total count.

5.5 24 Hour Biofilm Populations – Total Viable Counts

5.5.1 Effect of Detergent Only Treatments

The effect of industrially recommended, in use, concentrations of detergents was determined on 24 hour biofilm populations of *E. coli* strains 400, 453 and 467. This was used to determine the degree of killing and/or removal of the adherent population following treatment. Detergent activity was compared to a negative control (zero on the x-axis) in which detergent solutions were substituted with water of standard hardness.

The results for the effect of detergents against biofilms in fig. 5.12 show that only 2 statically significant losses (P < 0.05) in TVC occurred, strain 467 with BisTOL and strain 400 with Nec28. None of the other detergent only treatments resulted in a significant variation in TVC compared to the controls.



Fig. 5.12: Mean loss of viability after 20 minute contact time with detergent treatments in WoSH for

biofilm E. coli at 20°C, shown as log TVC difference to a negative, water only control.

5.5.2 Effect of Disinfectant Only Treatments

The effect of disinfectants, at concentrations of 0.01% for BAC and 0.0005% for NaDCC, previously identified to give $2 - 4 \log$ kill against *E. coli* in suspension, was determined against 24 hour biofilm populations of strains 400, 453 and 467 to measure the biocidal effects against biofilm populations. Disinfectant activity was compared to a negative control (zero on the x-axis) in which disinfectant solutions were substituted with water of standard hardness. The industry recommended contact time of 5 minutes was used.

The results presented in fig. 5.13, show that statistically significant differences were observed in disinfectant sensitivity between strains. Strain 400 was shown to be statistically less sensitive to BAC (P <0.05) when compared to strains 453 and 467. Strain 467 was significantly more sensitive (P <0.05) to NaDCC when compared to strains 400 and 453. A trend was also observed, although not statistically significant, suggesting strain 400 was least sensitive to both disinfectants while strain 467 was most sensitive.





5.5.3 Effect of Detergent Followed by Disinfectant Treatments

The effect of detergent treatments (at industry recommended in use concentrations) followed by disinfectants, at concentrations of 0.01% for BAC and 0.0005% for NaDCC, previously identified to give $2 - 4 \log$ kill against *E. coli* in suspension, was determined against biofilm populations of *E. coli* strains 400, 453 and 467. Treatment activity was compared to a negative control (zero on the x-axis) in which detergent and disinfectant solutions were substituted with WoSH. The industry recommended contact times of 20 minutes for detergents and 5 minutes for disinfectants was used. Observed results were compared to expected results, where the expected results were calculated by combining the changes in TVC for individual detergent (fig. 5.12) and disinfectant (fig. 5.13) treatments to determine any interaction between detergent and disinfectant treatments.

As seen in fig. 5.14 and table 5.3 both bismuth thiol detergents showed a significant (P <0.01) synergy with BAC against strains 400 and 453, while against

strain 467 a significant (P <0.01) synergy was only observed with BisTOL. Against strain 400 as seen in table 5.3, both bismuth thiols produced a synergistic effect almost 3 fold greater than that observed against strain 453 and 467 (BisTOL only).

The results for the non-ionic and anionic detergents shows there to be very few observed interactions with BAC. A significant (P <0.05) antagonism was seen for 91/4 against strain 453 resulting in 0.336 log greater viable count than expected. The only other observed significant antagonism (P <0.01) was the anionic detergent Nec28 with strain 400, which was shown to increase the expected viable count by 0.67 log. Other than the bismuth thiol detergents only the non-ionic detergent KCL5 was seen to produce a significant synergistic (P <0.01) effect with BAC when used against strain 453.



Fig. 5.14: Mean loss of viability after 20 minute detergent treatment followed by 5 minute BAC

treatment in WoSH for biofilm *E. coli* at 20°C, shown as expected (fig. 5.12 +fig. 5.13) and observed log TVC difference to a negative, water only control.

BAC	400	453	467
BisEDT	1.971	0.680	-0.182
BisTOL	1.41	0.512	0.554
91/4	-0.04	-0.336	-0.120
KCL5	-0.126	0.551	-0.357
LX28	-0.035	0.311	-0.370
Nec28	-0.670	0.291	0.183

Table 5.3: Synergies and antagonisms after 20 minute detergent treatment followed by 5 minute BAC treatment in WoSH for biofilm *E. coli* at 20°C. Differences to the expected additive results are presented as log TVC with significant synergies (P < 0.05), (P < 0.01) and antagonisms (P < 0.05), (P < 0.01).

A mixture of antagonisms and synergies between detergents, strains and NaDCC were observed (fig. 5.15 and table 5.4). Highly significant synergies (P <0.01) were observed against all 3 strains when treated with the bismuth thiol detergent BisTOL while highly significant antagonisms (P <0.01) were observed against all 3 strains when treated with the non-ionic detergent 91/4. The data in table 5.4 shows that as

observed in table 5.3 for BisTOL, there was a over a 2 fold greater synergy against strains 400 (1.318 log) than strains 453 (0.626 log) and 467 (0.558 log).

The second bismuth thiol, BisEDT, was shown to have a significant synergy (P <0.01) against strain 400 while no effect was seen against strains 453 and 467. The non-ionic detergent KCL5 was observed to result in a significant antagonism (P <0.05) against strain 400 and a significant synergy (P <0.05) against strain 453.

The two anionic detergents LX28 and Nec28 were shown to have markedly different effects. LX28 was seen to produce significant synergies against strains 453 (P <0.01) and 467 (P <0.05), while against strain 400 no significant interaction was observed, although a weakly synergistic interaction can be inferred by the 0.302 log lower viable count than expected. For Nec28 a strong significant antagonism (P <0.01) was seen against strain 400 resulting in nearly a 1 log higher than expected viable count, while a significant synergy (P <0.05) was shown against strain 453.



treatment in WoSH for biofilm *E. coli* at 20°C, shown as expected (fig. 5.12 +fig. 5.13) and observed log TVC difference to negative, water only control.

NaDCC	400	453	467
BisEDT	0.718	0.036	0.097
BisTOL	1.318	0.626	0.558
91/4	-0.632	-0.829	-0.509
KCL5	-0.338	0.331	0.138
LX28	0.302	0.552	0.366
Nec28	-0.989	0.326	0.05

Table 5.4: Synergies and antagonisms after 20 minute detergent treatment followed by 5 minute NaDCC treatment in WoSH for biofilm *E. coli* at 20°C. Differences to the expected additive results are presented as log TVC with significant synergies (P < 0.05), (P < 0.01) and antagonisms (P < 0.05), (P < 0.01).

5.5.4 Summary of Treatments for 24 Hour Biofilm Populations

The results (fig. 5.16) show that in general, exposing biofilms of *E. coli* to a bismuth thiol detergent treatment prior to using either BAC or NaDCC results in a synergistic effect. Exposure to either non-ionic or anionic detergents was shown in general to either result in an antagonistic effect or show no significant interaction.
The only detergent treatment to show entirely synergistic effects against all 3 strains (P <0.01) with both BAC and NaDCC was BisTOL. Conversely the non-ionic detergent 91/4 was observed to result in antagonistic, although not always significant, interactions with both disinfectants for all 3 strains. The bismuth thiol, BisEDT and the second non-ionic detergent, KCL5, as well as both anionic detergents LX28 and Nec28 did not demonstrate any specific trends with regards to synergies or antagonisms, for BisEDT and Nec28 significant antagonisms (P <0.01) were seen for both disinfectants when used against strain 400.



Fig. 5.16: Summary of the effectiveness on biofilm *E. coli* of the combined detergent/disinfectant treatments compiled by comparing the difference in viability to the sum of the single detergent and disinfectant treatments, shown as difference in log TVC.

5.6 24 Hour Biofilm – Direct EPS Quantification

Direct total counts for biofilms of *E. coli* were not obtainable due to the dense layering of cells and extra cellular polysaccharide on the coupons. Although measurable, the intensity of cellular material, stained with acridine orange, did not

significantly change following treatments, whereas measurements of the intensity of EPS, stained with calcofluor white, were significantly different following treatments.

The density of EPS was assessed via calcofluor staining, to determine if detergent and/or disinfectant treatments caused disruption of the polymeric matrix. Plate 5.2 shows typical slides of each *E. coli* strain after forming biofilms on stainless steel coupons over 24 hours and staining with calcofluor white. Image intensity of treated populations was recorded to determine density of EPS using Spot® capture software and ImagePro® analysis software. Uneven distribution of EPS was observed for all 3 strains, although this was seen to vary with strain 400 being seen to produce the densest EPS. The brighter areas seen on the plates are denser regions of EPS which when dual stained with acridine orange can also be seen to be the densest regions of cellular material, the darker areas are less dense regions of cells and EPS.

Additional, untreated controls were measured as a baseline to determine the effects of each treatment, including the WoSH controls. EPS was measured using arbitrary brightness values from 1 (black) to 200 (white) for each pixel (4.1×10^6) per image allowing a single mean per image to be calculated.

Strain 467 was seen to consistently produce approximately half of the calculated amount of EPS that was produced by strains 400 and 453. Strains 400 and 453 did not produce significantly different quantities of EPS after 24 hours, although in appearance strain 453 was seen to produce dense clumps of cells and EPS whereas strain 400 was seen to produce a more even biofilm with fewer channels or clumps observed.

Strain 400 biofilm, n = 6,	Strain 453 biofilm, n = 6,	Strain 467 biofilm, n = 6,
mean 126.3 intensity, S.E. 6.7	mean 119.7 intensity, S.E. 4.6	mean 54.7 intensity, S.E. 3.6

Plate 5.2: Typical 24 hour biofilm in 10% TSB for *E. coli* strains at 20°C on type 316 with 2B finish stainless steel coupons stained with calcofluor white at x 1000 magnification.

5.6.1 Strain 400 - EPS Intensity after Treatments

As seen in fig. 5.17 there were only two treatment combinations the caused a significant reduction (P <0.01) in EPS intensity for strain 400, BisEDT with both BAC and NaDCC, BisEDT only treatments however did not significantly alter the EPS intensity. None of the other treatment combinations were shown to significantly alter the EPS intensity compared to the untreated control (black line). Unlike all of the strains tested, including *L. monocytogenes*, WoSH only treatments did not reduce the EPS intensity of strain 400.



Fig. 5.17: Effect on the density of extra cellular polysaccharide for biofilm *E. coli* strain 400, for all detergent and disinfectant regimes in WoSH at 20°C, measured as image intensity. The control baseline is an untreated 24 hour biofilm population with no treatments other than gentle washing to remove suspended cells, presented as the lower 5% confidence limits.

5.6.2 Strain 453 - EPS Intensity after Treatments

The results (fig. 5.18) for *E. coli* strain 453 shows there to be large variations between treatments. The no detergent, no disinfectant control treatment was seen to significantly reduce (P < 0.01) the EPS intensity by almost a factor of 3 compared to the untreated control (black line), showing that WoSH alone was sufficient to

solubilise some of the EPS. The results for the no detergent, with either BAC or NaDCC, treatments also showed a significant reduction (P < 0.01) in EPS intensity, although these were not significantly different from the no detergent, no disinfectant control treatment.

The bismuth thiol, BisEDT, was not seen to significantly affect the EPS intensity with or without the presence of a disinfectant treatment. The second bismuth thiol, BisTOL was shown to significantly reduce the EPS intensity when combined with the no disinfectant treatment (P <0.01) and the disinfectant NaDCC (P <0.05), however no significant affect was shown when the disinfectant BAC was used.

The non-ionic detergent, 91/4 was shown to significantly reduce the EPS intensity with the no disinfectant treatment (P <0.05) and with BAC (P <0.01), however there was no significant change in EPS intensity with NaDCC. Treatment with 91/4 and the disinfectant BAC was shown to significantly reduce (P <0.01) the EPS intensity compared to the 91/4 with no disinfectant treatment. All of the treatment combinations with the second non-ionic detergent, KCL5, were seen to significantly reduce (P <0.01) EPS intensity. Significantly higher EPS intensities were shown when KCL5 treatment was followed by either BAC (P <0.01) or NaDCC (P <0.05) compared to the no disinfectant treatment.

The results for the anionic detergent LX28 show a significant (P < 0.01), 4 fold reduction in EPS intensity compared to the untreated control for the no disinfectant and NaDCC treatments. When treated with BAC after LX28, the EPS intensity for strain 453 was not significantly different from the untreated control. All 3 of the treatments with Nec28 were seen to have significantly lower (P < 0.01) EPS intensity

than the untreated control but with no significant variation between treatments.



Fig. 5.18: Effect on the density of extra cellular polysaccharide for biofilm *E. coli* strain 453, for all detergent and disinfectant regimes in WoSH at 20°C, measured as image intensity. The control baseline is an untreated 24 hour biofilm population with no treatments other than gentle washing to remove suspended cells, presented as the lower 5% confidence limits.

5.6.3 Strain 467 - EPS Intensity after Treatments

The black control bar for strain 467 (fig. 5.19) was shown to be less than half the value observed for strains 400 (fig. 5.17) and 453 (fig. 5.18), due to consistently producing a much less dense EPS layer. All three, no detergent treatments showed significant reductions (P <0.01) in EPS intensity compared to the untreated control (black bar) which shows WoSH only treatments solubilise some of the EPS. No significant differences were observed when either disinfectant was present compared to the no disinfectant treatment.

All treatments with the bismuth thiol, BisEDT, were seen to significantly (P <0.01) reduce the EPS intensity of strain 467. There was no observable difference when the disinfectant BAC was used compared to the no disinfectant treatment, although when BisEDT treatment was followed by NaDCC treatment a significant drop (P <0.05) in EPS intensity was seen compared to the other BisEDT treatments. Significant reductions (P <0.01) in EPS intensity were observed for BisTOL with the no disinfectant and BAC treatments, however BisTOL followed by the disinfectant NaDCC did not significantly change the EPS intensity compared to the untreated control. A significant drop (P <0.05) in EPS in EPS intensity was shown with the BisTOL, BAC treatment compared to the BisTOL, no disinfectant treatment.

All of the non-ionic detergent treatment combinations for both 91/4 and KCL5 were seen to significantly reduce (P <0.01) the EPS intensity compared to the untreated control. No significant differences between treatments using 91/4 or KCL5 were observed.

Significant reductions (P < 0.01) in EPS intensity were seen for both anionic detergents, LX28 and Nec28, with the no disinfectant and NaDCC treatments. There were no significant differences observed between these treatments. When either anionic detergent treatment was followed by treatment with the disinfectant BAC the EPS intensity was not significantly different from that seen for the untreated control.



Fig. 5.19: Effect on the density of extra cellular polysaccharide for biofilm *E. coli* strain 467, for all detergent and disinfectant regimes in WoSH at 20°C, measured as image intensity. A The control baseline is an untreated 24 hour biofilm population with no treatments other than gentle washing to remove suspended cells, presented as the lower 5% confidence limits.

5.7 Comparison of Total Viable Counts for Biofilms against Attached

Populations

The effectiveness of each treatment, detergent only, disinfectant only and detergent followed by disinfectant, was compared between attached and biofilm populations of *E. coli*. On the following graphs a value above zero shows the treatment to be more effective against attached than biofilm populations while a value below zero shows the treatment was more effective against biofilms than attached populations.

5.7.1 Effectiveness of Detergent Only Treatments

As seen in fig. 5.20, only 2 detergent treatments significantly (P < 0.05) reduced the TVC of a biofilm population (KCL5 and Nec28 against strain 400) more than the respective attached population. Three treatments were shown to be significantly more effective (P < 0.05) against attached cells than biofilms (BisEDT: 400, 91/4: 467 and LX28: 400). All of the remaining detergent treatments did not show a significant difference when used against attached cells compared to biofilms.

Significant differences between strains were seen for some treatments. 91/4 was significantly more effective (P <0.05) against attached cells of strain 467 compared to strain 453. KCL5 and Nec28 were significantly more effective (P <0.01) against biofilms of strain 400 than 453.



Fig. 5.20: Difference in the effectiveness of detergent treatments against biofilms compared to attached *E. coli*, shown as difference in log reductions of TVC.

5.7.2 Effectiveness of Disinfectant Only Treatments

The differences in the loss of TVC between biofilms and attached populations can be seen in fig. 5.21. Strain differences in sensitivity towards both disinfectants were observed. *E. coli* strain 400 was shown to be significantly more sensitive (P <0.01) to both disinfectants as a 1 hour attached population than as a biofilm. Strain 400 was also seen to gain significantly more tolerance (P <0.01) to BAC and NaDCC compared to strains 453 and 467 after biofilm formation. Strain 453 showed a small significant increase (P < 0.05) in tolerance to disinfectant treatment after biofilm formation against BAC and NaDCC. The tolerance of strain 467 to BAC and NaDCC was not seen to significantly differ between 1 hour attached and 24 hour biofilm populations.



Fig. 5.21: Difference in the effectiveness of disinfectant treatments against biofilms compared to attached *E. coli*, shown as difference in log reduction of TVC.

5.7.3 Effectiveness of Detergent Followed by Disinfectant Treatments

Fig. 5.22 shows there to be a general trend towards increasing synergistic interactions between detergents and disinfectants against 24 hour biofilm populations compared to the interactions seen against 1 hour attached populations. The results show there to be 13 treatments that showed significant increases (8: P <0.01, 5: P <0.05) in synergy against biofilms while only 6 treatments showed a significant increase (4: P <0.01, 2: P <0.05) in antagonism against biofilms compared to attached populations.

Treatment with the detergent BisTOL was seen to results in 5 significant (1: P <0.01, 4: P <0.05) increases in synergy against biofilms compared to attached

populations. BisTOL with NaDCC against strain 453 did not significantly differ in effect against biofilms compared to attached populations. Against strain 400, BisEDT was shown to exhibit a significant increase (P <0.01) in synergy with either disinfectant against biofilms compared to attached populations, however a significantly increased (P <0.01) antagonism was shown for BisEDT with NaDCC against strain 453.

Only a single significant (P <0.05) increase in synergy against biofilms was observed for the two non-ionic detergents (KCL5:BAC:453). Three significantly more antagonistic combinations were shown, 91/4:NaDCC:453 (P <0.01), 91/4:NaDCC:467 (P <0.05) and KCL5:BAC:400 (P <0.01).

Treatments with the anionic detergent LX28 did not differ in effect against biofilms or attached populations of strains 453 and 467. Against strain 400 significant increases (P <0.01) in synergy against biofilm populations were observed. The second anionic detergent, Nec28, was shown to significantly increase (P <0.01) observed synergies against biofilms for strain 453 with BAC and NaDCC and strain 467 with BAC. Significant increases in antagonism were observed against biofilms for strain 400 with BAC (P <0.01) and NaDCC (P <0.05) when treated with Nec28.



Fig. 5.22: Synergistic/antagonistic effects of combined detergent/disinfectant treatments for biofilm compared to attached *E. coli*, shown as difference in log TVC synergy also showing the change in synergistic/antagonistic effects of attached compared to biofilm populations. Blue bars show the increase in synergy for biofilms compared to attached while red bars show a decrease, for example strain 400, BisEDT, NaDCC attached antagonism of -1.4 log increases to biofilm synergy of almost 0.7 log.

5.8 Attachment and adhesive strength of O157 and other E. coli strains

The ability of strains of O157 to adhere to stainless steel and the relative strength of attachment after 1 hour was compared to strains 400, 453 and 467 as well as five typed strains of *E. coli*. Three entero-haemorrhagic ribotyped strains of O157, a wildtype vero toxin negative strain and a luminescent vero toxin negative strain, containing the plasmid pSB311, were chosen for this experiment as representative of O157 strains.

After 1 hour attachment the strains were all treated using the negative control method, where water of standard hardness was used to represent 20 minutes detergent followed by 5 minutes disinfectant treatments. Total viable counts were taken from replicate steel surfaces before and after treatment to determine the initial population density and the population density after treatment.

The results (fig. 5.23) show there to be large differences in initial population density after 1 hour attachment and the remaining population after treatment when comparing the O157 strains with the other *E. coli* strains. Significant reductions (P <0.01) in TVC for all five strains of O157 after treatment were observed. With the exception of O157:H-, 12628, which showed a 0.93 log drop in TVC, the TVC for all strains of O157 was observed to drop by over 1.1 log after treatment.

Significant reductions (P < 0.05) in TVC were also seen for some non-O157 strains for strains 453, K12 W1485, HB101 NCIB 11865 and NCIB 12079. For each strain the reduction in total viable count was at most 0.61 log. The TVC for all eight non-O157 strains was not significantly different between strains before or after treatment.

A significantly lower (P < 0.05) pre treatment population TVC was observed for all O157 strains compared to the non-O157 strains. After treatment all of the O157

strains showed a significantly lower (P <0.01) TVC than the non-O157 strains that was at least 1.5 log lower than that seen for strain 400 after treatment. The reduction in TVC seen for all strains of O157 was significantly greater (P <0.01) than that seen for any other *E. coli* strain.



Fig. 5.23: Total viable counts for 1 hour attached populations of six strains of O157, five reference strains of *E. coli* and three factory isolated strains of *E. coli* before and after 20 minutes negative control 'detergent' treatment using a WoSH control followed by 5 minutes negative control 'disinfectant' using a WoSH control treatment.

5.9 E. coli O157:H7 pSB311, 1 hour attached and 24 hour biofilm populations

The bioluminescent, vero toxin negative strain, *E. coli* O157 pSB311, was used as a model to determine the effects of treatments on O157 and related vero-toxin producing strains. This was investigated to determine if detergent/disinfectant interactions against O157 strains are likely to be similar or different to those seen for factory isolated non-O157 strains. Identifying changes in interactions will enable more effective sanitisation of factory environments to reduce the risk of vero-toxin producing strains from colonisation, biofilm formation and contamination of food products.

5.9.1 Effect of Detergent Only Treatments

The effect of industrially recommended, in use, concentrations of detergents was determined on one hour attached and 24 hour biofilm populations of *E. coli* O157 pSB311. This was used to determine the degree of killing and/or removal of the adherent population following treatment. Detergent activity was compared to a negative control (zero on the x-axis) in which detergent solutions were substituted with WoSH.

The results (fig. 5.24) show there to be only 3 significant changes in TVC after detergent treatment, all against attached cells, BisEDT, KCL5 (P <0.05) and LX28 (P <0.01), although these were not significantly different to the same treatments when used against biofilms only to the WoSH control. None of the treatments used against biofilms showed any significant change in TVC. No significant differences between attached cells and biofilms were observed. The treatment effects were all comparable to those identified for the three factory isolates of *E. coli*.



Fig. 5.24: Mean loss of viability after 20 minute contact time with detergent treatments in WoSH for attached and biofilm *E. coli* O157 pSB311 at 20°C, shown as log TVC difference to a negative, water only control.

5.9.2 Effect of Disinfectant Only Treatments

The effect of disinfectants, at concentrations of 0.01% for BAC and 0.0005% for NaDCC, previously identified to give $2 - 4 \log$ kill against *E. coli* in suspension, was determined against one hour attached populations and 24 hour biofilms of the bioluminescent *E. coli* O157 pSB311 to measure biocidal effects against attached and biofilm populations. Disinfectant activity was compared to a negative control (zero on the x-axis) in which disinfectant solutions were substituted with WoSH. The industry recommended contact time of 5 minutes was used.

The data (fig. 5.25) shows there to be no significant differences between disinfectant treatments against attached or biofilm cells of *E. coli* O157 pSB311. The concentration of BAC chosen gave approximately a 1.1 log reduction in TVC for both attached and biofilm cells while approximately a 2 log reduction in TVC was seen when treated with NaDCC.

The loss of TVC identified for NaDCC was comparable to that identified against strains 453 and 467 for one hour attached populations but significantly (P < 0.05) increased than observed against all three factory isolates for biofilms. For BAC, a lower, although not significant, reduction in TVC was observed against one hour attached populations than was seen against the three factory isolates, while compared to biofilms a similar loss in TVC was observed with strain 453 and 467 while strain 400 showed a significantly (P < 0.01) lower reduction in TVC.



Fig. 5.25: Mean loss of viability after 5 minute contact time with disinfectant treatments in WoSH for attached and biofilm *E. coli* O157 pSB311 at 20°C, shown as log TVC difference to a negative, water only control.

5.9.3 Effect of Detergent Followed by Disinfectant Treatments

The effect of combined detergent (industry recommended in use concentrations) followed by disinfectants, at concentrations of 0.01% for BAC and 0.0005% for NaDCC, previously identified to give $2 - 4 \log$ kill against *E. coli* in suspension, was determined on one hour attached and 24 hour biofilm populations of *E. coli* O157 pSB311. Treatment activity was compared to a negative control (zero on the x-axis)

in which detergent and disinfectant solutions were substituted with water of standard hardness. The industry recommended contact times of 20 minutes for detergents and 5 minutes for disinfectants was used. Observed results were compared to expected results, where the expected results were calculated by combining the changes in TVC for individual detergent (fig. 5.24) and disinfectant (fig. 5.25) treatment to determine any interactions between detergent and disinfectant treatments.

As seen (fig. 5.26) there was only a single significant difference (BisTOL : P <0.05) between the expected effect of detergents and BAC disinfectant treatments against attached and biofilm cells. The observed difference did not show any significant change between attached and biofilm populations. All of the other observed treatments did not show any differences between attached and biofilm cells showing purely additive effects occurred.

Treatment with the bismuth thiol, BisEDT, was shown to be significantly (P <0.01) antagonistic with BAC against attached and biofilm cells. Against attached cells no effect was seen with BisTOL, while against biofilms a significant (P <0.01) antagonism with BAC was observed. Observed treatment effects with both bismuth thiols were lower than those seen against the factory isolates in fig. 5.4 for attached populations and fig. 5.13 for biofilms.

Significant synergies (P <0.05) were observed with the non-ionic detergent 91/4 against attached cells and with KCL5 against biofilms. Compared to the factory isolates, the one hour attached populations were seen to have a similar observed loss in TVC, whereas for biofilms a greater loss in TVC was seen compared to strains 400 and 453 with 91/4 while a greater loss in TVC was observed compared to all three strains when treated with KCL5.

No significant effects were seen between expected and observed results with either of the anionic detergents. Compared to attached populations of the factory isolates a similar observed loss in TVC was seen when treated with LX28, while a greater loss in TVC was observed compared to strains 453 and 467 when treated with Nec28, although strain 400 was seen to have a greater loss in TVC than pSB311. Compared to biofilms of the three factory isolates, treatment with LX28 caused a greater observed loss in TVC for pSB311 while treatment with Nec28 was similar to that seen against strains 453 and 467 but greater than that seen for strain 400.



Fig. 5.26: Mean loss of viability after 20 minute detergent treatment followed by 5 minute BAC treatment in WoSH for attached and biofilm *E. coli* O157 pSB311 at 20°C, shown as expected (fig. 5.24 + fig. 5.25) and observed log TVC difference to a negative, water only control.

The results (fig. 5.27), with the exception of the non-ionic detergent KCL5, show there to be no significant differences between observed results for attached and biofilm cells, showing that purely additive affects occurred. The results for KCL5 shows that significantly (P < 0.05) less kill was observed for biofilm populations compared to attached cells. Some significant variations in the expected kills for

attached and biofilm cells were seen. For example KCL5 and LX28 were expected to be significantly (P < 0.05) less effective against biofilms than attached cells, whereas the observed results showed there to be no difference in loss of TVC.

The bismuth thiol, BisEDT did not show any significant differences between expected and observed effect against attached or biofilm cells. BisTOL was seen to exhibit a significant (P <0.01) antagonism with NaDCC for both attached and biofilm populations. Treatment with BisEDT was seen to reduce TVC against attached populations similarly to the three factory isolates, while against biofilms a greater loss in TVC was seen compared to strains 400 and 453 while strain 467 showed a greater loss in TVC compared to pSB311. For BisTOL, strain 467 was comparable to pSB311 for attached populations while strains 400 and 453 showed greater loss in TVC, when compared to biofilms however strain 453 showed a similar loss in TVC to pSB311 while strains 400 and 467 showed a greater observed loss in TVC.

No significant change was shown for the non-ionic detergent 91/4 against attached cells, while against biofilms a significant (P <0.05) antagonism was observed. Against both attached and biofilm cells a highly significant (P <0.01) antagonism was seen between KCL5 and NaDCC. Compared to the three factory isolates, observed attached results for 91/4 were similar to those seen against strain 453, while strains 400 and 467 showed greater losses in TVC. Observed biofilm results for 91/4 showed that pSB311 was observed to have a greater loss in TVC compared to all three factory isolates. For KCL5 treatments, attached populations of strains 453 and 467 were similar to pSB311 while strain 400 showed a greater loss in TVC, biofilm treatments showed that strains 400 and 453 were similar to pSB311 while strain 467 showed a greater loss in TVC.

Neither anionic detergent were shown to significantly differ from the expected results for attached or biofilm cells. pSB311 was seen to be similar in loss of TVC to strains 400 and 467 for attached populations and show a greater loss in TVC compared to strain 453, for biofilms all three factory isolates showed a lower loss in TVC than pSB311. For attached populations treated with Nec28, pSB311 was similar to strain 467, while strain 453 was seen to have a lower loss in TVC and strain 400 was seen to have a greater loss in TVC. Against biofilms treated with Nec28, pSB311 was similar to strain 467 while both strains 400 and 453 had a lower observed loss in TVC.



Fig. 5.27: Mean loss of viability after 20 minute detergent treatment followed by 5 minute NaDCC treatment for attached and biofilm *E. coli* O157 pSB311, shown as expected (fig. 5.24 + fig. 5.25) and observed log TVC difference to a negative, water only control.

5.10 Detergent Induced Expression of Stress Response Proteins; HSP60 and HSP70

To identify possible mechanisms involved with disinfectant sensitivity and induced resistance following detergent treatment, the expression of the stress response proteins, HSP60 and HSP70, in *E. coli* strain 453 after treatment with WoSH, Nec28 or 91/4 was assessed. Three population types were tested, suspended, 1 hour attached and 24 hour biofilms to determine if the different states had an impact on detergent mediated stress response protein expression. Whole cell lysate was diluted to a total protein yield of 10mg ml⁻¹ before loading onto an SDS-PAGE, after blotting an ELISA was carried out to determine variations in expression of HSP60 and HSP70 between treatments and population states. A scanning densitometer was used to obtain intensity values for each band, the arbitrary values assigned directly correspond to expression rates of HSP60 and HSP70 during each treatment and state compared to the heat shocked positive control sample.

The data in plate 5.3 shows there to be no difference in expression of HSP60 between the positive control, water, Nec28 and 91/4 suspended cell treatments. The results for suspended populations show HSP60 expression at levels similar to the positive control. The results for attached cells show an insignificant expression of HSP60 while those for biofilms do not show any detectable expression of HSP60 when treated with either detergent or the WoSH control.



Plate 5.3: The effects of 20 minute detergent contact at 20°C and population state (suspended, attached and biofilm) on the expression of the stress response protein HSP60. HSP60 expression is shown as a percentage of the positive control.

The results in plate 5.4 show that differences in expression of HSP70 occurred between treatments and population states. No detectable HSP70 expression was seen when *E. coli* strain 453 was treated with WoSH as a suspension, attached population or biofilm.

Treatment with the detergent Nec28 was shown to induce 32% more HSP70 in suspension compared to the positive control. The attached population expressed 25.6% and the biofilm only 1.41% of the HSP70 expressed by the positive control. When treated with 91/4 the suspended population of *E. coli* strain 453 expressed 54% more HSP70 than the control, the attached population only expressed 14.5% of the positive control while the biofilm population expressed just 6.45% of the positive control.



Plate 5.4: The effects of 20 minute detergent contact at 20°C and population state (suspended, attached and biofilm) on the expression of the stress response protein HSP70. HSP70 expression is shown as a percentage of the positive control.

5.11 Discussion

5.11.1 Factory Isolates of E. coli

The summary for 1 hour attached populations showed that while there were no specific treatment combination that were effective against all three factory isolated strains, some treatments were seen to be highly effective against specific strains. This suggested that strain differences between *E. coli* will make it very difficult to target a treatment regime to maximise the removal and/or killing of recently adhered strains. This observation suggests that genetic variation between strains of *E. coli* is sufficiently large to result in strain, rather than species, specific interactions with detergents and disinfectants.

The summary for 24 hour biofilm populations identified the detergent BisTOL with either disinfectant as being highly effective at increasing the removal and/or killing of all 3 strains of *E. coli*. Conversely the non-ionic detergent 91/4 was shown to reduce the activity of both disinfectants against all 3 strains of *E. coli*. The summary suggests that it may be possible to target biofilm populations of *E. coli* with specific combinations of detergent and disinfectant to maximise the removal and/or killing of the population.

As expected, detergents which are designed to remove soil prior to disinfection did not exhibit a biocidal effect against strains of *E. coli* in suspension. The one exception appeared to be a strain specific effect, when strain 467 was treated with 91/4, although no supporting literature has been identified that demonstrates a strong biocidal effect of a non-ionic detergent against any bacterial strains. However the loss in TVC recorded after 5 minutes had not increased further by 20 minutes contact time. Combined with the attached population detergent only results for TVC and total direct count, which showed no significant removal, it can be hypothesised that after

exposure to 91/4 a biocidal effect occurred, killing ~ 90% of the population of suspended or attached strain 467, followed by a protective effect, possibly the result of detergent inactivation caused by intracellular material from lysed cells, the expression of stress response pathways or the use of ion channels to actively remove the detergent, which prevented further killing of the remaining population. A comparison of suspended, attached and biofilm detergent only treatments showed that while suspensions and attached populations had a reduction in TVC; there was no loss of TVC observed for biofilm populations. This finding was expected, as suggested by various sources of literature which have shown that cells in biofilms are more resistant than suspensions to external influences such as biocidal chemicals and disinfectant (Aarnisalo *et al.*, 2000; Donlan and Costerton, 2002; Prakash *et al.*, 2003; Augustin *et al.*, 2004) and temperatures (Perrot *et al.*, 1998 and 2001; Chmielewski and Frank, 2004).

The results for strain 400 following treatment with the non-ionic detergent KCL5 and anionic detergent Nec28 showed an apparent significant increase in TVC compared to the control. A possible explanation is that the cells strength of adhesion was increased via a physio-chemical interaction with the detergents, thus resulting in fewer cells sloughing from the surface than were seen with the WoSH control treatment, therefore leading to an apparently higher TVC. Research presented by Eginton *et al.*, (1998) also showed an increase in attachment following treatment with the non-ionic detergent Tween-80, supporting this hypothesis, although no explanation was proposed for the mode of action. The comparison between attached and biofilm detergent only treatments showed that against biofilms both the non-ionic KCL5 and the anionic Nec28 detergents reduced the TVC of the population, probably via sloughing of biofilm matrix which was identified as a mechanism of TVC loss by

Vickery *et al.*, (2004) following exposure to some detergents, although generally only those with high enzymatic activity.

A comparison of the disinfectant only results for 1 hour attached populations with biofilm populations showed that changes in sensitivity occurred with changes in adherence. Biofilm populations of strain 400 in particular, were seen to be much more resistant to disinfectant treatments compared to attached cells possibly due to a dense EPS matrix that protected the cells by preventing contact with the disinfectants. Previous studies (Poulsen, 1999; Dunne, 2002; Prakash et al., 2003) have indeed shown that in general biofilm population's increase in resistance to external stresses, primarily due to the EPS layer and protective effect afforded via complex biofilm structures. A possible explanation for strain 467 showing no significant change in sensitivity to BAC and NaDCC when comparing attached and biofilm populations, is due to reduced EPS intensity compared to strains 400 and 453. The image in plate 5.2 combined with EPS intensity results confirm that this is indeed the case, where less than half of the EPS intensity for strains 400 and 453 was observed for strain 467. The reduced EPS layer observed for strain 467 is unlikely to have been sufficiently thick to prevent contact with the disinfectants, which rendered biofilms of the strain as sensitive to the disinfectant treatments as was seen for attached populations. Observations by Ryu and Beuchat, (2005), identified similar results with regards to chlorine resistance, whereby E. coli O157:H7 strains with lower EPS production were seen to be significantly more sensitive to treatment than those with denser EPS layers.

The results described for the disinfectants BAC and NaDCC following detergent treatments, showed there to be statistically significant differences between treatments and also between 1 hour attached and 24 hour biofilm populations of cells. The summaries of synergies and antagonisms showed there to be 7 fewer antagonisms

and 4 more synergies for the biofilm populations than for attached. These observations suggest that against attached populations, in many cases, 20 minutes contact time with detergents resulted in induced resistance to subsequent disinfectant activity, possibly by expression of stress response pathways. Research by Langsrud et al., (2004), has demonstrated that exposure to chemical stresses will result in rapid increases in resistance to disinfectants and antibiotics that support the hypothesis. Against biofilm populations, detergent treatments exhibiting a synergy probably disrupted the protective properties of EPS, although without sufficient contact time to desensitise the population to subsequent disinfectant treatments, as was observed as antagonisms for many attached cell treatment combinations. The results for EPS intensity reinforce the notion that a possible mechanism of synergy against biofilm populations is the disruption and/or removal of EPS, Armon et al., (1998) previously identified an increase in disinfection activity against biofilms after treatment with the detergent EDTA which was due to EPS disruption. However, although treatment synergies were more frequently observed against biofilm populations, treatments used against biofilm populations were seen to be less effective when total loss of TVC is compared with attached populations, showing that a biofilm population is inherently more resistant to stressors even when treatments are seen to be synergistic.

The two bismuth thiol detergents, BisEDT and BisTOL, which have been previously shown to disrupt EPS production via pleimorphic inhibition of metabolic enzymes (Domenico, 1998; Domenico *et al.*, 1999 and 2001), were seen to illicit strong synergies against biofilm populations of strains 400 and to a lesser extent strain 453, however against strain 467, BisEDT treatments were not synergistic with either NaDCC or BAC, although BisTOL treatments were seen to exhibit synergies. In general 24 hour biofilm populations of strain 400 were shown to confer greater

protection against treatments with either anionic or non-ionic detergents than for 1 hour attached populations. It was shown that for these treatments that there was no reduction in the intensity of EPS, therefore it is probable that the EPS layer was unaffected by the detergent treatments and so prevented contact with the disinfectants BAC and NaDCC, hence conferring the observed resistance to the disinfectants. Strain 453 showed an opposite trend than that seen for strain 400, with most non-ionic and anionic treatment combinations being observed as synergistic. The EPS intensity results showed a loss of EPS following detergent treatment, suggesting that these observations are the result of EPS disruption by the detergents prior to disinfectant treatment.

Strain 467 was shown to produce the least intense EPS, therefore inferred as least dense EPS layer, as a biofilm, as was seen in plate 5.2. This observation explains the similarity between TVC loss and antagonisms/synergies seen when comparing 1 hour attached and 24 hour biofilm populations. In general only a slight tendency towards synergy was observed for treatments against biofilm populations of strain 467, further enhancing the hypothesis that a sufficiently dense EPS layer is required to significantly alter the populations response to treatments compared to 1 hour attached populations. Ryu and Beuchat (2005) have shown a similar response with *E. coli* O157:H7 mutants that produce excess EPS, whereby a greater degree of protection was afforded against chlorine than strains producing less EPS.

5.11.2 E. coli O157 Strains

The comparison of 1 hour attached O157 strains of *E. coli* with 8 non-O157 strains of *E. coli* showed there to be significant statistical differences between the two groups of strains. All 8 non-O157 strains were seen to produce initial adherent population densities that did not differ statistically between strains. After control

treatments, there were still no significant differences in TVC between all 8 non-O157 strains. Based upon the selection of non-O157 strains it can be suggested that most strains of *E. coli* initially form similarly sized adherent populations and are affected to the same degree by control treatments.

Similarly, each O157 strain produced an adherent population that was not significantly different in size to the other O157 strains, either pre or post treatment. When comparing the two groups of strains however it was immediately apparent that E. coli O157 strains produce a statistically (P < 0.05) less dense initial surface adhered population and a significantly (P < 0.01) greater loss in TVC was seen after control treatments compared to the non-O157 strains. Stoitsova et al., (2007) also compared the ability of pathogenic and non-pathogenic strains of E. coli to form biofilms, with similar results whereby the non-pathogenic strains were identified as producing the denser biofilms. The two contributing factors of a lower initial adherent population and greater removal after treatment, suggests that persistent populations of O157 are less likely to occur than non-pathogenic strains. One possible explanation is reduced capacity for surface attachment and surface adaptation for O157 strains. Durso et al., (2004) have also shown that pathogenic O157 strains have reduced fitness, reduced carbon utilization and compete poorly against non-pathogenic strains. Even though it can be surmised that non-pathogenic strains are likely to dominate and out compete O157 strains, even very low numbers of vero toxin producing strains pose a serious health risk (Phillips, 1999; Caprioli et al., 2005).

As with the three factory isolated strains of *E. coli*, O157 pSB311 was seen to conform to a similar loss in viable count following detergent only treatment against attached and biofilm populations, with fewer cells being lost as a biofilm. For the disinfectant only results a slightly lower loss in viable count was seen compared to

factory isolates for 1 hour attached cells, although over 1.5 log was lost after water only treatments, therefore the total loss in viable count can be estimated as 2.5 - 3.0 log for BAC and 3.5 - 4.0 log for NaDCC, which was considerably greater than that seen for the 3 factory isolates.

There was no observed difference in the loss in TVC for 1 hour attached or 24 hour biofilms of O157 pSB311, suggesting that as with strain 467, during biofilm formation insufficient EPS was excreted to affect treatments (Ryu and Beuchat, 2005), further reducing the likelihood of persistent biofilm formation. This observation was further enhanced when the observed loss in TVC did not differ significantly between 1 hour attached and 24 hour biofilm populations for all but two treatments. Again the loss in TVC appears to be lower than that seen for the factory isolates, 400, 453 and 467, however once the additional 1.5 log loss in TVC, following water only treatments, is taken into account, the results for O157 pSB311 show that overall the treatments had a greater effect at removal and/or killing of the starting population compared to the other strains.

5.11.3 Induction of HSP60 and HSP70 by Detergents.

Stress mediated expression of the heat shock protein; HSP70, occurred after strain 453 was exposed to the detergents Nec28 and 91/4, while the results for HSP60 demonstrate that only some stress response pathways are induced following exposure to the detergents. Indeed the most plausible explanation for the HSP60 expression detected for suspensions of strain 453 is due to osmotic stress as has been identified previously following osmotic stress in *Clostridium difficile* (Hennequin *et al.*, 2001). The HSP70 results comparing 1 hour attached and 24 hour biofilm populations also enforces the suggestion that desensitisation to disinfectants occurs after sufficient contact time with detergents has elapsed for mediated expression of stress response proteins prior to disinfectant treatments. The results for the water only treated populations suggest osmotic stress does not result in the expression of HSP70.

The HSP70 data supports the theory that EPS is likely to prevent or delay contact with detergents during 20 minute treatment time, preventing biofilm populations from expressing sufficient stress response proteins to gain resistance to subsequent disinfectant treatments. *E. coli* exposed to increased radiation, temperature extremes, chemicals, osmotic stresses and microgravity have been shown to be more resistant to biocides coupled with an increased expression of HSP70 (Matin and Lynch, 2005; Bianco *et al.*, 2006), this suggests that mediated stress response protein expression is a common factor from multiple possible stressors for increased resistances to subsequent contact with biocides.

It was observed that for 1 hour attached populations of strain 453, the detergent Nec28 mediated more expression of HSP70 than the detergent 91/4, this suggests that desensitisation to disinfectants can be reduced by selecting detergents that minimise the expression of stress response proteins while still effectively disrupting EPS. Further research would be required to identify detergents that minimally impact stress response protein expression between different species and strains.

6.0 General Discussion

6.1 Bismuth thiols

The bismuth thiol detergents developed by Winthrop University Hospital, New York, were shown to be promising candidates for use within the food industry. Compared to conventional non-ionic and anionic detergents, it was shown both BisEDT and BisTOL performed well and in many instances were seen to be better than 91/4, KCL5, LX28 and Nec28, especially against strains of *E. coli*.

The potential for bismuth thiols to inhibit growth and biofilm formation (Domenico, 1998; Domenico *et al.*, 2001) of *E. coli* and *L. monocytogenes* was investigated. It was discovered that at concentrations at or below those recommended for use (10 μ g ml⁻¹), suspensions of all strains tested in TSB were inhibited from growing for 24 hours. By 48 hours only one strain, *E. coli* 467, was able to grow above the in use concentration. This showed that bismuth thiols are not rapidly inactivated by contact with organic material. However, experimentation to induce resistance to bismuth thiols did show that growth in increasing concentrations was possible after prolonged contact.

Against 1 hour attached populations of *E. coli* and *L. monocytogenes* neither bismuth thiol was shown to reduce viable counts. Some synergies with the disinfectants BAC and NaDCC were seen, although in general synergies were stronger against strains of *E. coli* than against *L. monocytogenes*. Given bismuth thiols have been shown to be primarily effective against biofilms rather than simple attached populations of cells (Domenico *et al.*, 1998), the activity shown against attached populations conformed to expectations.

When used against 24 hour biofilms, the bimuth thiols were not shown to reduce viable counts. While none of the treatments were shown to be antagonistic for either

bismuth thiol with disinfectants against *E. coli* strains, a number of antagonisms were observed against *L. monocytogenes* strains. BisTOL treatments were also shown to be synergistic against all strains of *E. coli* with either disinfectant. The results seen for bismuth thiols showed them to be an effective detergent treatment against *E. coli* strains but more variable against *L. monocytogenes*. This enhances the rational for carefully choosing a cleaning and disinfection regime, dependant upon the species or possibly even strain of organism that requires eradication.

6.2 Non-ionic

Neither anionic detergent was seen to reduce the TVC of 1 hour attached or 24 hour biofilm populations of any of the *E. coli* or *L. monocytogenes* strains tested. Given that no biocidal properties have been identified for non-ionic detergents this was expected (Fraise, 1999). However it was predicted that some removal of adherent populations would occur following treatment. Indeed none of the detergents tested demonstrated any significant removal of adherent cells, suggesting that without mechanical cleaning, as demonstrated via TVC swabbing, populations of cells are not dislodged by detergent treatment alone. Therefore to further optimise cleaning and disinfection a mechanical action, for example via foam application of detergent, would be recommended.

Against attached populations of *E. coli*, treatment with either non-ionic detergent resulted in a mixture of effects with the disinfectant BAC. When the same treatments were used against attached populations of *L. monocytogenes* all but one strain (91/4, strain 166) were shown to result in significant antagonisms with BAC. Although the non-ionic detergents did not demonstrate a biocidal effect, it is likely that after detergent treatment, stress response pathways were induced which resulted in the antagonisms observed, as demonstrated in chapter 5 for *E. coli* where HSP70
was induced. However there are other alternative explanations for the observed results which could include a morphological change of the EPS, resulting in decreased permeability to BAC or detergent residue blocking bacterial transport channels that would otherwise internalise the disinfectant. Unlike the anionic detergents it is unlikely that an inactivation of the cationic disinfectant BAC was the cause of the antagonisms.

In general no interaction was observed when treating biofilms of *E. coli* with the non-ionic detergents and BAC. However treatments against strain 453 were seen to result in an antagonism for 91/4 and a strong synergy for KCL5. The synergy may be the result of disruption of the EPS matrix as was shown when measuring the EPS intensity following treatment in chapter 5, leading to increased disinfectant contact and so a greater loss of TVC. Against biofilms of *L. monocytogenes* the non-ionic detergent KCL5 was seen to have no interaction with BAC, while the detergent 91/4 was seen to be synergistic against all 3 strains. For each strain, the EPS density following treatment with 91/4 was seen to be greatly lowered, therefore it can be inferred that the cause of the synergies was a disruption of the EPS matrix and so an increase in the disinfectant contact with the attached population during treatment.

The results for treatments with the non-ionic detergents and NaDCC show a mixture of effects against 1 hour attached *E. coli* strains and a general trend towards synergies against 1 hour attached strains of *L. monocytogenes*. The most plausible explanations for the synergies to occur are detergent induced increase in permeability of the disinfectant or cell membrane damage following detergent treatment which weakened the population, enhancing disinfectant killing.

Non-ionic detergents with NaDCC against biofilms of *E. coli* showed that for KCL5 there was a mixture of effects while for 91/4 strong antagonisms were observed

against all 3 strains. It is possible that the antagonism was a result of induction of a stress response; however given that the data for 1 hour attached populations did not show the same response, it is unlikely to be the cause. An alternative explanation is that the 91/4 treatment altered the properties of the EPS matrix, therefore decreasing the rate at which NaDCC was able to diffuse and so resulted in an antagonistic effect. Against biofilms of *L. monocytogenes*, most of the treatments with non-ionic detergents and NaDCC resulted in synergies. Given that strain 359 was identified as producing the most dense EPS matrix and that it was seen to result in the greatest synergy between detergents and disinfectants in most instances, it can be surmised that the synergies observed for non-ionic detergents with NaDCC were the result of a disruption of the EPS matrix, resulting in an increased rate of diffusion of the disinfectant and so a greater loss in TVC.

6.3 Anionic

During testing of anionic and non-ionic detergents for biocidal effects, the anionic detergent LX28 was found to show activity against all three *L*. *monocytogenes* strains after 5 and 20 minutes contact time. The identification of detergents that increase the killing of specific species or groups of microorganisms, offers the potential for designing specifically targeted cleaning and disinfection regimes to increase the removal and disinfection of persistent biofilms. *L. monocytogenes* persistent biofilms are frequently identified within chilled food processing plants (Holah *et al.,* 2004), where experimental data such as this can be applied to improve removal and disinfection.

The anionic detergent, LX28, was shown to exhibit biocidal activity against all strains of *L. monocytogenes*, while none was seen against *E. coli* strains. Slight biocidal activity against Gram positive bacteria was expected, whereby anionic

detergents can interfere with the cell membrane (Pasanen *et al.*, 1997), although the strength of activity exhibited by LX28 against *L. monocytogenes* strains was unexpected, suggesting a particular sensitivity to LX28 was the cause. This effect was observed against attached populations of all 3 strains but only against strains 166 and 367 for biofilm populations. Strain 359 was not affected by contact with LX28 as a biofilm; the most likely cause of the observed resistance was due to strain 359 producing a denser EPS matrix than strains 166 and 367, therefore direct cell contact with LX28 was prevented during the 20 minutes detergent treatment, even taking into account possible EPS disruption. No other detergents were seen to reduce the TVC of 1 hour attached or 24 hour biofilm populations of *E. coli* or *L. monocytogenes* strains.

Combining anionic detergents with the disinfectant BAC was shown to produce inconsistent results against attached strains of *E. coli* and had little effect against biofilms. Against all 3 attached strains of *L. monocytogenes*, both anionic detergents were seen to exhibit strong antagonisms. Given that BAC is a cationic disinfectant, this suggests that one possibility is that sufficient residue, adhered to the Gram positive cell membranes, of the anionic detergents LX28 or Nec28 remained after rinsing, which resulted in a partial inactivation of the disinfectant, causing the observed antagonisms. An alternative possibility is that due to the weak biocidal properties of anionic detergents against Gram positive bacteria (Pasanen *et al.,* 1997), desensitisation to BAC occurred after induction of stress response pathways following detergent treatment. Both suggested causes are further enforced when the results against *L. monocytogenes* biofilm populations are taken into account. Both anionic detergents were shown to exhibit mixed effects, suggesting that either the EPS matrix present in biofilms prevented residues of the detergents remaining after rinsing, or that the detergents were prevented from coming into direct contact with the cells for

sufficient time to illicit a stress response and so did not desensitise the population to BAC. As was shown in chapter 5, the production of HSP70 was decreased for biofilm populations supporting the idea that insufficient contact time elapsed for expression of a stress response pathway. Additional experimentation could be undertaken to attempt to determine the porosity of EPS to each detergent by preparing a biofilm on a filter membrane and then comparing diffusion rates of detergent with a control membrane, however given biofilm structure differs depending on substrate (Donlan, 2002) this would be unlikely to be an accurate representation of a biofilm on stainless steel.

Against attached populations of *E. coli*, the anionic detergents showed a mixture of effects with NaDCC. The *L. monocytogenes* attached treatments were all observed to be strong synergies, with the one exception of strain 359 when treated with LX28. Observed antagonisms could be caused by desensitisation of the population to NaDCC following exposure to detergents, causing the expression of stress response proteins. Although it is not clear what caused the synergies, it is possible that this is the result of increasing permeabilisation of the cell membrane, causing Na⁺ and K⁺ leakage as well as increasing internalisation of the disinfectant resulting in an increase in potency. Given that anionic detergents have a weak biocidal mode of action via the disruption of the cell membrane of Gram positive but not Gram negative bacteria (Pasanen *et al.* 1997); this supports the theory that increased permeability of the cell membrane can cause the observed synergies with NaDCC.

When anionic detergents with NaDCC were used against biofilm populations of *E. coli*, a mixture of effects was seen. Against biofilms of *L. monocytogenes* all of the anionic treatments resulted in strong synergies. It can be surmised that a similar mode of action as observed for the attached populations is the cause of the synergies. Of

note are the results for strain 359, this strain was seen to produce a greater density of EPS than strains 166 and 367 and it was also seen that LX28 treatment did not reduce the TVC of biofilms of this strain but did the other two, although against suspended and attached populations was seen to exhibit strong biocidal properties. The results showed a much greater synergy with either detergent than for strains 166 and 367. Therefore it can be suggested that although detergent was not in contact with the population for sufficient time to illicit a biocidal mode of action, there was sufficient detergent activity to disrupt the membranes or EPS of strain 359, yet not induce stress responses that might otherwise have decreased the synergistic effects observed.

6.4 Conclusions

The investigation showed that there were no specific cleaning and disinfection regimes that will adequately target both *E. coli* and *L. monocytogenes* strains. Indeed there were no specific combinations that were shown to be optimised against attached and biofilm populations of the same species. Direct count results generally showed that detergents do not remove adherent cells from stainless steel and where the EPS density was affected by a treatment; there was rarely a correlation with additional loss of TVC for the affected population. It was also concluded that to maximise the removal and disinfection of persistent strains of a given microorganism, it may be necessary to design a regime to specifically target not just the species, but the strain involved plus combine mechanical with chemical cleaning, which alone was inadequate for removal of adherent populations. As was seen, no detergent treatments, with or without disinfectant treatments, removed adherent populations, so all loss in TVC observed throughout the study was the result of killing rather than removal.

The novel bismuth thiols were seen to be promising detergents to aid in the removal of biofilm *E. coli* strains and warrant further attention for future studies. In general non-ionic and anionic detergents, particularly the non-ionic 91/4 and the anionic LX28, were better optimised for removal and killing of *L. monocytogenes* strains than the bismuth thiols. Against 1 hour attached populations of *E. coli* no specific treatment combination could be selected for optimisation, whereas against 1 hour attached populations of *L. monocytogenes* using the anionic detergent Nec28, with the disinfectant NaDCC, resulted in a highly optimised cleaning and disinfection. Against biofilm populations of *E. coli*, the treatment combination of BisTOL with either BAC or NaDCC were seen to offer optimum cleaning and disinfection, while against biofilms of *L. monocytogenes* the combination of either anionic detergent (LX28 or Nec28) with NaDCC offered the best optimisation for a cleaning and disinfection regime.

Finally, an investigation to identify possible mechanisms of resistance to disinfectant treatments following detergent treatment, showed that different detergents can induce expression of the stress response proteins, HSP60 and HSP70, at differing levels of expression after the same contact time and against different states of adherent populations, i.e. 1 hour attached or 24 hour biofilm populations. This information can be used to identify detergents that result in the lowest expression of stress response proteins possible, yet still have a high efficacy for the removal of soil and other organic material prior to disinfection.

6.5 Further Work

Continued research is required to further establish the interactions between detergents and disinfectants upon additional strains of bacteria that pose a risk to the food industry. Increasing the range of detergents and disinfectants tested will help to

identify additional optimisations of cleaning and disinfection regimes for general use, against specific species and even to target persistent strains within species. Expanding the range of surfaces investigated will enable a greater understanding of how specific surfaces affect the interactions between detergents and disinfectants and so affect the attachment, development and persistency of bacterial populations. The research can be expanded to encompass additional high risk environments where stringent cleaning and disinfection must be maintained, for example by investigating the interaction between detergents and disinfectants as used by the health service upon bacterial species commonly isolated from hospital wards, for example *Staphylococcus aureus*.

The initial investigation into the molecular nature of persistence and acquired resistance to disinfectants following detergent treatment should be expanded. Understanding how surface adhered populations respond to treatments through the expression of metabolic pathways that directly impact the effectiveness of disinfection, will lead to improvements in the application of cleaning agents to minimise induced resistance. Additionally, the identification of chemicals that disrupt or prevent the expression of stress response mechanisms in bacterial cells would lead to improved formulations of detergents that retain the same efficacy for cleaning but do not induce the expression of stress response proteins in treated populations.

References

Aarnisalo, K., Salo, S., Miettinen, H., Suihko, M.L., Wirtanen, G., Autio, T., Lunden,
J., Korkeala, H. and Sjoberg, A.M. (2000) Bactericidal efficiencies of commercial disinfectants against *Listeria monocytogenes* on surfaces. *Journal of Food Safety* 20, 237-250.

Aarnisalo, K., Lunden, J., Korkeala, H. and Wirtanen, G. (2007) Susceptibility of *Listeria monocytogenes* strains to disinfectants and chlorinated alkaline cleaners at cold temperatures. *Food Science and Technology* **40**, 1041-1048.

Anon (1999) Foods Standards Act. ISBN 0 10 542899 X. Act of Parliament. 1999, Chapter c.28.

Anon (2006) EU Food Hygiene Regulations, 1 January 2006. *Food Standards Agency*.

Armon, R., Arbel, T. and Green, M. (1998) A quantitative and qualitative study of biofilm disinfection on glass, metal and PVC surfaces by chlorine, bromine and bromochloro-5,5 dimethylhydantoin (BCDMH). *Water Science and Technology* **38**, 175-179

Augustin, M., Ali-Vehmas, T. and Atroshi, F. (2004) Assessment of enzymatic cleaning agents and disinfectants against bacterial biofilms. *Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences* **7**, 55-64.

Aureli, P., Fiorucci G.C., Caroli D., Marchiaro G., Novara O., Leone L. and Salmaso S. (2000) An outbreak of febrile gastroenteritis associated with corn contaminated by *Listeria monocytogenes*. *New England Journal of Medicine* **342**, 1236-1241.

Batz, M.B., Doyle, M.P., Morris, J.G., Painter, J., Singh, R., Tauxe, R.V., Taylor, M.R. and Wong, D.M.A.L. (2005) Attributing illness to food. *Emerging Infectious Diseases* **11**, 993-999.

Bell, B.P., Goldcroft, M., Griffin, P.M., Davis, M.A., Gordon, D.C., Tarr, P.I., Bartleson, C.A., Lewis, J.H., Barrett, T.J., Wells, J.G., Baron, R. and Kobayashi, J. (1994) A Multistate outbreak of *Escherichi- coli*-O157-H7 associated bloody diarrhea and haemolytic-uremic-syndrome from hamburgers – The Washington experience. *Journal of the American Medical Association* **272** (17), 1349-1353.

Beyenal, H. and Lewandowski, Z. (2002) Internal and external mass transfer in biofilms grown at various flow velocities. *Biotechnology Progress* **18**, 55-61.

Bianco, C., Imperlini, E., Calogero, R., Senatore, B., Amoresano, A., Carpentieri, A., Pucci, P. and Defez, R. (2006) Indole-3-acetic acid improves *Escherichia coli's* defences to stress. *Archives of Microbiology* **185**, 373-382.

Bore, E., Hebraud, M., Chafsey, I., Chambon, C., Skjaeret, C., Moen, B., Møretrø, T., Langsrud, O., Rudi, K. and Langsrud, S. (2007) Adapted tolerance to benzalkonium chloride in *Escherichia coli* K-12 studied by transcriptome and proteome analyses. *Microbiology* **153**, 935-946.

Burnette, W.N. (1981) Western Blotting - Eltrophoretic transfer of proteins from sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gels to unmodified nitrocellulose and radiographic detection with antibody and radioiodinated Protein-A. *Analytical Biochemistry* **112**, 195-203.

Busscher, H.J., Bos, R. and Vandermei, H.C. (1995) Initial microbial adhesion is a determinant for the strength of biofilm adhesion. *Fems Microbiology Letters* **128**, 229-234.

Campos, M.A., Vargas, M.A., Regueiro, V., Llompart, C.M., Alberti, S. and Bengoechea, J.A. (2004) Capsule polysaccharide mediates bacterial resistance to antimicrobial peptides. *Infection and Immunity* **72**, 7107-7114.

Caprioli, A., Morabito, S., Brugere, H. and Oswald, E. (2005) Enterohaemorrhagic *Escherichia coli*: emerging issues on virulence and modes of transmission. *Vetinary Research* **36**, 289-311

Cheng, H.Y., Yang, H.Y. and Chou, C.C. (2002) Influence of acid adaptation on the tolerance of *Escherichia coli* O157 : H7 to some subsequent stresses. *Journal Of Food Protection*. **65**, 260-265

Chmielewski, R.A.N. and Frank, J.F. (2003) Biofilm Formation and Control in Food Processing Facilities. *Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety* **2**, 22-32.

Chmielewski, R.A.N. and Frank, J.F. (2004) A predictive model for heat inactivation of *Listeria monocytogenes* biofilm on stainless steel. *Journal of Food Protection* **67**, 2712-2718.

Choi, J., Shin, D. and Ryu, S. (2007) Implication of quorum sensing in *Salmonella enterica* serovar *typhimurium* virulence: the luxS gene is necessary for expression of genes in pathogenicity island 1. *Infection and Immunity* **75**, 4885-4890.

Cowden, J. (1992) Campylobacter: epidemiological paradoxes. *British Medical Journal* **305**, 132-133.

Czaczyk, K. and Myszka, K. (2007) Biosynthesis of extracellular polymeric substances (EPS and its role in microbial biofilm formation). *Polish Journal of Environmental Studies* **16**, 799-806.

Dignac, M.F., Urbain, V., Rybacki, D., Bruchet, A., Snidaro, D. and Scribe, P. (1998) Chemical description of extracellular polymers: Implication on activated sludge floc structure. *Water Science and Technology* **38**, 45-53.

Dill, K. and McGown, E. (1994), *The Chemistry of Organic Arsenic, Antimony and Bismuth Compounds*. New York: John Wiley & Sons. 695-713.

Domenico, P., Salo, R.J., Novick, S.G., Schoch, P.E., van Horn, K. and Chuna, B.A. (1997) Enhancement of bismuth antibacterial activity with lipophilic thiol chelators. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy* **41**, 1697-1703.

Domenico, P. (1998) Bismuth-thiols: A new concept in antiseptic, biocidal and antibiofilm agents. *Winthrop-University Hospital*. Internal Report. July 1998, Infectious Disease Division

Domenico, P., Tomas, J.M., Merino, S., Rubires, X. and Cunha, B.A. (1999) Surface antigen exposure by bismuth dimercaprol suppression of *Klebsiella pneumoniae* capsular polysaccharide. *Infection and Immunity* **67**, 664-669.

Domenico, P., Tomas, J.M. and Salo, R.J. (2000) The potential of bismuth-thiols for treatment and prevention of infection. *Infections in Medicine* **17**, 123-127.

Domenico, P., Baldassarri, L., Schoch, P.E., Kaehler, K., Sasatsu, M. and Cunha, B.A. (2001) Activities of bismuth thiols against *staphylococci* and *staphylococcal* biofilms. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy* **45** (5). 1417-1421.

Donlan, R.M. (2002) Biofilms: Microbial life on surfaces. *Emerging Infectious Diseases* **8**, 881-890.

Donlan, R.M. and Costerton, J.W. (2002) Biofilms: Survival mechanisms of clinically relevant microorganisms. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews* **15**, 167-193.

Dunne, W.M. (2002) Bacterial adhesion: Seen any good biofilms lately? *Clinical Microbiology Reviews* **15 (2),** 155-165.

Dunsmore, D.G., Twomey, A., Whittlestone, W.G. and Morgan, H.W. (1981) Design and performance of systems for cleaning product contact surfaces of food equipment: a review. *Journal of Food Protection*, **44**, 220 240.

Durso, L.M., Smith, D. and Hutkins, R.W. (2004) Measurements of fitness and competition in commensal *Escherichia coli* and *E. coli* O157 : H7 strains. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* **70**, 6466-6472.

Eginton, P.J., Gibson, H., Holah, J., Handley, P.S. and Gilbert, P. (1995) Quantification of the ease of removal of bacteria from surfaces. *Journal of industrial microbiology* **15**, 305-310.

Eginton, P.J., Holah, J., Allison, D.G., Handley, P.S. and Gilbert, P. (1998) Changes in the strength of attachment of micro-organisms to surfaces following treatment with disinfectants and cleansing agents. *Letters in Applied Microbiology* **27**, 101-105.

Elortondo, F.J.P., Salmeron, J., Albisu, M. and Casas, C. (1999) Biofilms in the food industry. *Food Science And Technology International* **5**, 25-30.

Fitzgerald, K.A., Davies, A. and Russell, A.D. (1992) Effect of chlorohexidine and phenoxyethanol on cell surface hydrophobicity of Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria. *Letters in Applied Microbilogy* **14**, 91-95.

Fraise, A.P. (1999) Choosing disinfectants. Journal of Hospital Infection 43, 255-264.

Gailey, J.K., Dickson, J.S. and Dorsa, W. (2003) Survival of *Listeria monocytogenes* in a simulated recirculating brine chiller system. *Journal of Food Protection* **66**, 1840-1844.

Gandhi, M. and Chikindas, M.L. (2007)Listeria: A foodborne pathogen that knows how to survive. *International Journal of Food Microbiology* **113**, 1-15.

Geesey, G.G. (1982) Microbial exopolymers: Ecological and economic considerations. *American Society for Microbiology News* **48**, 9-14.

Gerlach, R.G. and Hensel, M. (2007) Protein secretion systems and adhesins: The molecular armory of Gram-negative pathogens. *International Journal of Medical Microbiology* **297**, 401-415.

Gibson, H., Taylor, J.H., Hall, K. E. and Holah, J. T. (1999) Effectiveness of cleaning techniques used in the food industry in terms of the removal of bacterial biofilms. *Journal of Applied Microbiology* **87**, 41-48.

Gilbert, P., Pemberton, D. and Wilkinson, D.E. (1990) Barrier properties of the Gramnegative cell envelope towards high molecular weight polyhexamethylene biguanides. *Journal of Applied Bacteriology* **69**, 585-592.

Gillespie, I., McLauchlin, J., Adak, G.K., Grant, K.A., Little, C.L. and Mithani, V. (2006) Changing pattern of human listeriosis in England and Wales, 2001-2005. *Emerging Infectious Diseases* **12**, 1361-1366.

Gouin, E., Welch, M.D. and Cossart, P. (2005) Actin-based motility of intracellular pathogens. *Current Opinion in Microbiology* **8**, 35-45.

Grant, D.M. and Bott, T.R. (2005) Biocide dosing strategies for biofilm control. *Heat Transfer Engineering* **26**, 44-50.

Gross, M.J. and Logan, B.E. (1995) Influence of different chemical treatments on transport of *Alcaligenes paradoxus* in porous-media. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* **61**, 1750-1756.

Guiot, E., Georges, P., Brun, A., Fontaine-Aupart, M.P., Bellon-Fontaine, M.N. and Briandet, R. (2002) Heterogeneity of diffusion inside microbial biofilms determined by fluorescence correlation spectroscopy under two-photon excitation. *Photochemistry and Photobiology* **75**, 570-578.

Hennequin, C., Collignon, A. and Karjalainen, T. Analysis of expression of GroEL (Hsp60) of Clostridium difficile in response to stress. *Microbial Pathogenesis* **31**, 255-260.

Hitchins, A.D. and Whiting, R.C. (2001) Food-borne *Listeria monocytogenes* risk assessment. *Food Additives and Contaminants* **18**, 1108-1117.

Holah, J.T. and Kearney, L.R. (1992) Introduction to biofilms in the food industry. *Biofilms: Science and Technology*, Kluwer Academic Publishers, The Netherlands. Holah, J.T., Taylor, J.H., Dawson, D.J. and Hall, K.E. (2002) Biocide use in the food industry and the disinfectant resistance of persistent strains of *Listeria monocytogenes* and *Escherichia coli*. *Journal of Applied Microbiology* **92**, 111s-120s.

Holah, J.T., Bird, J. and Hall, K.E. (2004) The microbial ecology of high-risk, chilled food factories; evidence for persistent *Listeria* spp. and *Escherichia coli* strains. *Journal of Applied Microbiology* **97**, 68-77.

HPA (2005) Verotoxin-producing *E. coli* O157 (VTEC O157) outbreak in the south Wales Valleys. http://www.hpa.org.uk/cdr/archives/2005/cdr4005.pdf

HPA (2007a) Gastrointestinal Disease Surveillance. http://www.hpa.org.uk/infections/topics_az/gastro/menu.htm

HPA (2007b) Increased incidence of listeriosis in England and Wales, 2007. http://www.hpa.org.uk/hpr/archives/2007/news2007/news2107.htm#listeria

Hudson, L.M., Chen, J., Hill, A.R. and Griffiths, M.W. (1997) Bioluminescence: A rapid indicator of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in selected yogurt and cheese varieties. *Journal of Food Protection* **60**, 891-897.

Huggett, A.C. (2001) Risk management – an industry approach. *Biomedical and Environmental Sciences* **14**, 21-29.

Hunt, S.M., Werner, E.M., Huang, B.C., Hamilton, M.A. and Stewart, P.S. (2004) Hypothesis for the role of nutrient starvation in biofilm detachment. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* **70**, 7418-7425.

Jain, A., Gupta, Y., Agrawal, R., Khare, P. and Jain, S.K. (2007) Biofilms – A microbial life perspective: A critical review. *Critical Reviews in Therapeutic Drug Carrier Systems* **24**, 393-443.

Jessen, B. and Lammert, L. (2003) Biofilm and disinfection in meat processing plants. *International Biodeterioration & Biodegradation* **51**, 265-269.

Joseph, S.W., Ingram, D.T. and Kaper, J.B. (2002) The epidemiology, pathogenicity and microbiology of foodborne *Escherichia coli* O157 : H7. *Reviews in Medical Microbiology* **13**, 53-62.

Korenevsky, A. and Beveridge, T.J. (2007) The surface physicochemistry and adhesiveness of *Shewanella* are affected by their surface polysaccharides. *Micrbiology-SGM* **153**, 1872-1883.

Kothary, M.H. and Babu, U.S. (2001) Infective dose of foodborne pathogens in volunteers: A review. *Journal of Food Safety* **21**, 49-73.

Kuda, T., Yano, T. and Kuda, M.T. (2008) Resistances to benzalkonium chloride of bacteria dried with food elements on stainless steel surface. *Food Science and Technology* **41**, 988-993.

Kumar, C.G. and Anand, S.K. (1998) Significance of microbial biofilms in food industry: a review. *International Journal of Food Microbiology* **42**, 9-27.

Langsrud, S., Sidhu, M.S., Heir, E. and Holck, A.L. (2003) Bacterial disinfectant resistance - a challenge for the food industry. *International Biodeterioration & Biodegredation* **51** 283-290

Langsrud, S., Sundheim, G. and Holck, A.L. (2004) Cross-resistance to antibiotics of *Escherichia coli* adapted to benzalkonium chloride or exposed to stress-inducers. *Journal of Applied Microbiology* **96**, 201-208.

La Paglia, C. and Hartzell, P. (2000) Stress-induced production of biofilm in the hyperthermophile *Archaeoglobus fulgidus*. *Applied Environmental Microbiology* **63**, 3158-3163.

Lehtinen, J., Virta, M. and Lilius, E.M. (2003) Fluoro-luminometric real-time measurement of bacterial viability and killing. *Journal of Microbiological Methods* **55**, 173-186.

de Macario, E.C. and de Macario A.J.L. (2000) Stressors, stress and survival; Overview. *Frontiers in Bioscience*. **5**, 780-786.

Maillard, J.Y. (2002) Bacterial target sites for biocide action. *Journal of Applied Microbiology* **92**, 16s-27s.

Maniatis, T. (1982) Molecular cloning: A laboratory manual. Cold Spring Harbour Laboratory Press, New York.

Matin, A. and Lynch, S.V. (2005) Investigating the threat of bacteria grown in space. *ASM News* **71**, 235-240.

Mayer, C., Moritz, R., Kirschner, C., Borchard, W., Maibaum, R., Wingender, J. and Flemming, H. C. (1999). The role of intermolecular interactions: studies on model systems for bacterial biofilms. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules* **26**, 3-16.

McDonnell, G. and Russell, A.D. (1999) Antiseptics and Disinfectants: Activity, Action, and Resistance. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews* **12**, 147-179.

McLauchlin, J. (2006) *Emerging foodborne pathogens:* Listeria. Cambridge: Woodhead Publishing Ltd. 406-428.

McNeill, K. and Hamilton, I.R. (2004) Effect of acid stress on the physiology of biofilm cells of *Streptococcus mutans*. *Microbiology*. **150**, 735-742.

Meighen, E.A. (1994) Genetics of bacterial bioluminescence. *Annual Review of Genetics*. **28**, 117-139.

Miettinen, M.K., Palmu, L., Bjorkroth, K.J. and Korkeala, H. (2001) Prevalence of *Listeria monocytogenes* in broilers at the abattoir, processing plant and retail level. *Journal of Food Protection.* **64**, 994-999.

Møretrø, T and Langsrud, S. (2004) *Listeria monocytogenes*: biofilm formation and persistence in food-processing environments. *Biofilms* **1**, 107-121.

Moyed, J.W. and Bertrand, K.P. (1983) *hipA*, a newly recognised gene of *Escherichia coli* K-12 that affects frequency of persistence after inhibition of murein synthesis. *Journal of Bacteriology* **155**, 768-775.

Nielsen, P.H., Jahn, A. and Palmgren, R. (1997) Conceptual model for production and composition of exopolymers in biofilms. *Water Science and Technology* **36**, 11-19.

Nikolaev, Y.A. and Plakunov, V.K. (2007) Biofilm - "City of microbes" or an analogue of multicellular organisms? *Microbiology* **76**, 125-138.

Palmer, J., Flint, S. and Brooks, J. (2007) Bacterial cell attachment, the beginning of a biofilm. *Journal of Industrial Microbiology and Biotechnology* **34**, 577-588.

Pasanen, P., Kalliokoski, P. and Pasanen, A.L. (1997) The effectiveness of some disinfectants and detergents against microbial activity. *Building and Environment* 32, 281-287.

Pennington, H. (1998) Factors involved in recent outbreaks of *E. coli* O157:H7 in Scotland and recommendations for its control. *Journal of Food Safety* **18**, 383-391.

Perrot, F., Jouenne, T., Feuilloley, M., Vaudry, H. and Junter, G.A. (1998) Gel immobilisation improves survival of *Escherichia coli* under temperature stress in nutrient-poor natural water. *Water Research* **32**, 3521-3526.

Perrot, F., Hebraud, M., Charlionet, R., Junter, G.A. and Jouenne, T. (2001) Cell immobilisation induces changes in the protein response of *Escherichia coli* K-12 to a cold shock. *Electrophoesis* **22**, 2110-2119.

Phillips, C.A. (1999) The epidemiology, detection and control of *Escherichia coli* O157. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* **79**, 1367-1381.

Piette, J.P. and Idziak, E.S. (1992) A model study of factors involved in adhesion of *Pseudomonas fluorescens* to Meat. *Applied Environmental Microbiology* **58**, 2783-2791.

Poulsen, L.V. (1999) Microbial biofilm in food processing. *Food Science and Technology-Lebensmittel-Wissenshaft & Technologie* **32**, 321-326.

Prakash, B., Veeregowda, B.M. and Krishnappa, G. (2003) Biofilms: A survival strategy of bacteria. *Current Science* **85**, 1299-1307

Rachid, S., Ohlsen, K., Witte, W., Hacker, J. and Ziebuhr, W. (2000) Effect of subinhibitory antibiotic concentrations on polysaccharide intercellular adhesion expression in biofilm-forming *Staphylococcus epidermidis*. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy* **44**, 3357-3363.

Ramsaran, H., Chen, J., Brunke, B., Hill, A. and Griffiths, M.W. (1998) Survival of bioluminescent *Listeria monocytogenes* and *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in soft cheeses. *Journal of Dairy Science* **81**, 1810-1817.

Rice, A.R., Hamilton, M.A. and Camper, A.K. (2000) Apparent surface associated lag time in growth of primary biofilm cells. *Microbial Ecology* **40**, 8-15.

Robbins, J.B., Fisher, C.W., Moltz, A.G. and Martin, S.E. (2005) Elimination of *Listeria monocytogenes* biofilms by ozone, chlorine and hydrogen peroxide. *Journal* of *Food Protection* **68**, 494-498.

Rocourt, J. (1996) Risk factors for listeriosis. Food Control 7, 195-202.

Rodriguez, A., Autio, W.R. and McLandsborough, L.A. (2008) Effect of surface roughness and stainless steel finish on *Listeria monocytogenes* attachment and biofilm formation. *Journal of Food Protection* **71**, 170-175.

Romanova, N.A., Gawande, P.V., Brovko, L.Y. and Griffiths, M.W. (2007) Rapid methods to assess sanitizing efficacy of benzalkonium chloride to *Listeria monocytogenes* biofilms. *Journal of Microbiological Methods* **71**, 231-237.

Russell, A.D. (1982) The destruction of bacterial spores, p. 169-231. Academic Press, Ltd., London, England.

Russell, A.D. (2001) Mechanisms of bacterial insusceptibility to biocides. *American Journal of Infection Control* **29**, 259–261.

Ryu, J.H., Kim, H. and Beuchat, L.R. (2004) Attachment and biofilm formation by *Escherichia coli* O157 : H7 on stainless steel as influenced by exopolysaccharide production, nutrient availability, and temperature. *Journal of Food Protection* **67**, 2123-2131.

Ryu, J.H. and Beuchat, L.R. (2004) Factors affecting production of extracellular carbohydrate complexes by *Escherichia coli* O157 : H7. *International Journal of Food Microbiology* **95**, 189-204.

Ryu, J.H. and Beuchat, L.R. (2005) Biofilm formation by *Escherichia coli* O157 : H7 on stainless steel: Effect of exopolysaccharide and curli production on its resistance to chlorine. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* **71**, 247-254.

Salton, M.R.J. (1968) Lytic agents, cell permeability and monolayer penetrability. *The Journal of General Physiology*. **52**, 2778-2528.

Skillman, L.C., Sutherland, I.W. and Jones, M.V. (1999) The role of exopolysaccharides in dual species biofilm development. *Journal of Applied Microbiology* **85**, 13S-18S.

Soitsova, S., Ivanova, R. and Paunova, T. (2007) Biofilm formation by reference strains of *Escherichia coli*. *Comptes Rendus de l Academie Bulgare des Sciences* **60**, 71-76.

Stoodley, P., Wilson, S., Hall-Stoodley, L., Boyle, J.D., Lappin-Scott, H.M. and Costerton, J.W. (2001) Growth and detachment of cell clusters from mature mixed-species biofilms. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* **67**, 5608-5613.

Sutherland, I.W. (2001) Biofilm exopolysaccharides: a strong and sticky framework. *Microbiology* **147**, 3-9.

Swaminathan, B. and Gerner-Smidt, P. (2007) The epidemiology of human listeriosis. *Microbes and Infection* **9**, 1236-1243.

Tabak, M., Scher, K., Hartog, E., Romling, U., Matthews, K.R., Chikindas, M.L. and Yaron, S. (2007) Effect of triclosan on *Salmonella typhimurium* at different growth stages and in biofilms. *Fems Microbilogy Letters* **267**, 200-206.

Tauxe, R.V. (1997) Emerging Foodborne Diseases: An Evolving Public Health Challenge. *Emerging infectious Diseases* **3** (4), October – December: http://0www.cdc.gov.pugwash.lib.warwick.ac.uk/ncidod/eid/vol3no4/tauxe.htm

Thoman, C.J. (1999) The versatility of Polysorbate 80 (Tween 80) as an ionophore. *Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences* **88**, 258-260.

Todd, W.T.A. and Dundas, S. (2001) The management of VTEC O157 infection. *International Journal of Food Microbiology* **66**, 103-110.

Verma, A., Bolton, F.J., Fiefield, D., Lamb, P., Woloschin, E., Smith, N. and McCann, R. (2007) An outbreak of *E-coli* O157 associated with a swimming pool: an unusual vehicle of transmission. *Epidemiology and Infection* **135**, 989-992.

Ueda, S. and Kuwabara, Y. (2007) Susceptibility of biofilm *Escherichia coli*, *Salmonella enteritidis* and *Staphylococcus aureus* to detergents and sanitizers. *Biocontrol Science* **12**, 149-153.

Vickery, K., Pajkos, A. and Cossart, Y. (2004) Removal of biofilm from endoscopes: Evaluation of detergent efficiency. *American Journal of Infection Control* **32**, 170-176.

West, S.A., Diggle, S.P., Buckling, A., Gardner, A. and Griffins, A.S. (2007) The social lives of microbes. *Annual Review of Ecology Evolution and Systematics* **38**, 53-77.

Wilks, S.A., Michels, H. and Keevil, C.W. (2005) The survival of *Escherichia coli* O157 on a range of metal surfaces. *International Journal of Food Microbiology* **105**, 445-454.

Wirtanen, G., Ahola, H. and Mattila-Sandholm, T. (1995) Evaluation of cleaning procedures in elimination of biofilm from stainless steel surfaces in open process equipment. *Transactions of the Institution of Chemical Engineering* **73**, 9-16.

Wong, A.C. (1998) Biofilms in food processing environments. *Journal of Dairy Science* **81**, 2765-2770.

Young, K.D. (2006) The selective value of bacterial shape. *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews* **70**, 660-703.

Zottola, E.A. (1994) Microbial attachment and biofilm formation: a new problem for the food industry? *Food Technology* **48**, 107-114.